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gamINg...

This document is the English original. In the event of any discrepancy between the original 
English document and the Swedish translation, the English original shall prevail.



by players,
for players
Unibet is one of Europe’s largest and 
fastest growing online gaming operators. 
Founded in 1997, it now has over 
8.6 million registered customers in more 
than 100 countries and over 16 years 
experience in the digital economy.

Its brand promise is built on the  
motto “By Players, For Players” putting 
customers at the centre of its business 
and delivering distinctive products  
backed up by exceptional customer 
service to deliver competitive advantage.



delivering a  
more rewarding 
experience for our 
customers... 
through live betting and 
livestreaming
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The fast growing Unibet brand offers industry 
leading Sportsbook, Casino & Games, Poker and 
Bingo products via desktop, tablet and mobile 
phone giving customers access 24/7 to their 
favourite sports and games wherever they are. 

Sportsbook
Generating close to 42 per cent of our Gross winnings 
revenue (GWR) our sportsbook products are powering 
our growth with sports fans placing 122 million bets 
(pre-games and live) during 2013, up 33 per cent on 
last year (2012: 92 million). 

Players have fully embraced the excitement of live betting, 
which now accounts for 46.5 per cent of the Sportsbook 
GWR, taking advantage of over 80,000 live events and 
over 20,000 live streaming events we have hosted in the 
year. Of these 10,000 were streamed on mobile devices. 

Football is the key sport, where players can follow Europe’s 
major leagues and tournaments as well as choose from 
over 65 other sports including tennis, golf, ice hockey, 
snooker and beach volleyball, or even bet on a wide range 
of non-sporting events such as the Eurovision Song 
Contest and political elections. 

In January 2014, Unibet was awarded the prestigious 
Online Sportsbook Operator of the year awards at the 
International Gaming Awards, further enhancing the 
Sportsbook’s prolific reputation for excellence.

Casino & Games
Accounting for 49 per cent of GWR, the Casino & Games 
offer is pulling ahead of the competition by providing even 
more exclusive content. Players can choose from over 500 
action-packed games, including roulette, blackjack, and 
video slots, with four new games launched on average 
every month as we build our multi-supplier strategy. 

While Live Casino continues to grow, the dramatic growth 
is in mobile, where there are now 94 games delivering an 
attractive multi-channel experience.

Poker
With attractive prize pots, the Poker products deliver 
around 5 per cent of our GWR. A new standalone poker 
product was launched in early 2014 aimed at the casual 
player. Developed exclusively for Unibet, it is available on 
desktop and tablets. Online tournaments, poker schools for 
beginners and fast poker are complemented by Unibet’s 
legendary Unibet Open Poker Tour.

Bingo and other games
We offer a range of popular games and bingo that provide a 
valuable addition to the portfolio and balances the seasonal 
nature of sports betting.

GBP 52.3 million
Live betting GWR
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Gambling with a feminine 
touch 
with Maria
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With its own distinctive brand, Maria.com is the 
largest online gaming site primarily focused on 
the female audience offering Casino & Games, 
Bingo and Poker via desktop, tablet and mobile 
phone in a fun, friendly environment.

Building a unique personality
Maria has been specifically designed to deliver a 
different experience to the usual male-orientated sports 
betting sites, giving customers a more personal gambling 
experience. Its personality is feminine, entertaining, reliable 
and inviting and in functional terms it aims to be the most 
user friendly gaming platform delivering a rewarding digital 
consumer experience. 

From bingo to a full gaming house 
Maria began as a bingo site in 2006 but following its 
acquisition by Unibet in 2007, it has extended its range 
of online games of chance with Casino and Games now 
accounting for over 70 per cent of Maria Gross winnings 
revenue. Its players prefer slots rather than tables and 
have immediately embraced our recently launched mobile 
offering. Mobile sites have been launched for Casino and 
Bingo accelerating GWR growth, primarily from increased 
activity by existing customers. 

Extending market reach
As one of the top brands in the Nordic region, Maria is 
also popular in the UK and Estonia. Its customer base 
does not overlap with the Unibet brand even though it is 
attracting a wider audience, not only female customers, 
with 50 per cent now being male. 

Maria also provides the technology for white label sites 
bingo.com and bingo.se.

Top three brand in 
the Nordics
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player
safety
leading  
the digital 
agenda

Player Safety is at the heart of Unibet’s 
business and embedded in the Unibet 
culture. Unibet takes a proactive approach, 
centred on individuals and a zero tolerance 
approach to fraud.

Providing customers with a safe and 
secure environment

•	 More than 16 years of pioneering experience 
in digital safety and helping customers to stay 
in control

•	 Customised responsible gaming policy primarily 
aimed at prevention of gambling problems

•	 24/7 monitoring using latest technology, 
based on scientific research supported by 
skilled professionals

•	 Personalised customer centric service

Unibet’s approach
As a customer centric company, every player 
matters, so Unibet takes an individual, holistic, 
integrated and preventative approach.

Individual
Unibet knows that every customer is different so 
a “one size fits all” model is avoided and the focus 
is on the needs of the individual concerned.

Holistic
Unibet looks at all the different pieces of the 
customer behaviour puzzle as a whole to build a 
secure and safe experience across the entire 
digital gambling platform.

Integrated
Unibet embeds the customer care and support 
philosophy in everything the organisation does.

Preventative
Unibet aims to identify customers who are at risk 
by using a proprietary 24/7 Player Safety Early 
Detection System (PS-EDS).

Unibet at the forefront 
In addition to running the early detection system, 
Unibet ensures all our customer-facing and 
operations staff are well trained to identify and 
deal with potential problems. Unibet actively 
contributes to the development of European 
standards aimed at providing a safe and secure 
online gambling environment. Unibet is a founder 
member of key industry associations such as 
EGBA, ESSA, DOGA and BOS and works closely 
with Gambling Therapy, a global online support 
service for people who have been adversely 
affected by gambling. As a pioneer in digital 
player safety Unibet wishes to contribute to policy 
making by sharing its expertise on a national and 
European level. For instance, Unibet participated 
in the EU expert workshop on consumer 
protection as part of the EU Action Plan 
on Online Gambling.
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Providing 
customers with a 
safe and secure 
environment

Customer Due Diligence and 
Fraud Prevention
Customer due diligence begins with careful 
verification when a customer registers, which 
prevents underage gambling and protect the 
vulnerable. The 24/7 monitoring system also 
collects evidence of customer behaviour, building 
a risk profile of each player so that appropriate 
action can be taken, from reporting suspicious 
transactions to account restrictions or suspensions. 
Clear internal procedures ensure strict adherence 
to applicable laws and regulations notably those 
relating to Anti-Money Laundering. 

The illustration above shows the Player 
Safety approach. 

Responsible 
gaming and 
pro-active 
prevention with 
tailored individual 
approach

Fraud detection 
teams

Compliance 
engagement and 
mandatory  
training

player safety

action registration

depositactivity

Our unique approach

•	  Contacting at risk gamblers via their 
preferred channel of communication

•	  Promoting tools to control or refrain 
from gambling

•	  Know your customer
•	  Player safety monitoring
•	  Risk based approach

•	  Avoid chasing losses
•	  Impatience to deposit
•	  Reversing withdrawals

•	  Communicating with customer 
service

•	  Sports bets with high risk
•	  Chasing winnings



www.unibetgroupplc.com
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Gross Winnings Revenue
GBP million

2013

2012

2011

2010

234.7

197.2

154.4

147.5

Earnings per share
GBP million

2013

2012

2011

2010

1.434

1.132

1.270

1.154

EBITDA
GBP million

2013

2012

2011

2010

63.4

52.5

48.0

43.8

Operating cash flow per share1

GBP 

2013

2012

2011

2010

2.281

1.833

1.737

1.586

Highlights

Operational highlights 2013

•	 Strong	organic	growth	and	focus	on	efficiency	to	offset	impact	of	higher	
betting	duties	

•	 Increased	profitability	after	a	40	per	cent	increase	in	betting	duties	and	
the	one-off	cost	of	settlement	of	historic	litigation	in	the	Netherlands

•	 Focus	on	re-regulated	markets	demonstrates	that	it	is	possible	to	drive	
efficiency	and	increased	profitability	while	reducing	overall	corporate	risk

•	 Clearance	of	historic	litigation	
•	 Mobile	continues	to	grow	fast
•	 Transformation	continues	with	six	markets	now	locally	regulated	
•	 Proposed	cash	dividend	of	GBP	1.100	(2012:	GBP	0.700)	per	share/SDR

Financial highlights 2013

+19%
Gross	winnings	revenue

+21%
EBITDA

BUSINESS REPORT
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+27%
Earnings	per	share

21%
Mobile	share	of	GWR	

+25%
Casino	&	Games	growth	

7.7%
Sports	Betting	combined	margin	

For more on our financial performance,  
see pages 12–13

1	 Before	movements	in	working	capital.
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Business report

Chief Executive Officer’s review

A year of strong 
progress for Unibet

The foundations we have laid over the last 
three years are now delivering results as 
our investments in our products – both 
B2C and B2B – are coming to fruition. 
We continue to deliver on our strategic 
objectives as demonstrated by the 
significant growth in our mobile revenues 
and the successful redesign of our 
websites. I am very proud of what we have 
achieved to date and we continue to work 
hard to stay ahead of the competition and 
extend our market share. We closed 2013 
in a good position for the future, well 
on track to remain a leader in the next 
generation of online gaming companies.

A strong performance
Our robust financial performance has 
delivered growth in both Gross winnings 
revenue (GWR) up by 19 per cent to 
GBP 234.7 million and profit after tax 

ahead by 27 per cent to GBP 40.1 
million. This has been driven by strong 
organic growth, underpinned by our 
focus on scalability and efficiency.

Our investment in our platform is 
enabling us to grow faster than the 
market and combat the margin pressures 
created by the betting duties coming 
through from re-regulated markets. We 
now have a flexible, modular system with 
the building blocks needed in place and 
functioning well. This will make it easier 
when we enter newly regulated markets. 
Our experience in entering the newly 
regulated markets in Italy, Denmark, 
Belgium and Estonia in a relatively short 
time was a good demonstration of the 
new platform in action. This platform was 
also launched on all dot com markets.

Henrik Tjärnström
Chief Executive Officer

delivering
long–term value
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■ 

■

■

■

Nordics
54%
Western Europe
33%
CES
9%
Other
4%

Gross winnings revenue per region
GBP million

■ 

■

■

■

Sports betting
42%
Casino & Games
49%
Poker 
5%
Other
4%

Gross winnings revenue per product
GBP million

We also maintained a relentless focus 
on keeping costs under control, enabling 
us to fund the marketing investment we 
need to support our growth ambitions.

Key achievements
A notable success in the year has 
been the acceleration in revenues 
from our mobile offering, which has 
increased significantly and for the fourth 
quarter accounts for 27 per cent of 
GWR up from only 8 per cent on the 
same quarter in 2012. We are one of 
the market leaders in this technology 
with a broad mobile offering that 
includes Casino, Games and Bingo as 
well as pre-game sport betting and 
live betting. We are one of only three 
companies offering live streaming on 
mobile devices. This growth is being 
fuelled by the exponential rise in the 
use of tablets and smart phones and 
our growth is in line with the growth 
of mobile traffic which now accounts 
for 25 per cent of all internet usage.

Our organic growth has been equally 
impressive, albeit the Gross winnings 
revenue includes full year revenues 
for the two acquisitions completed in 
2012. This has been largely driven by 
the number of active players hitting 
1,039,010 and registered customers 
reaching 8.6 million for the full year 2013.

Our biggest market, the Nordic 
region, has continued to grow 
strongly. Here we are a household 
name and both the Unibet and 
Maria brands performed strongly.

Our Sportsbook B2B service, delivered 
through Kambi Sports Solutions has 
established a market presence in a 
short space of time, signing seven full 
service customers in its first years. 
New customers this year included 
888 Sports and Suertia, who took 
advantage of a streamlined process for 
integrating new customers, ensuring 
a fast and efficient implementation.

Ready for re-regulation
Today, 29 per cent of Unibet’s business is 
from re-regulated markets and we have 
adapted to the new reality that regulation 
by country brings, often summarised as 
the move from dot com to dot country. 
We recognise the challenges this creates 
and will continue to innovate to stay 
ahead, investing in marketing to establish 
our brand in countries where regulation 
or re-regulation is on the agenda.

This is a long-term strategy focused 
on key markets where we see good 
opportunities, for example in the UK 
where re-regulation is expected in 
2014. We are investing to build brand 
awareness, and the investment will 
continue next year, with the aim of 
building a top five position over time.
 
Investment will be high in the early 
stages of re-regulation and reflects 
the maturity of online gaming in the 
markets. For example Denmark, which 
re-regulated in 2012, was a relatively 
developed market with a tradition of 
state monopolies. In contrast, in Belgium 
there has been no substantial state 
monopoly so the first task is education 
to encourage market development.
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Business report

Chief Executive Officer’s review
continued

We intend to stay 
at the forefront of 
market and product 
development

Whilst the conditions of the current 
regulatory regime in France are 
unfavourable, we are gaining 
market share there despite little 
investment. This is driven by a strong 
team who understand the market, 
supported by our strong brand.

Innovation in Player Safety 
Responsible gaming is at the heart 
of our business and embedded in the 
Unibet culture. Underpinning this is 
our proprietary Player Safety Early 
Detection System (PS-EDS) that aims 
to identify players at risk and prevent 
potential problem gambling. Based 
on empirical research, the system has 
been continuously developed since 
2008 and is the most sophisticated 
in the industry today. We aim to be at 
the forefront of digital safety and I was 
very pleased that we were nominated 
once again for the eGR Socially 
Responsible Operator of the Year award. 
In February 2014, Unibet Australia 
took the award Socially Responsible 
Operator in the eGR Australia awards.

Building a sustainable business
A proactive approach to corporate 
social responsibility is part of our 
DNA. It drives our customer, employee 
and environment philosophy and 
is an important aspect of how we 
develop our business going forward.

Our customer-centric approach and 
focus on protecting and taking care of 
the customer is key to our reputation, 
in addition to making good commercial 
sense: customers who have a good 
experience will come back to Unibet.

Retaining our distinctive culture 
is firmly on our agenda. We have 
over 900 talented, highly motivated 
employees who are used to working 
in an entrepreneurial, non-hierarchical 
structure and we want to nurture and 
retain this spirit. With 43 different 
nationalities, major centres in Malta, 
Stockholm, London and Sydney, and 
marketing offices in Paris, Copenhagen, 
Antwerp and Milan, we are a truly 
international company. We recruit 
people who we believe will thrive and 
develop in this culture and we work 
hard to remain an employer of choice. 
Our results this year are testament to 
the commitment and enthusiasm of 
our people and on behalf of the Board, 
I would like to thank them for their 
contribution to the Group’s success.

Minimising our environmental impact 
is integral to our operations and I was 
particularly pleased with the results of 
the Carbon Disclosure Project (CDP) 
2013 Climate Change Report which 
revealed a 33 per cent increase in 
Unibet’s score, rating the Group as 
above average out of the 260 companies 
listed on the Nordic exchanges.
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Looking forward
We expect to benefit from a big sporting 
year in 2014 with the Winter Olympics in 
Russia and the World Cup in Brazil high 
on the sporting agenda, with our robust 
infrastructure allowing us to respond and 
scale up easily when activity increases. 

We will continue to focus on organic 
growth and on increasing our market 
share, complemented by strategic 
acquisition where relevant opportunities 
arise as the industry consolidates. 

Whilst we intend to capitalise on our 
investment to date, we intend to stay 
at the forefront of market and product 
development and will continue to 
invest to maintain our leading position, 
particularly in mobile technology.

Our industry is changing and we are 
well positioned to take advantage of 
the opportunities and challenges that 
regulation will bring and I look forward 
to an equally exciting year in 2014.

Henrik Tjärnström
Chief Executive Officer
14 March 2014 

Earnings per share

1.434 +27%
(2012: 1.132)

Dividend per share1

1.100 +57%
(2012: 0.700)

1 Proposed
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Business report

Market review

The European online 
gaming market is 
expanding rapidly 
as a result of the 
exponential rise in 
mobile devices driving 
user experience and 
growth opportunities.

An expanding digital market
The European online gaming market has 
grown strongly over the last few years 
as basic broadband penetration has 
expanded dramatically, reaching 99 per 
cent of European households in 2012.1

Now worth EUR 12.6 billion, growth 
in Europe is set to continue thanks 
to the continued development of the 
digital society and the opportunity this 
offers for consumers to choose their 
online experience. Online gambling 
was still only 12 per cent of the total 
gaming market in 2012 and is forecast 
to rise at between 5–10 per cent over 
the next 10–15 years, generating a 
European market worth EUR 21.4
billion by 2021.2

The Australian market has been growing 
steadily and increasing its share of 
the global online gaming market, now 
representing 6 per cent of the total 
market.3 Worth EUR 189 million it is 
forecast to grow at over 4 per cent 
per annum over the next few years. 

Mobile technology changing 
the technology landscape
The expansion of 3.5G networks 
is driving rapid mobile broadband 
growth and is now widely available 
in Western Europe. Combined with 
the exponential rise in sales of smart 
phones and tablets, mobile access is 
taking an increasing share of online 
activity and is already accounting 
for 25 per cent of all web traffic.4

Smart phones accounted for over 50 per 
cent of all mobile phone sales for the first 
time in 20135 with tablet sales predicted 
to rise by 53.4 per cent this year to 184 
million units worldwide.6 Forecasters 
expect mobile users to overtake desktop 
users in 20147, driving a dramatic 
shift in the technological landscape 
for the delivery of online gaming.

Re-regulation driving growth
Across Europe, there has been a shift in 
attitude towards re-regulation over the 
last two to three years, where several 
EU members have become significantly 
more open to licensing private operators 
and indications suggest these will be 
on reasonable terms. This change 
to re-regulation attitudes is partly 
driven by social responsibility, with 
governments keen to prevent gaming 
addiction and fraud, plus of course, the 
opportunity to increase tax revenues.

Re-regulation will give gaming broader 
acceptance particularly with regard to 
social acceptance and player protection, 
giving individuals the confidence to 
switch from well-established state 
monopolies to privately licensed 
operators like Unibet. It will also 
increase opportunities in terms of new 
marketing channels and new payment 
methods for the private sector.

Online gaming – grOwth 
and OppOrtunities
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Re-regulated local markets
European countries are taking different 
approaches to re-regulation, over 
different timescales, licensing differing 
product sets with varying tax regimes.

The introduction of the local online 
re-regulation in Denmark in January 
2012 with a 20 per cent tax rate on 
Gross gaming revenue (GGR) and 
Belgium in mid 2012 with a favourable 
tax rate of 11 per cent on GGR, saw 
increased market growth rates as 
market size expanded and channelling 
to online licensed gaming accelerated. 

The Netherlands is now working on 
re-regulating its online gaming market 
and legislation is expected to be in 
place within the next two years. 

The large UK online market has 
been regulated since 2007 but 
revised regulation is anticipated 
in 2014 to encourage operators 
to move back into the UK.

Money laundering
The proposed 4th EU Directive 
on Money Laundering will extend 
its scope to include all forms of 
gambling. Regulators will continue to 
see how gambling companies have 
implemented this to ensure rigorous 
internal processes are in place at the 
point of customer registration for due 
diligence and during the customer 
journey to monitor transactions.

Opportunities for Unibet 
As an early entrant to the mobile market, 
Unibet is well placed to take advantage 
of the rise in mobile usage and has an 
extensive portfolio of mobile websites 
and apps already available, well ahead 
of many of its competitors. Usage is 
tracking the growth in mobile traffic with 
27 per cent of Unibet’s revenue coming 
from mobile offerings, with the added 
benefit for players of one-log-in process 
and familiar functionality supported 
by a common technology platform.

Unibet is well prepared for forthcoming 
re-regulation with 29 per cent of GWR 
already coming from re-regulated markets, 
with its B2B sports betting platform 
offering additional potential in markets 
where it does not have a leading presence. 

With a strong track record of responsible 
gaming, Unibet already has integrated 
systems and processes in place to 
ensure compliance with different 
regulatory regimes and cross-European 
legislation. This regulatory burden 
may well create barriers to entry for 
new entrants and favours larger, well 
established private operators. This may 
also create acquisition opportunities 
as small operators are unable to 
compete and consolidation occurs.

Sources
1 Broadband coverage in Europe: a study by Point 

Topic for the European Commission 2012.
2 H2 Gambling Capital January 2014.
3 Australian Gambling Statistics 29th edition 2014.
4 Monetate Q1 2013 ecommerce quarterly.
5 Gartner BBC News report 15 August 2013.
6 Gartner TechCrunch article 21 October 2013.
7 Morgan Stanley Research 2013.
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Business report

Business model

Central to the Unibet business model is Moneytainment®. Unibet creates 
market-leading brands, underpinned by cutting edge technology and an 
industry-leading approach to player safety, to deliver a rewarding and 
entertaining experience for its players and generate long-term value for 
its shareholders. A customer-centric environment is 

at the heart of Unibet’s corporate 
philosophy and is encapsulated in 
the motto “By Players, For Players”. 
This is a powerful mantra that drives 
the Group’s focus on knowledgeable, 
friendly customer service, delivered 24/7 
in 22 different languages supported 
by products that are always relevant 
and tailored to the local environment.

Customers

unibet strategy  
for growth

by PLayers, 
for PLayers

1,039,010 
Active customers in 2013

During 2013 unibet  
anD Maria CustoMer 
serviCe hanDLeD
•	 389,172 emails

•	 379,344 live chats

•	 220,145 calls
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The Unibet brand offers industry leading 
Sportsbook, Casino, Poker and Bingo 
products via mobile, tablet and desktop. 
Sports betting, encompassing live 
betting, is central to Unibet’s business 
and one of the keys to its success. This 
is complemented by the Maria brand, 
the largest online gaming site primarily 
focused on the female audience.

Over the last few years, the Group has 
invested in building a market-leading IT 
platform that will support today’s multi-
language, multi-jurisdiction, multi-site 
and multi-licence environment. This 
allows the Group to move into new 
territories and licensing environments 
quickly and seamlessly, on mobile, 
tablet or desktop technology.

Unibet takes its responsibility to its 
customers very seriously and has 
invested in systems, processes and 
training to ensure that the digital 
experience it provides remains as safe, 
secure and supportive as possible.

Market-leading 
brands

Cutting-edge 
technology

Player safety

80,000
Live events available  
to players

10,000
Streamed events on mobile

For more on our products, 
see pages i–iii

For more on our products, 
see pages i–iii

86 Per Cent of MobiLe 
internet users are 
using their DeviCes 
whiLe they are 
watChing tv

Opportunities
Unibet’s focus on core markets and the creation of strong brands puts it in a 
strong position to capitalise on the changing regulatory environment across 
Europe, either through organic growth or by selective acquisition. The Group’s 
investment in its Sportsbook technology through Kambi will also allow it to 
exploit the B2B market and build partnerships with industry-leading players 
in markets where it does not have a strong presence.
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Strategy

Vision
To be one of the major players in 
the global online gaming market.

Mission
Focusing on the needs of the 
customer to deliver better products 
and service, increased transparency 
and a safer player environment. 

Values
A strong customer centric 
corporate culture built on Unibet’s 
customer focused core values: 
Friendly; Passionate; Expert.

Strategy
To provide customers with 
entertaining, responsible and reliable 
products and excellent service 
whilst increasing profitability.

unibet how the 
business works

Customer experienCe
“By Players, For Players” allows Unibet to deliver excellent 
customer service and industry-leading products that are 
entertaining, reliable, local, relevant and rewarding in a safe, 
supportive environment for players. 

Cost Control
Maintain a relentless focus on operational costs to ensure the 
benefits of scale and efficiency are realised as the Group grows.

brand development
Focus on creating distinctive brands that build the Group’s 
reputation as the brand for real players looking for the best online 
gambling experience as part of a broader digital entertainment 
such as live streaming.

talent management
Attract and retain the best people with the passion, expertise 
and customer-focused approach to represent the Unibet and 
Maria brands.

produCt development
Invest in premium products and user friendly payment methods 
across all digital channels and maintain a market-leading 
technology platform.

Cash flow generation
Focus on rigorous financial control and operational efficiency to 
generate strong cash flow and a flexible capital structure.
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For more information, please visit: 
www.unibetgroupplc.com

The model shows how Gross winnings revenue, adjusted for costs, 
capital investments, movements in working capital and tax payments, 
flows through to free cash flow which is available to distribute 
to shareholders as a cash dividend and/or share buy backs. To 
ensure that an appropriate capital structure is maintained to fund 
its normal operations, acquisitions or other corporate development 
projects, the remainder is kept by the Group as retained earnings.

gross winnings revenue

free Cash flow

Costs

distributed 
to share- 
holders

Capital
investments

share 
buy baCk

movements 
in working 

Capital

retained 
earnings

tax 
payments

sports betting Casino poker other 
 

Our Revenue Model

For more on our revenues,  
see pages 42–45
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Gross winnings revenue
GBP million

2013

2012

2011

2010

234.7

197.2

154.4

147.5

EBITDA
GBP million

2013

2012

2011

2010

63.4

52.5

48.0

43.8

Profit after tax
GBP million

2013

2012

2011

2010

40.1

31.6

35.5

32.4

Earnings per share
GBP

2013

2012

2011

2010

1.434

1.132

1.270

1.154

Dividend and share buy back/share
GBP

2013

2012

2011

2010

1.100

0.700

0.746

0.425

Operating margin
%

2013

2012

2011

2010

19

18

25

23

Business report

Key performance indicators

Definition
Gross winnings revenue on sports 
betting represents the net receipt of 
bets placed and payouts made within 
the consolidated entity for the financial 
year. For other products, gross winnings 
revenue equates to net turnover.

Performance
Combination of strong organic 
growth in core markets in both the 
Unibet and Maria brands, supported 
by impact of acquisitions.

Definition
Profit after tax divided by the 
weighted average number of 
ordinary shares for the period.

Performance
The same items that affected profit 
after tax also had an impact on 
EPS development in the year.

Definition
Profit from operations before 
depreciation and amortisation charges.

Performance
Strategic focus on core markets 
and cost control continue to 
deliver improved performance.

Definition
Amount proposed by the Board 
or paid out for the respective year 
together with the amount of shares 
repurchased by Unibet, divided by the 
number of ordinary shares in issue.

Performance
The Board has reviewed the 
projected cash requirements for 
2014 and is proposing for this year 
to increase the dividend above 
50 per cent of free cash flow.

Definition
Profit after tax is a measure of the 
profitability after accounting for 
all costs. A common synonym for 
profit after tax is the bottom line. 

Performance
A number of specific items affected 
profit after tax during the year. See 
Financial Review on page 42.

Definition
Profit from operations as a percentage 
of gross winnings revenue.

Performance
2013 was affected both by higher 
betting taxes in regulated markets and 
the increased marketing investments.

Unibet assesses the performance of the business on a regular basis, 
to measure results and help deliver on the strategy and its objectives.

Financial

234.7m +19%
(2012: 197.2m)

1.434 +27%
(2012: 1.132)

63.4m +21%
(2012: 52.5m)

1.100 +57%
(2012: 0.700)

40.1m +27%
(2012: 31.6m)

19% +6%
(2012: 18%)
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For more information, please visit: 
www.unibetgroupplc.com

Employees who view Unibet
as a good employer %

2013

2012

2011

2010

89

87

82

60

Capital expenditure on intangible assets
GBP million

2013

2012

2011

2010

16.0

14.9

11.9

6.2

Equity/Share
GBP

2013

2012

2011

2010

7.046

6.329

5.632

5.018

Active customers last quarter 
of the year

2013

2012

2011

2010

516,799

491,958

400,697

308,872

Free cash flow per share
GBP

2013

2012

2011

2010

1.46

1.18

1.13

1.25

Definition
Capital expenditure on intangible assets.

Performance
Re-regulation, data analytics, information 
mining and customer experience 
improvements including mobile and 
Kambi drives business investments.

Definition
Cash flow from operations, adjusted 
for movements in working capital, 
capital investments and tax payments 
divided by the number of ordinary 
shares at the balance sheet date.

Performance
Reliable cash flow underpins 
shareholders’ return.

Definition
Total assets less total liabilities, 
divided by the number of ordinary 
shares at the balance sheet date.

Performance
A strong balance sheet creates stability.

Definition
An active customer is a customer 
who has placed at least one 
bet during the last quarter.

Performance
Strong year-on-year growth.

Definition
The result of this survey represents 
the degree to which people believe 
that Unibet is a good employer 
and a great place to work.

Performance
The survey shows that the 
revised strategy has been well 
received by the Unibet people.

Financial

16.0m +7%
(2012: 14.9m)

1.46 +24%
(2012: 1.18)

7.046 +11%
(2012: 6.329)

516,799 +5%
(2012: 491,958)

89% +2%
(2012: 87%)

nOn-Financial
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Risk management

managing
risks

Unibet has implemented a holistic 
risk management process to ensure 
that Group risks are managed 
in a pro-active manner.

The Board via the Audit Committee 
has the overall responsibility for the 
risk management process and risk 
governance. Executive management are 
responsible for identifying, assessing 
and managing the risks within Unibet.

The Risk Management and Internal 
Audit team perform reviews of the 
effectiveness of the risk mitigation 
controls and report the result to the 
Audit Committee on a quarterly basis.

Unibet divides the principal risks into 
the following main areas: General 
risks and Group specific risks.

The General risks are divided into 
the following categories:

•	 Strategic
•	 Operational
•	 Financial
•	 Compliance

The Group specific risks are 
divided into the following areas:

•	 Odds/Trade related risks
•	 Exchange risks

Fraud, Anti-Money Laundering and Legal 
risks are discussed in the Responsible 
Gaming section of the CSR report pages 
21 to 25, and in the General Legal 
Environment section on pages 28 to 29. 

Risks are identified using the process 
as described in the following diagram. 
Identification and assessments are 
done across the Group via regular 
workshops with key stakeholders. 
The results are compiled into a risk 
report which is presented on a bi-
annual basis to the Audit Committee.

A risk owner is identified for all 
risks and has the responsibility to 
implement the mitigation strategy 
and to monitor the risk.

Unibet’s performance is affected by 
a number of factors. The sensitivity 
analysis below only takes into account 
direct changes. It is likely that actual 
changes in a specific factor will also 
affect other factors and that estimates 
made by Unibet and other parties on 
the basis of a change of circumstance 
would also affect other factors.

Sensitivity analysis – detail
Unibet considers movements in 
the factors below to have the most 
impact on profit before tax (PBT).

Factor
% 

change
PBT impact 

GBP

Gross winnings revenue +/- 1 +/- 2.347m

Administrative expenses +/- 1 +/- 0.926m

Marketing expenses +/- 1 +/- 0.583m

Risk management and internal audit cycle

Risk Governance Risk Management 
Process

Sensitivity Analysis

N
o

v 
/ 

D
ec

Risk Management and 
Internal Audit team

Ja
n
 /

 F
eb

Unibet Board 

A
p
ri

l /
 M

ay

Audit Committee

Ju
ly

 /
 A

u
g

Executive management

Risk assessment
•	  Identify and assess key 

risks for Unibet

Risk assessment 
review
•	  Review of key risks for 

Unibet and update if 
necessary

Review key risks
•	  Review output from 

Executive Management 
risk assessment

•	Add risks as appropriate
•	  Review risk management 

process
•	 	Sign	off	on	key	risks	and	

risk management process

Approval of annual 
Internal Audit Plan
•	  Update and add audit 

projects if necessary

Review key risks
•	  Review output from 

Executive Management 
risk assessment

•	Add risks as appropriate
•	 Sign off on key risks

Review of Internal 
Audit Plan
•	  Review the revised 

Internal Audit Plan
•	  Discuss updates with the 

Internal Audit function

Unibet Board 
Review of key risks
and sign-off

Development of
risk-based annual
Internal Audit Plan

Revision of Internal 
Audit Plan
•	  Update, add and 

remove audit projects if 
necessary

Revision of Internal 
Audit Plan
•	  Update, add and 

remove audit projects if 
necessary
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For more information, please visit: 
www.unibetgroupplc.com

Monthly returns and tracking errors
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Upside of 
tracking error

Monthly 
return

Downside of 
tracking error
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Kambi Sports Solutions, Unibet’s B2B 
Sportsbook provider, employs various 
risk management tools to assess and 
manage the risks. For example, to 
dynamically monitor the relative risk 
of the Sportsbook, it has risk tools 
and models normally used in the 
investment management industry. 

The chart below sets out the monthly 
return on the Sportsbook from mid-2003 
to date (pre-game and live betting). 
The two outside lines represent the 
upside and downside tracking error 
of this return, benchmarked against a 
long-term average return. The tracking 
errors are measured by taking the 
standard deviation on the difference 
in return between the Sportsbook 
and the average return at a 95 per 
cent confidence interval. A 95 per 
cent confidence interval indicates 
that on average, for 19 months out 
of 20, the actual return should be 
between the two tracking error lines.

The chart illustrates that over time 
the tracking error band has become 
narrower, indicating that the monthly 
margins have become more stable. 
One of the main contributors is the 
fact that the relative amount of live 
betting within the Sportsbook has 
increased, and live betting is more 
stable, although it has a lower margin.

In 2013, millions of betting transactions 
were registered within the ESSA security 
network. Of those transactions, 30 
events proved to be suspicious and were 
passed on to the respective authorities. 

Contrary to other alert systems, the 
ESSA Early Warning System is the 
only warning system that is based 
upon transactional data and Know Your 
Customer information (KYC), which are 
key pieces of information to detect and 
assess suspicious betting behaviour. For 
this reason, ESSA members are a key 
contributor to the overall fight against 
match-fixing and corruption in sports. 

Together with the European Gaming 
and Betting Association (EGBA) and 
the Remote Gambling Association 
(RGA), ESSA is also in close cooperation 
with European Union (EU) Athletes, 
an independent athletes association 
representing over 25,000 professional 
athletes throughout Europe. A code 
of conduct and education programme 
co-financed by the European 
Commission has been set up, which 
helps professional athletes and sports 
people understand and comply with 
the sports rules against match fixing.

For Unibet, a key element of 
responsibility means keeping online 
sports betting free of corruption, 
which ensures that customers are 
provided with a fair betting product. 

Sports and betting are part of the 
same entertainment chain and as a 
consequence, both have a common 
objective to ensure the integrity 
of sport is not compromised. 

Far from contributing to betting fraud 
and match-fixing, the internet and 
new technologies make it possible 
to record and analyse each individual 
action taken online. For instance, 
irregular betting activities, such as an 
unusually high amount placed on the 
unexpected outcome of an event, can 
be identified and monitored in real time.

In 2005 Unibet co-founded the 
European Sports Security Association 
(ESSA) to proactively fight all types 
of fraud in sports betting. The 
Association works closely with many 
of the world’s leading sport federations 
including FIFA, and the IOC, and has 
signed co-operation agreements 
with European gaming regulators, 
to make sure any such intelligence 
is shared as soon as possible. 

Monthly Returns 
and Tracking Errors

Integrity  
in sports
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Risk management continued
General risks Mitigation

Strategic

Non-sustainable 
re-regulation on 
core markets

If core markets establish a non-sustainable 
re-regulation model with both high taxes 
and significant product restrictions, then it 
is hard to achieve a profitable business.

The technical/operational risk posed by future re-
regulation is now lower than it was previously, as a result of 
the significant investments made to the operating platform.

Unibet has ongoing dialogue with regulators 
and policymakers in the core markets, 
providing input regarding new or updated 
re-regulations to help create a sustainable

regulation that is aligned to customer demand 
and the cross-border digital market reality.

Supplier related 
risks

Lack of control over availability of external suppliers gives 
rise to risk of either business disruption or sub-optimisation. 

As the industry evolves there is a risk of supplier 
concentration; if key suppliers acquire dominant or

monopoly positions then that creates a 
risk of uncontrolled price increases.

To operate effectively in local markets Unibet needs 
all major product suppliers to be prepared to make the 
necessary investments to comply with local requirements.

The risk is mitigated by reducing 
dependency on single suppliers and 
working with multiple third-party suppliers. 
This allows Unibet to mitigate the risks of 
suppliers failing to operate effectively.

Technology and 
market changes in 
core markets

Unibet faces a risk in relation to potential new products, 
technologies, channels and markets (such as social 
gaming) that might emerge and change the behaviour 
of the digital customers. Unibet also faces the risk 
of new market entrants or stronger competition. 

As a result of these factors, Unibet might find it 
difficult to generate adequate growth to meet 
medium to long-term market expectations. 

The risk is mitigated by a number of activities:

•	 Investments in new markets to help 
diversify the exposure to any single market;

•	Mobile investment to ensure that 
Unibet maintains and enhances 
its market position; and

•	Focus on Innovation projects to explore 
new revenue streams, or new ways to 
generate additional revenues or cost 
savings from the existing business.

Operational

Platform stability Failures in Unibet’s platform, including those 
triggered by internal or external IT failures or 
deliberate acts, could lead to disabling of the site 
or unavailability of business critical products. 

An unacceptable level of errors would 
undermine user experience and could motivate 
customers to look for other sites. 

The risk is mitigated by using 
continuous monitoring 24/7 to detect 
any problems as early as possible.

All critical servers are duplicated, 
i.e. if one server fails, another 
will immediately take over.

Following any downtime, a detailed root 
cause analysis is performed to ensure 
that the underlying reason for the 
downtime is understood and rectified.

Failure in recruiting 
or keeping key staff

Failure to recruit or retain existing key staff will lead 
to difficulties reaching the Group objectives. 

The risk is mitigated by identifying key staff and 
ensuring that Unibet is an attractive employer 
to encourage key staff to stay with the Group.

Succession planning is also performed 
for all key staff and functions.

External security 
intrusion attempts

Either as a result of a cyber-attack or internal 
security weakness, Unibet customer data, including 
sensitive data such as passwords and/or banking 
details, could leak into the public domain. 

This could have a devastating reputational 
effect on brand and business. 

To be able to detect any signs of 
intrusion, Unibet has a dedicated 
Security Operations Centre that 
monitors the internal networks 24/7. 

Unibet performs several security tests per 
year to ensure that the systems are secure. 

The tests are performed by external 
security companies. Any issues discovered 
during the tests are resolved. In line with 
requirements Unibet is compliant with 
and audited against PCI standards.

Financial

Goodwill 
impairment

Unibet has over GBP 165 million of goodwill 
and acquired intangibles on the balance sheet. 
This is reviewed annually for impairment. 

Risk is managed by monitoring and ensuring 
any issues are anticipated and all steps 
necessary are taken in time to prevent 

problems arising (e.g. considering if 
business restructuring has an impact 
on goodwill or other asset values).

Compliance

Tax Unibet operates a complex business in multiple 
jurisdictions and is subject to a variety of national tax 
laws and compliance procedures, together with varying 
approaches taken by different taxing authorities 
towards transfer pricing for cross border businesses. 

Changes to regulatory, legislative and fiscal 
regimes for betting and gaming in key markets 
could have an adverse effect on Unibet’s results 
and additional costs may be incurred in order to 
comply with any new laws or regulations. 

Risk is managed through active management 
of Group operations – while operations are 
not driven by tax, tax is always considered 
as part of major business decisions 
and changes in the business model. 

In managing its taxation affairs, including 
estimating the amounts of taxation 
due (both current and deferred) for the 
purposes of inclusion in the financial 
statements, Unibet relies on the 
exercise of judgement concerning 

its understanding of, and compliance with, 
those laws assisted by professional advice.

Group specific risks Mitigation

Odds/Trade The risk that Unibet will lose money on its 
business due to unfavourable outcomes on 
the events where the Group offers odds. 

The Group has adopted specific risk 
management policies that control the 
maximum risk exposure for each sport or event 
on which the Group offers odds. The results of 
the most popular teams in the major football 
leagues comprise the predominant market 
risk. Through diversification, which is a key 
element of Unibet’s business, the risk is spread 
across a large number of events and sports. 

As the live betting product has grown to be a 
larger part of the total gross winnings revenue 
the diversification has increased even further. 
More importantly, the live betting product also 
has a more stable margin in comparison with 
the pre-game book which has resulted in the 
Group market risk trending downwards as 
the proportion of live betting has increased. 

The heads of the Kambi Odds compiling 
teams, the Live betting team and the 
Compliance function are responsible 
for day-to-day monitoring of Unibet’s 
market risk. It is also their responsibility 
to advise the individual odds compilers, 
in play traders and risk managers on 
appropriate risk levels for specific events. 

Exchange related The Group operates internationally and in addition 
to GBP, is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising 
from various currency exposures, primarily with 
respect to the euro, Swedish krona, Norwegian 
krone, Danish krone and Australian dollar. 

The Group’s operating cash flows provide a 
natural hedge of operating currency risks, 
since deposits and payouts to customers 
in different territories are matched in the 
same currency. The spread of the Group’s 
operations, including material revenue and 
expenses denominated in many different 
currencies, and taking into account the fact 
that customers can trade with the Group in 
currencies other than the currency of their 
territory of residence, makes it impractical to

give an indication of the impact of single 
currency movements on the results from 
operations. In general, when the reporting 
currency of GBP weakens against the 
euro and other major trading currencies 
of the Group, that would tend to increase 
operating profits because of the positive 
operating profits and cash flows generated 
by the Group. Unibet Group plc renewed its 
revolving loan facility in November 2013, 
for a maximum level of EUR 50 million. 

The Group’s borrowings as at 31 December 
2013 are nil, however if the Group draws 
down on the facility a currency translation 
exposure related to this financial liability 
will exist. The translation gains and losses 
will be unrealised until the repayment 
date. The potential translation gains and 
losses arising on the loan in future would 
be offset to the extent that the Group 
generates positive future cash flows in 
other areas of the business in euros.
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General risks Mitigation

Strategic

Non-sustainable 
re-regulation on 
core markets

If core markets establish a non-sustainable 
re-regulation model with both high taxes 
and significant product restrictions, then it 
is hard to achieve a profitable business.

The technical/operational risk posed by future re-
regulation is now lower than it was previously, as a result of 
the significant investments made to the operating platform.

Unibet has ongoing dialogue with regulators 
and policymakers in the core markets, 
providing input regarding new or updated 
re-regulations to help create a sustainable

regulation that is aligned to customer demand 
and the cross-border digital market reality.

Supplier related 
risks

Lack of control over availability of external suppliers gives 
rise to risk of either business disruption or sub-optimisation. 

As the industry evolves there is a risk of supplier 
concentration; if key suppliers acquire dominant or

monopoly positions then that creates a 
risk of uncontrolled price increases.

To operate effectively in local markets Unibet needs 
all major product suppliers to be prepared to make the 
necessary investments to comply with local requirements.

The risk is mitigated by reducing 
dependency on single suppliers and 
working with multiple third-party suppliers. 
This allows Unibet to mitigate the risks of 
suppliers failing to operate effectively.

Technology and 
market changes in 
core markets

Unibet faces a risk in relation to potential new products, 
technologies, channels and markets (such as social 
gaming) that might emerge and change the behaviour 
of the digital customers. Unibet also faces the risk 
of new market entrants or stronger competition. 

As a result of these factors, Unibet might find it 
difficult to generate adequate growth to meet 
medium to long-term market expectations. 

The risk is mitigated by a number of activities:

•	 Investments in new markets to help 
diversify the exposure to any single market;

•	Mobile investment to ensure that 
Unibet maintains and enhances 
its market position; and

•	Focus on Innovation projects to explore 
new revenue streams, or new ways to 
generate additional revenues or cost 
savings from the existing business.

Operational

Platform stability Failures in Unibet’s platform, including those 
triggered by internal or external IT failures or 
deliberate acts, could lead to disabling of the site 
or unavailability of business critical products. 

An unacceptable level of errors would 
undermine user experience and could motivate 
customers to look for other sites. 

The risk is mitigated by using 
continuous monitoring 24/7 to detect 
any problems as early as possible.

All critical servers are duplicated, 
i.e. if one server fails, another 
will immediately take over.

Following any downtime, a detailed root 
cause analysis is performed to ensure 
that the underlying reason for the 
downtime is understood and rectified.

Failure in recruiting 
or keeping key staff

Failure to recruit or retain existing key staff will lead 
to difficulties reaching the Group objectives. 

The risk is mitigated by identifying key staff and 
ensuring that Unibet is an attractive employer 
to encourage key staff to stay with the Group.

Succession planning is also performed 
for all key staff and functions.

External security 
intrusion attempts

Either as a result of a cyber-attack or internal 
security weakness, Unibet customer data, including 
sensitive data such as passwords and/or banking 
details, could leak into the public domain. 

This could have a devastating reputational 
effect on brand and business. 

To be able to detect any signs of 
intrusion, Unibet has a dedicated 
Security Operations Centre that 
monitors the internal networks 24/7. 

Unibet performs several security tests per 
year to ensure that the systems are secure. 

The tests are performed by external 
security companies. Any issues discovered 
during the tests are resolved. In line with 
requirements Unibet is compliant with 
and audited against PCI standards.

Financial

Goodwill 
impairment

Unibet has over GBP 165 million of goodwill 
and acquired intangibles on the balance sheet. 
This is reviewed annually for impairment. 

Risk is managed by monitoring and ensuring 
any issues are anticipated and all steps 
necessary are taken in time to prevent 

problems arising (e.g. considering if 
business restructuring has an impact 
on goodwill or other asset values).

Compliance

Tax Unibet operates a complex business in multiple 
jurisdictions and is subject to a variety of national tax 
laws and compliance procedures, together with varying 
approaches taken by different taxing authorities 
towards transfer pricing for cross border businesses. 

Changes to regulatory, legislative and fiscal 
regimes for betting and gaming in key markets 
could have an adverse effect on Unibet’s results 
and additional costs may be incurred in order to 
comply with any new laws or regulations. 

Risk is managed through active management 
of Group operations – while operations are 
not driven by tax, tax is always considered 
as part of major business decisions 
and changes in the business model. 

In managing its taxation affairs, including 
estimating the amounts of taxation 
due (both current and deferred) for the 
purposes of inclusion in the financial 
statements, Unibet relies on the 
exercise of judgement concerning 

its understanding of, and compliance with, 
those laws assisted by professional advice.

Group specific risks Mitigation

Odds/Trade The risk that Unibet will lose money on its 
business due to unfavourable outcomes on 
the events where the Group offers odds. 

The Group has adopted specific risk 
management policies that control the 
maximum risk exposure for each sport or event 
on which the Group offers odds. The results of 
the most popular teams in the major football 
leagues comprise the predominant market 
risk. Through diversification, which is a key 
element of Unibet’s business, the risk is spread 
across a large number of events and sports. 

As the live betting product has grown to be a 
larger part of the total gross winnings revenue 
the diversification has increased even further. 
More importantly, the live betting product also 
has a more stable margin in comparison with 
the pre-game book which has resulted in the 
Group market risk trending downwards as 
the proportion of live betting has increased. 

The heads of the Kambi Odds compiling 
teams, the Live betting team and the 
Compliance function are responsible 
for day-to-day monitoring of Unibet’s 
market risk. It is also their responsibility 
to advise the individual odds compilers, 
in play traders and risk managers on 
appropriate risk levels for specific events. 

Exchange related The Group operates internationally and in addition 
to GBP, is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising 
from various currency exposures, primarily with 
respect to the euro, Swedish krona, Norwegian 
krone, Danish krone and Australian dollar. 

The Group’s operating cash flows provide a 
natural hedge of operating currency risks, 
since deposits and payouts to customers 
in different territories are matched in the 
same currency. The spread of the Group’s 
operations, including material revenue and 
expenses denominated in many different 
currencies, and taking into account the fact 
that customers can trade with the Group in 
currencies other than the currency of their 
territory of residence, makes it impractical to

give an indication of the impact of single 
currency movements on the results from 
operations. In general, when the reporting 
currency of GBP weakens against the 
euro and other major trading currencies 
of the Group, that would tend to increase 
operating profits because of the positive 
operating profits and cash flows generated 
by the Group. Unibet Group plc renewed its 
revolving loan facility in November 2013, 
for a maximum level of EUR 50 million. 

The Group’s borrowings as at 31 December 
2013 are nil, however if the Group draws 
down on the facility a currency translation 
exposure related to this financial liability 
will exist. The translation gains and losses 
will be unrealised until the repayment 
date. The potential translation gains and 
losses arising on the loan in future would 
be offset to the extent that the Group 
generates positive future cash flows in 
other areas of the business in euros.
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Regional review

Unibet had 1,039,010 active customers in over 100 countries 
worldwide and operated in 22 languages during 2013. The 
Group segments its operations into four main regions: the 
Nordic region, Western Europe, the combined Central, 
Eastern & Southern Europe region (CES) and the Rest 
of the World, which includes Australia.

nordic 

This is Unibet’s biggest region, 
accounting for 54 per cent of 
revenue, where it is one of the 
largest stock listed gaming 
operators. Unibet’s GWR in the 
region has risen by 19 per cent 
during the year to GBP 125.6m 
GWR (2012: GBP 105.3m), with 
market share increasing for both 
Unibet and Maria brands.

Whilst GWR in Sweden, Norway and 
Finland has grown fast, Unibet has taken 
full advantage of the re-regulation of the 
Danish market in 2012 and it now has a 
five-year licence for casino and betting. 
It provides the Sportsbook product, 
Casino and Poker via its Unibet brand 
and a female-focused Casino product 
via its Maria brand. Both have performed 
strongly during the year and Unibet ended 
the year as a top three operator in all 
markets. The re-regulation has opened 
up TV advertising and sponsorship 
opportunities, enabling Unibet to 
sponsor two Danish Superliga football 
clubs, becoming an exclusive betting 
partner for both clubs and benefitting 
from advertising in the club stadiums.

Unibet is confident that the Nordics 
will provide further opportunities 
for growth going forward.

unibet’s 
markets

GbP 125.6m Gwr
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For more information, please visit: 
www.unibetgroupplc.com

central, eastern & 
southern euroPe
This region covers a diverse range 
of markets, with widely varying 
regulatory regimes, and contributes 
around 9 per cent of Unibet’s GWR. 
Significant growth in the second 
half of the year resulted in GWR 
of GBP 21.8m, up 18 per cent on 
last year (2012: GBP 18.5m GWR).

Following the introduction of a favourable 
regulatory environment in Estonia, Unibet 
launched its full product range on mobile 
and desktop platforms for this small, but 
attractive market and both Unibet and 
Maria brands are making strong progress.

Whilst tax rates in Italy are more 
favourable than in France, technical 
regulation and product scope limitations 
are restraining growth in this large, 
but highly competitive market. Unibet 
has a small share of the market, 
ready to take advantage of any 
change in regulation in the future.

western euroPe 

This is Unibet’s fastest growing 
region driven by the impact of the 
local online re-regulation of the 
Belgium market, where the Group 
already had a strong presence, 
and continued expansion in all 
Western European markets. 
Growth accelerated to GBP 76.8m 
GWR, up 21 per cent on last 
year (2012: GBP 63.2m GWR).

Unibet launched its full service offering 
in the newly regulated Belgium market 
in October 2012 and is now providing 
pre-game sports betting, live betting, 
poker and casino in a favourable licensing 
environment with an 11 per cent tax 
rate on Gross gaming revenue (GGR). 
There has also been healthy growth 
in the Netherlands which is currently 
preparing its online re-regulations 
with plans to introduce these in 2015 
and as one of the main online gaming 
brands in the country, Unibet is well 
placed to participate in this market as 
it develops. Despite an unfavourable 
licensing regime, Unibet has maintained 
its presence for Sportsbook and Poker 
in France but no further investment is 
planned until regulations change. 

Investment is currently focused on the UK 
market where re-regulation is expected in 
2014 and Unibet has set an objective to 
become one of the top five online betting 
firms in this attractive market, launching 
greyhound and horse racing products as 
well as extended offers on UK sports.

rest of the world 

Unibet’s GWR outside of its 
core areas of focus is GBP 10.6m 
GWR, in line with last year (2012: 
GBP 10.2m GWR). This reflects 
the full year contribution from 
the acquisition of Betchoice in 
2012 and the establishment of 
the Unibet brand in Australia.

Unibet offers sports betting and 
horse racing products to the Australian 
market where live betting, casino and 
poker are still banned. The acquisition 
has been rebranded under the Unibet 
brand and investment in the platform 
will see the services moved onto the 
main Unibet technical environment in 
2014, enabling the further potential 
of the business going forward.

516,799
Active customers in Q4 2013

Strong growth in Western Europe  
has increased GWR by 21 per cent

21.8m Gwr76.8m Gwr 10.6m Gwr
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Kambi Sports Solutions is a 
product focused, market-led 
B2B supplier of premium quality 
sports betting services delivered 
via a unique software platform 
developed in-house by Unibet. 

Kambi overview
After developing and operating Unibet’s 
award winning Sportsbook since 1997, 
Kambi was set up as a separate entity 
in 2010. Kambi was formed to address 
the market opportunity for a scalable, 
enterprise class sports betting solution 
delivered as a fully managed service to 
Tier 1 Operators and National Lotteries.

Demand for this solution is being 
driven by:

•	 The cost/benefits a managed service 
can bring utilising scale advantages

•	 Complex re-regulation of 
geographic markets

•	 Increased consumer demand 
for complex and labour 
intensive In-play betting

•	 The need to offer a seamless 
experience for users that access 
the products on an expanding 
range of devices including mobile, 
desktop, and retail terminals

Kambi structure
Kambi is run as an independent 
company with its own Advisory 
Committee. At the end of the 2013 
calendar year, Kambi had 319 employees 
working in its four offices, located in 
Malta, London, Stockholm, and Manila.

The Kambi Advisory Committee (KAC) 
oversees the performance and direction 
of the business. The KAC is comprised 
of two members of the Board of Unibet 
Group plc and two external advisors 
who have extensive experience of the 
gaming industry and other relevant 
business sectors. The KAC comprises: 
Anders Ström, Chairman of the Board 
of Unibet Group plc; Stefan Lundborg, 
member of the Board of Unibet 
Group plc; Lars Stugemo, CEO and 
President of HiQ International, an IT 
and management consultancy firm, 
specialising in communications and 
software development; and Reidar 
Nordby, former President of the 
World Lottery Association and former 
President and CEO of Norsk Tipping, 
the Norwegian National Lottery.

Kambi proposition
Kambi’s fully managed service proposition 
is built on four value creating pillars:

•	 To maximise client life-time value 
by focusing on delivering the most 
exciting front-end experience, and 
to provide systems and tools for 
Kambi’s traders to facilitate the 
operation of a high quality product 
while maintaining optimal margins.

•	 Cost efficiency and speed to market 
for Operators through automation 
and scalability in operations and 
in product development. Kambi’s 
philosophy is that all its clients share 
and benefit from all resources. 

•	 Differentiation and control for the 
Operator. Kambi’s product expertise, 
strong client base, scalability and 
speed of development enable 
Operators to focus their time and 
investments on brand management 
and customer acquisition.

•	 Risk Management and Customer 
Intelligence. Kambi’s state-of-
the-art approach helps to support 
Operator margins and significantly 
reduces the risk of financial 
exposure to irregular betting patterns 
and fraudulent behaviours.

Kambi’s current client portfolio
Kambi’s current client portfolio includes:
The Unibet Group, 888 Sports and 
Suertia (signed in 2013), Paf, Egasa, 
Acrismatic, Mediaset Spain, Napoleon 
Games (Belgium), Betclic Everest Group, 
Interwetten, and Tonybet. Kambi has also 
completed several licensing audits during 
the year and certified its services in 
Denmark, Belgium, Italy, and Estonia and 
is licensed in Malta, Alderney and Spain.

With the signing of 888 Sports in 2013, 
Kambi now provides its services to three 
of the top 20 Sports betting providers 
in eGaming Review’s Power 50, 2013. 

In addition, the launch of 888 Sports 
constituted the sixth Sportsbook 
integration with new licensed Operators 
in re-regulated markets since 2012. 

During 2013 Kambi completed 25 
product development releases. The 
most important additions to the product 
portfolio were features that enabled 
betting through Self Service and Over-
The-Counter terminals, the introduction 
of services to enable betting on horse 
racing, and further improvements to 
the mobile channel offering, alongside 
significant enhancements to the pre-
match and live betting offer/proposition. 

Kambi currently offers 100,000 live 
betting events and 200,000 pre-match 
events annually in 65 different sports. 

kambi sPorts 
solutions
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For more information, please visit: 
www.unibetgroupplc.com

Henrik Tjärnström
Chief Executive Officer

Business report

Corporate Social Responsibility

CSR is part of the DNA of our 
company. We are passionate 
about doing the right thing by 
our players, our people and all 
other stakeholders within our 
communities. Protecting and 
taking care of our players is at 
the core of our customer centric 
approach and we take player safety 
seriously. Whilst this makes good 
commercial sense as players who 
have a good experience will come 
back, it also helps position us as 
a responsible gaming company. 
We aim to be seen as a market 
leader in this area, contributing 
to setting standards and building 
a reputation for fair play. 

Approach to corporate social 
responsibility
Unibet’s approach to corporate social 
responsibility (CSR) is embedded in the 
way the Group operates and central to 
the Group’s strategy of putting players 
first. The key areas of focus are on player 
safety, reducing environmental impact 
and contributing to the community. 
Unibet refers to these as Fair Play, 
Playing in our Environment and  
Playing in our Communities.

Fair play
Responsible gaming
Unibet is totally committed to providing a 
safe, secure and supportive environment 
for its customers and this ethos is deeply 
embedded in the way the Group and its 
employees operate.

a year of progress
Introduction by Chief Executive Officer

“We are passionate 
about doing the right 
thing by our players, 
our people and all 
other stakeholders 
within our 
communities”
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Business report

Corporate Social Responsibility
continued

“Unibet takes a 
proactive approach 
to identifying the 
signs of problem 
gambling, through its 
proprietary systems”

This commitment begins at registration, 
where verification routines check both 
customers’ identities and the source of 
their funds to ensure compliance with 
stringent European Union (EU) Anti-
Money Laundering regulations. This 
zero tolerance to any kind of fraud is 
backed up by people, processes and 
systems spanning the organisation. 
Activity is monitored 24/7 to identify 
unusual patterns of behaviour, with 
suspicious transactions being reported 
to relevant authorities and accounts 
suspended or closed if required. 
Verification continues right through to 
withdrawals to ensure that the right 
customer receives the winnings. 

A strong team of specialists from 
a range of different backgrounds, 
from psychology to audit, form the 
central fraud detection team, each 
one approved by a public regulator.

Unibet also takes a proactive approach 
to identifying the signs of problem 
gambling, through its proprietary Player 
Safety Early Detection System (PS-
EDS). Based on empirical research, the 
system has been developed over recent 

years and is the most sophisticated and 
humanistic in the industry today and is 
unique in taking a holistic approach that 
focuses on the needs of the individual. 
Academic research has demonstrated 
that a very small percentage of players 
may experience gambling problems, 
but taking action following early 
signs can prevent addiction and help 
customers regulate their gambling. 

The Unibet system PS-EDS monitors 
key indicators and has an 85 per cent 
successful predictive rate. Once a 
potential issue is identified a personalised 
approach is taken, with the customer 
service team trained to provide prompt 
assistance and guidance, for example, 
helping customers set spending deposit 
limits or self-exclusion periods. 

Everyone in the organisation, from the 
CEO downwards, receives training in 
responsible gaming. Customer-facing 
staff receive additional training in 
communicating with customers and 
senior staff may be given training 
in motivational interviewing skills by 
external organisations specialising in 
gambling addiction. Unibet already 
works closely with Gambling Therapy, 
a global online support service for 
people and their relatives who have 
been adversely affected by gambling.

CSR at Unibet
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Objective

•	 Continue to use the latest scientific evidence to help in the 
detection of potential problem gambling behaviour

•	 Provide support to national gambling organisations 

•	 Provide players with the best possible support tools, such as 
deposit/spend limits and self-exclusion

•	 Be organised internally to ensure a holistic approach to player 
safety and support

•	 Ensure maximum channelling to local licences to enable 
effective player protection

•	 Promote re-regulation that is fact based and aligned to existing 
player demand and the global digital economy 
 
 

•	 Be an active partner in the EU Action Plan on online gambling, 
both towards national and EU stakeholders

Progress

Achieved 

Achieved – The main focus this year for organisations in the 
Netherlands

In progress – Advances have been made, and also proposals for 
more advanced responsible gaming tools for next year

Achieved – Separate teams merged under one mind 

In progress – Ongoing discussion with national policy makers to 
raise awareness that channelling is the only policy enabler

In progress 
–  Ongoing work to make positive contributions to sustainable 

policy making and using 16+ years of expertise
–  Ongoing work via trade associations to find solutions based  

upon dialogue

Achieved 
– Participated in expert meeting on consumer protection
–  Ongoing work to make positive contributions to sustainable 

policy making and using 16+ years of expertise
–  Ongoing work via trade associations to find solutions based  

upon dialogue

Objective

•	 Replace each item of IT hardware at the end of its useful life 
with a more efficient equivalent 
 

•	 Be innovative in reducing our footprint 
 
 
 
 

•	 Use a variety of channels to inform our employees of their 
impact on the environment and how to minimise it

•	 To reduce total CO2 emissions year-on-year until 2017 

•	 To completely offset CO2 emissions from flights by 2017 

•	 To improve our Carbon Disclosure Project disclosure rating 
in 2013

•	 To seek and implement ways to improve the quality and 
regularity of our carbon reporting

Progress

Achieved
–  High density, low power installations made in two of our 

data centres 
–  Ongoing office IT hardware replacement 

In progress 
–  We are using cutting edge data centre cooling technology in 

our new data centre 
–  We have implemented a new supplier code of conduct 

ensuring our signed up partners are doing all they can to 
minimise their CO2 emissions

In progress – Ongoing power saving campaigns run throughout 
our offices 

In progress – CO2 emissions per key strategic site have reduced 
by 10 per cent year-on-year

In progress – We are seeking responsible offsetting opportunities 
that are aligned to our CSR strategy

Achieved – Achieved with a 33 per cent year on year increase in 
our disclosure score

In progress – Our data capture process for CO2 reporting has been 
refined and we are now able to perform regular travel reporting

 

Objective

•	 To provide opportunities and support for employees to give their 
time and expertise to community projects 

•	 To increase the numbers of our employees fundraising with 
matched funding

•	 Target a year-on-year increase in employee satisfaction as 
measured by Employee Surveys

•	 Promote a healthy working culture for all of our employees

Progress

In progress – We have supported several community projects, and 
continue to pursue opportunities with organisations that fit into 
the overall CSR strategy

Achieved – We have increased matched funding to employees 
who challenge themselves for good caused during 2013

Achieved – Maintained our overall Employee Engagement Score 
at 84 per cent (8 per cent above benchmark level)

In progress – We offer our employees a wide range of healthy 
benefits and sports clubs
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“For the second 
year running, Unibet 
participated in the 
Carbon Disclosure 
Project (CDP) and 
made significant 
progress, increasing its 
score by 33 per cent”

This extends to suppliers, as laid out 
in the Unibet’s new supplier code. 
They must familiarise themselves with 
Unibet’s Responsible Gaming Policy and 
Advertising Policy and ensure day to day 
activities carried out on behalf of Unibet 
are within the spirit and guidelines of the 
Policy. Unibet’s suppliers must also ensure 
that their employees adhere to the CEN 
Workshop Agreement Standard CWA 
16259 that defines the control measures 
for responsible remote gambling.

Unibet is seen as being at the forefront 
of the online gaming industry, with its 
focus on detection and prevention and 
the provision of tools for customers to 
stay in control. The recent nominations 
for eGaming Review’s Responsible 
Gaming Award and the International 
Gaming Awards are external 
recognition of this dedication. 

Promoting sustainable online 
regulation
As more European markets consider 
online regulation, Unibet’s commitment 
to keep at the forefront of digital 
safety will be an increasingly important 
asset. The Group’s policies and 
processes already put it ahead of 
regulatory requirements and Unibet 
proactively contributes its deep 
knowledge and wide experience 
to global and national initiatives. 

This year, the Group has been involved 
with the Dutch Department of Justice 
discussing gaming licensing policies and 
talking to other regulators through the 

various trade bodies that it is a member 
of, including the Danish Online Gaming 
Association, the European Gaming and 
Betting Association (EGBA) and Remote 
Gambling Association (RGA). Unibet’s 
concern to reduce fraud and corruption 
also underpins its membership of the 
European Sports Security Association 
(ESSA), where it is a founder member.

Playing in our environment
Carbon reporting
As an online provider, Unibet’s 
greenhouse gas (CO2) emissions 
are lower than traditional industries. 
However Unibet recognises that the 
release of carbon dioxide generated 
by burning fossil fuels has an impact 
on climate change. This impact directly 
or indirectly, presents considerable 
risks both to Unibet’s business and 
the environment of its customers.

The Group engages a third party 
to calculate its CO2 emissions in 
accordance with The Greenhouse 
Gas Protocol Corporate Standard. 
The amount of CO2 generated by the 
Group in the last two years ended 30 
November is shown in the table below.
In the year ended 30 November 2013, 
the Group’s CO2 intensity has decreased 
by 10 per cent per key strategic site. 
This intensity ratio contextualises the 
growth in absolute CO2 emissions, 
which are understandable given the 
growth and enhanced footprint of the 
business during the year. However 
it’s important that this growth in 
emissions has been managed.

Year ended 30 November1

2013 2012

Scope 1 – Direct CO2 emissions (tonnes CO2) 62 41

Scope 2 – Indirect CO2 emissions (tonnes CO2) 1,763 1,162

Scope 3 – Indirect CO2 emissions (tonnes CO2) 2,068 1,579

Total emissions (thousand tonnes CO2) 3,893 2,782

CO2 ratio (tonnes CO2 per employee) 4.33 3.48

CO2 ratio (tonnes CO2 per GBPm turnover) 16.58 14.11

CO2 ratio (tonnes CO2 per key strategic site) 139 155

1 Note to ensure CO2 data is collected on a timely and accurate basis the CO2 reporting year is a month ahead of 
the financial year
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The risks from climate change include 
impacts on the sustainability of service 
provision across our large global 
footprint, disruption to the availability of 
global internet access and disruption of 
operations to the Group’s commercial 
partners. Unibet recognises that the 
risks from climate change may be 
mitigated if it minimises its direct CO2 
emissions (from fuels) and indirect CO2 
emissions (from electricity and travel). 
Accordingly, Unibet has set targets to 
reduce greenhouse gas emissions each 
year until 2017 against a baseline set in 
the year ended 30 November 2012.

Green initiatives
A new supplier code has been 
introduced this year that communicates 
Unibet’s principles and its expectations 
of suppliers, not only with regard to 
reducing environmental impact, but 
also including business ethics, human 
rights and gambling in society. 

Travel is a particular area of focus as 
Unibet increases its global presence. 
It now has offices in nine countries, 
including a new marketing office 
in Belgium opened this year. Video 
conferencing is available at our sites and 
is used extensively for internal meetings, 
like the Group-wide monthly update 
and new starters’ induction meetings. 

Carbon emissions
For the second year running, Unibet 
participated in the Carbon Disclosure 
Project (CDP) and made significant 
progress, increasing its disclosure score 
by 33 per cent, scoring ahead of the 
average for the Nordic region. The key to 
reducing carbon emissions for the Group 
is in reducing energy usage in its data 
centres and operational sites. Results 
this year show a reduction in carbon 
emissions per GWR and key strategic 
site, as the policy of replacing IT 
equipment with the most energy efficient 
solutions at the end of its useful life 
begins to have an impact. For example, 
high density, low power installations have 
been completed in two of the Group’s 

data centres. The impact of which has 
been a 43 per cent reduction year on 
year in CO2 emission per data centre.

Unibet constantly looks for innovative 
ways to reduce its footprint. This year 
cutting edge data centre cooling 
technology has been introduced 
in the main data centres. 

Playing in our communities
A great place to work
Unibet aims to be an employer of 
choice to ensure that it can attract and 
retain the best people. This means not 
only offering competitive salaries and 
excellent terms and conditions but 
also being known for high standards of 
business ethics and working in a socially 
and environmentally sustainable way.

It is committed to equality of opportunity 
and complies with all international 
standards to support human rights.

Unibet has retained its entrepreneurial, 
open culture as the Group has 
expanded and maintained a flat 
organisation structure and commitment 
to frequent, two way communication.

Making a difference
Employees are encouraged to get 
involved in their communities, with 
the group providing matched funding 
to seven individuals during the year. 
The Group is looking to increase this 
involvement, aligning it with Group 
values, and provide more support 
to employees to give their time and 
expertise to community projects. 
The Group already donates skills 
and resources to gambling treatment 
centres in the Netherlands and plans 
to extend this to other markets. 
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Our People

“Recruiting and 
retaining the right 
people is critical to 
the future growth of 
the business”

putting
people first

Sustaining competitive advantage
Recruiting and retaining the right 
people is critical to the future growth 
of the business so the Group’s Human 
Resources (HR) strategy is directly 
aligned to its business goals. Delivering 
world-class, customer centric service 
is one of Unibet’s key competitive 
advantages and it focuses on ensuring 
every employee is selected, trained 
and motivated to achieve this. 

Building a talented workforce
A new careers site has been launched 
this year that focuses on both attracting 
candidates for specific vacancies 
and building a pipeline of potential 
recruits for the future. This has been 
supplemented by the production of a 
new recruitment video which is targeted 
specifically at attracting technical talent.
All Unibet sites link back to the career site 
and it is well integrated into social media, 
enabling people to keep in touch if there 

are no vacancies that suit them at the 
time. Applications are fed straight through 
into a new internal recruitment system, 
allowing managers and the HR team to 
track and control the process effectively.

Specific work has been done on creating 
excellent on-boarding and induction 
processes to maximise employee 
contributions from day one, including 
addressing the gap between signing 
contracts and actual start date. New 
recruits are given access to the “Green 
Room” – a web portal where they 
can start to feel part of the Company 
and begin some of their mandatory 
compliance training, even before they join. 

Retention and development
The performance management process 
within the Group has been developed and 
enhanced to ensure that there is a clear 
connection and line of sight between 
business and personal goals. Goals are set 
around balanced scorecard principles and 
the appraisal process identifies not only 
those employees with future leadership 
potential but also future technical, product 
and other specialist roles. Training and 
development opportunities specifically 
designed for Unibet are available to all 
employees through “Learning4U” – an 
outsourced training service that also 
sources high quality external learning 
and makes booking and approvals easy.
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For more information, please visit: 
www.unibetgroupplc.com

Learning and development is also 
increasingly aligned to the core Unibet 
values and strategy, particularly with 
regard to delivering a customer-
centric approach. No matter what 
part of the organisation they work in, 
all employees are encouraged to see 
how their function contributes to the 
overall customer experience and they 
understand that this is not just the 
responsibility of the customer facing staff.

Evidence of the opportunities for 
employees to progress and develop 
their careers within the Group is that 
over 20 per cent of our vacancies are 
filled as a result of internal moves.

Employee engagement
A comprehensive employee survey 
is issued to all staff annually, with 
scores tracked and analysed. Generally 
scores this year improved significantly, 
with particular improvement in the 
percentage who would recommend 
Unibet to others as a good employer. 
Following the survey, a number of 
workshops were held to identify areas 
for improvement. These ranged from 
making improvements to inter office 
communication, improvements to the 
performance management process 
and improvements to the working 
environment. The ongoing improvement 
initiatives led to Unibet in March 2014 
being awarded the Business Leaders 
Malta Award. This was a result of 
Unibet benchmarking itself against 
other leading businesses in Malta and 
recognition of Unibet reaching new 
performance standards for people 
management in the gaming business.

Case Study
The Customer Service team manager 
for Sweden, based in the Malta office, 
is a prime example of someone who 
has progressed their career through 
Unibet, making use of the formal and 
informal development opportunities 
available to progress their career. He 
joined Unibet as a Customer Service 
agent initially working through the 
comprehensive induction and training 
package which all agents receive 
to prepare them to provide the best 
service to Unibet customers. With 
a strong basis from this training, his 
keenness to develop was quickly 
recognised and he was given the 
opportunity to develop his people 
skills and support other team members. 
Within a few weeks of appointment into 
his current team lead role, he joined 
the latest cohort of Lifecycle – Unibet’s 
bespoke management programme 
which gave him the skills he needed to 
understand his new management role.

“I’m always looking for new challenges 
and Unibet has given me the chance to 
improve and grow within the Company 
and as a person. The training and 
development I’ve had has given me 
the chance to improve my skills and 
understand how I can help people work 
together to get the best from them.”

Age breakdown
Unibet’s relatively low average age 
reflects the fact that the Group is 
operating in a young industry

Gender breakdown
Unibet is committed to a policy 
of equal opportunity in matters 
relating to employment, training 
and career development

Education
An important objective is to ensure that 
Unibet has a workplace that can attract 
and help retain existing skilled staff

Nationalities
Unibet’s staff are uniquely qualified to 
understand customers and their needs

>40yrs  19%
<30yrs  36%
30–40yrs  45%

female  25%
male  75%

high school 
or equivalent  30%
university 
degree  70%
including 
doctorates  1

languages 
spoken  26
nationalities  43

valuing excellence
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General Legal Environment

Unibet Group’s core business of 
remote sports betting and gambling 
is subject to a number of legal 
restrictions and regulations in 
the markets where Unibet has a 
commercial interest and focus. 

The vast majority of revenues derive from 
markets located within the European 
Union (EU). Unibet is established within 
the EU and is licensed in a number of 
Member States, including Malta, Italy, 
France, Denmark and Belgium. During 
2013, Unibet was also granted licences in 
the German region of Schleswig-Holstein 
and Estonia. Unibet also operates under 
a local Australian betting licence and 
is regulated by the Australian Northern 
Territory Racing Commission.

The trend of re-regulation of the gaming 
and betting legislation in the individual 
EU Member States continues, which 
allows Unibet to operate a local “dot 
country” offer. Unibet believes that there 
is a risk that the current fragmentation of 
the European market is negative for the 
digital consumer experience and could 
drive players to the unregulated industry 
from outside the EU. The challenge 
for the national regulation is to protect 
consumers by channelling them to safe 
and attractive local online products and 
a sustainable regulatory framework 
based on consumer choice and market 
reality is key to reach this objective. 

Any restriction under the gambling 
laws of individual Member States could 
furthermore affect the EU fundamental 
rights such as the free movement of 
goods, capital or services as well as 
the right to establish and the right to 
consume, provide and promote services 
across borders – and may therefore be 
contrary to overriding EU law. The only 
exception that has been accepted by 
the Court of Justice of the European 
Union (CJEU) is where a Member State 
is able to demonstrate that a restriction 
is non-discriminatory, necessary and 
proportionate. Furthermore the Member 
State must show that the restriction aims 
to meet general public interests, such 
as the protection of consumers and/or 
the prevention of crime in a consistent 
manner and that the restrictions are 

suitable for the stated aims. Finally, 
the CJEU has established in several 
rulings, amongst others the Rainone 
and Biasci cases (C-660/11 & C-8/12) 
from September 2013, that a Member 
State must implement licence conditions 
and licence processes in a transparent, 
precise and non-discriminatory manner. 

As a first step towards an effective and 
more common EU approach to online 
gambling, in 2012 Unibet welcomed the 
European Commission (EC) Green Paper 
consultation on Online Gambling and 
the subsequent action plan on Online 
Gambling. Unibet notes that during 
2013 the EC has again taken up certain 
infringement cases and as a result has 
sent two Reasoned Opinions (last step 
before referring a case to the CJEU) 
to Sweden on 20 November 2013. It 
has also formally opened new cases by 
sending letters of formal notice to other 
member states. Further infringement 
cases remain open, including cases 
against Germany, the Netherlands, 
Greece and Hungary. However, at 
the same time the EC took the highly 
questionable decision to close the old 
infringement case against Finland. During 
2014, Unibet looks forward to the other 
initiatives arising from the EC action 
plan, in particular the recommendations 
on responsible gaming and advertising 
for Member States which should be 
finalised early in the new year. 

Despite the ongoing EU developments, 
a risk remains that courts judging under 
the national laws of Member States may 
rule against the activities of Unibet and/
or that national policy makers adopt new 
laws that may be in breach of EU law.
Subject to advice on a case-by-case 
basis, Unibet expects to appeal any 
adverse judgements to higher courts, 
evoking overriding principles of European 
law. For this reason, Unibet does not 
hold any provisions in its balance sheet 
for potential adverse judgements in 
this regard. Unibet’s assessment of the 
current legal environment it faces in 
certain material European markets is 
set out country by country overleaf. 

Given the legal situation in the USA, 
Unibet stresses that its standing policy 
and practice remain not to accept any 
paying customer resident in the USA. 

The yearly Responsible Gaming Day in Brussels brings together EU and national officials, regulators, 
experts and academia, stakeholders representing the broad spectrum of the European gaming industry 
and player representatives.



29 — Unibet Group plc Annual Report and Accounts 2013
B

u
s

in
e

s
s

 R
e

P
O

R
T

G
O

V
e

R
n

A
n

C
e

F
in

A
n

C
iA

L s
TA

Te
M

e
n

Ts

For more information, please visit: 
www.unibetgroupplc.com

Sweden
The case against AB Trav och Galopp 
(ATG) was closed on 7 January 2013, 
after Unibet won the case in the 
Stockholm Court of Appeal, and the 
Swedish Supreme Court decided not to 
grant leave to the appeal. The proceedings 
were initiated in 2007 and ATG had been 
seeking damages of SEK 325 million, 
claiming infringement of its database on 
horse race fixtures.

The debate about a re-regulation of the 
Swedish gaming legislation has been 
ongoing for some time. However, the 
Minister of Financial Markets made 
a statement in June 2013 saying 
that the next two years will be spent 
evaluating options and analysing other 
countries’ regulations. Subject to the 
outcome of the parliamentary elections 
in September 2014, Unibet finds it 
unlikely that a new legal framework 
will be in place before 2017, despite 
the threat from the EC to take Sweden 
to the CJEU due to the inconsistency 
of the current legislation and lack of 
strict state control over the monopoly 
Svenska Spel. Unibet is following the 
developments closely and is one of 
the founding members of the local 
trade association Branschföreningen 
för OnlineSpel (BOS). The aim is to 
create a dialogue with all stakeholders 
and to use experience gained in 
other countries to make a positive 
contribution to the national debate.

Norway
Following the parliamentary elections 
in September 2013, the new coalition 
government stated in its manifesto 
that they would be looking into the 
possibilities of re-regulating the 
Norwegian gaming and betting market. 
Unibet aims to share its experience from 
re-regulation in other countries, notably 
that consumer demand in the digital 
market is a prerequisite for channelling 
customers to a local offer and hence a 
successful regulation. Any significant 
change in the current gambling policy is 
still likely to be three to five years away.

In 2010, Norway adopted and 
implemented payment blocking 
legislation to restrict cross-border 
gaming related payments. Unibet 
asserts that the measure is against 
Norway’s free trade obligations, 
disproportionate, counter-productive 
and ineffective. Norway is subject to 
EU regulations under the Agreement 
on the European Economic Area 
(EEA) in force since 1 January 1994.

The Netherlands 
Unibet supports the commitment of 
the Dutch government to re-regulate 
the gaming market under national 
law. Unibet continues to engage with 
relevant stakeholders to contribute to 
this process in a constructive manner. 

During the year, Unibet reached 
a settlement on mutual claims 
with Stichting de Nationale 
Sporttotalisator, De Lotto.

Germany 
The Region of Schleswig-Holstein 
and the other 15 Regions (Länder) 
have adopted two different sets of 
regulatory models which has given 
rise to a referral to the CJEU where 
the overall consistency of the German 
legislation, and thus its compliance with 
EU law, is being questioned. Unibet has 
been awarded a licence in Schleswig-
Holstein and it is still in the application 
process for one of the 15 licences 
to be issued under the State Treaty. 
Unibet is paying federal betting duties in 
relation to its sports betting products.

The authorities of Baden-Württemberg 
are attempting to enforce the previous 
State Lottery Treaty against certain 
Unibet legal entities. Unibet is subject to 
general prohibition orders and two fines 
of EUR 10,000 each. Unibet’s challenge 
of the orders was rejected during 2012. 
Unibet has appealed and the highest 
administrative court has decided to 
suspend the case awaiting the above 
mentioned ruling from the CJEU.

France
Unibet is operating under three 
licences issued by the French Gaming 
Commission (ARJEL) covering sports 
betting, horse betting and poker. 

The criminal case against Unibet’s 
former CEO is still pending, as well 
as some cases related to intellectual 
property rights and sports. 
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Shares and Share Capital

Shareholding 
Information
Unibet Group plc’s issued share 
capital as at 31 December 2013 
comprised 28,283,122 ordinary 
shares each with a par value of 
GBP 0.005. All ordinary shares carry 
equal voting rights and rights to 
share in the assets and profits of 
the Group.

Listing of Swedish Depositary 
Receipts
Unibet Group plc is listed on NASDAQ 
OMX Stockholm through Swedish 
Depositary Receipts (SDRs) issued 
by Skandinaviska Enskilda Banken AB 
(publ). One SDR represents one ordinary 
share. On 8 June 2004, the SDRs were 
listed on the O-list of the Stockholm Stock 
Exchange (Stockholmsbörsen). From 
2 October 2006, the SDRs have been 
listed on the MidCap part of the Nordic 
List at the NASDAQ OMX Stockholm.

The trading symbol is UNIB SDB and 
the ISIN code is SE0001 835588. 
Unibet has a liquidity guarantee 
agreement with Carnegie Bank AB. 

Share price performance
Unibet’s SDRs ended the year at SEK 
310.50 having started the year at SEK 
207.50. The highest price was SEK 320 
and the lowest price during the year 
was SEK 206.50. As at 31 December 
2013, Unibet Group plc had a market 
capitalisation of approximately SEK 
8.8 billion (GBP 823 million).

Trading volumes
In 2013, there were 71,610 trades in  
Unibet, representing a total value of  
SEK 4.1 billion.

Dividend policy
For details of the Dividend policy please 
refer to the Directors´ Report on page 38.

Dividend for 2013
The Board of Directors has recommended 
a dividend of GBP 1.100 (2012: 0.700) per 
share/SDR, which is approximately SEK 
11.70 (2012: 7.11) with the exchange rate 
10.64 GBP/SEK at 10 February 2014, to 
be paid to holders of ordinary shares and 
SDRs. If approved at the Annual General 
Meeting (AGM) the dividend will be paid 
on 28 May 2014 and amounts to a total 
of GBP 30.8 (2012: 19.6) million, which is 
approximately 75 per cent of the Group’s 
free cash flow for 2013. The Board has 
reviewed the projected cash requirements 
for 2014 and is proposing to increase the 
dividend for this year above 50 per cent 
of free cash flow. This is in line with the 
dividend policy to distribute surplus cash.

No dividend will be paid on the shares/
SDRs held by the Company following the 
share buy back programme (2012: nil).

Share buy back programme
At the AGMs from 2007 to 2013 the 
shareholders approved a share buy back 
programme authorising the Board to 
acquire GBP 0.005 ordinary shares/
SDRs in the Company. The maximum 
number of shares/SDRs that can be 
acquired under the 2013 approval was 
2,827,626 in line with the conditions laid 
out for the share buyback programme 
that it must not exceed 10 per cent of 
the total number of shares issued by 
the Company at the time of approval. 
Under this approval, 297,900 shares/
SDRs were acquired by the Company 
during 2007 and 387,717 were 
acquired during 2011. There was no 
share buy back programme during 
2013. In 2013, 96,635 of the shares/
SDRs held by the Company were sold 

in connection with the Company’s 
share option programmes (2012: 
233,125). The number of outstanding 
shares at 31 December 2013 was 
28,283,122, of which 246,832 are held 
by the Company, representing 0.9 per 
cent of the total number of shares.

The Board can either cancel the 
shares (requiring further shareholder 
approval), use as consideration for 
acquisitions, or issue to employees 
under a share option programme. 

Share ownership data
On 28 February 2014, Unibet Group 
had 5,238 holders of SDRs. 

On 28 February 2014 the Group’s 
14 largest owners represented 65.7 
per cent of the capital and votes, 
as shown on the next page.

Dialogue with capital markets
Unibet’s Investor Relations policy 
focuses on conducting a dialogue with 
representatives from the capital markets, 
aimed at increasing interest in Unibet’s 
shares/SDRs among existing and 
potential investors by providing relevant, 
up-to-date and timely information.

Investors are provided with clear 
information about the Group’s activities 
with the aim of increasing shareholder 
value. Unibet strives to ensure good 
access to such information for capital 
markets, notably through presentations 
in Stockholm and London and through 
road shows in other European countries, 
as well as Australia and the USA.

On Unibet’s corporate website,  
www.unibetgroupplc.com, investors 
can find up-to-date information about 
the Group’s financial performance, 
stock market data, a financial calendar 
and Company information.

Share capital development
The development of the Company’s share capital since the Group’s reorganisation carried out on 1 November 2006 is shown in the 
following table:

Transaction Year Issue price
Change in number 

ordinary shares
Total number 

ordinary shares
Par value per share 

GBP
Increase in share 

capital GBP
Share capital 

GBP

Issued in Group reorganisation 2006 – 21,841,092 28,241,092 0.005 109,205.46 141,205.46

Exercise of share options 2009 12.16 16,946 28,258,038 0.005 84.73 141,290.19

Exercise of share options 2012 13.99 10,000 28,268,038 0.005 50.00 141,340.19

Exercise of share options 2012 14.59 750 28,268,788 0.005 3.75 141,343.94

Exercise of share options 2012 14.05 478 28,269,266 0.005 2.39 141,346.33

Exercise of share options 2012 13.99 7,000 28,276,266 0.005 35.00 141,381.33

Exercise of share options 2013 12.72 6,856 28,283,122 0.005 34.28 141,415.61
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Analysis of shareholdings at 28 February 2014
Source: Euroclear Sweden.

Shareholder
Number of 

shares/SDRs

Share of 
share capital/

votes %
Accumulated 

%

Anders Ström through company 2,850,000 10.1 10.1

Nordea Fonder 2,391,836 8.5 18.5

Swedbank Robur Fonder 2,179,393 7.7 26.2

Catella Fondförvaltning 2,048,355 7.2 33.5

Handelsbanken Fonder 1,709,613 6.0 39.5

Skandia Liv 1,287,461 4.6 44.1

Lannebo Fonder 1,207,767 4.3 48.3

SEB Fonder 1,022,158 3.6 52.0

Columbia Acorn 977,583 3.5 55.4

Andra AP-fonden 960,368 3.4 58.8

Länsförsäkringar fondförvaltning 738,987 2.6 61.4

Peter Lindell through company 500,000 1.8 63.2

Fjärde AP-fonden 486,970 1.7 64.9

Unibet Group plc1 246,832 0.9 65.8

Tredje AP-fonden 216,859 0.8 66.6

Others 9,458,940 33.4 100.0

Total 28,283,122 100.0  

1 As a result of the share buy back programmes.

Unibet arranges the following capital market activities:

•	 Quarterly meetings, webcasts and teleconferences for analysts, investors and financial media.
•	 Participation in industry seminars and conferences.
•	 Webcasts available after each quarterly presentation.

Ownership distribution at 28 February 2014
Source: Euroclear Sweden.

Holding
Number of 

shareholders

Number of 
shares/

SDRs

Share 
capital/

 votes %

1–500 4,436 545,330 2

501–1,000 332 265,522 1

1,001–10,000 327 1,106,633 4

10,001–250,000 117 7,050,666 25

250,001– 26 19,314,971 68

Total 5,238 28,283,122 100

Ownership structure at 28 February 2014
Source: Euroclear Sweden.

Organisation type/name
Percentage 

%

Swedish financial institutions 39

Other Swedish financial entities 6

Other Swedish legal entities 6

Non-Swedish owners 45

Swedish naturalised persons 4

Total 100

Eight-year summary 2013 2012 2011 2010 2009 2008 2007 2006

Equity per share GBP 7.046 6.329 6.301 5.018 4.343 3.565 3.384 3.290

Equity per share after full dilution GBP 6.904 6.282 5.625 5.016 4.333 3.565 3.376 3.248

EBITDA per share GBP 2.267 1.882 1.718 1.561 1.498 1.657 0.922 1.125

Earnings per share GBP 1.434 1.132 1.270 1.154 0.957 0.314 0.665 1.344

Earnings per share after full dilution GBP 1.415 1.128 1.270 1.153 0.956 0.312 0.659 1.342

Net cash per share GBP 0.783 0.578 0.506 0.400 0.406 0.994 1.047 0.458

Cash flow per share GBP 0.18 0.32 0.17 0.03 -0.43 -0.41 0.59 0.50

Dividend per share SEK 11.701 7.11 6.09 4.48 7.68 2.75 6.00 5.50

Return on total average equity % 24 21 26 26 29.3 37.2 10.9 31.0

Equity:assets ratio % 68 64 68 65 58 45 45.1 70.8

Number of shares at year end 28,283,122 28,276,266 28,258,038 28,258,038 28,258,038 28,241,092 28,241,092 28,241,092

Fully diluted number of shares at year end 28,865,510 28,488,442 28,292,637 28,268,771 28,322,407 28,241,092 28,308,080 28,612,088

Average number of shares 27,959,892 27,897,651 27,920,660 28,062,245 27,955,464 27,946,192 28,096,472 28,197,870

Average number of fully diluted shares 28,330,762 28,013,581 27,920,660 28,088,435 27,989,238 28,091,206 28,355,999 28,236,388

1 Proposed.
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Board of Directors

Unibet’s Board is 
comprised of 
Swedish, UK and 
American citizens

The principal tasks of the Nomination 
Committee are to propose decisions to 
the shareholders’ meeting on election 
and remuneration issues and procedural 
issues for the appointment of the following 
year’s Nomination Committee.

Regardless of how they are appointed, 
members of the Nomination Committee 
are to promote the interests of all 
shareholders. Members are not 
to reveal the content and details 
of nominations discussions.

Unibet Group plc is incorporated 
and registered in Malta but listed 
on NASDAQ OMX Stockholm and 
therefore has decided to apply the 
principles of the Swedish Corporate 
Governance Code. This Code states 
that a majority of the members of 
the Board are to be independent of 
the Company and its management. 
Unibet’s Board of Directors is composed 
entirely of Non-executive Directors, of 
which the majority are independent.

The Audit Committee advises and 
makes recommendations to the Board 
on matters including financial reporting, 
internal controls, risk management, 
and the appointment of auditors. 
The role of the Committee is set out 
in its written terms of reference. 

Corporate Governance Model Unibet’s Board Structure

The Remuneration Committee 
considers and evaluates remuneration 
arrangements for senior managers 
and other key employees and makes 
recommendations to the Board.

The Chief Executive Officer and 
Executive Committee co-ordinate 
Unibet’s operations through two 
principal bodies, the Enterprise Priority 
Council (EPC) and the Strategy Review 
Group. The EPC usually meets monthly 
and brings together stakeholders 
from across the Group’s operations 
and offices to ensure alignment of 
priorities and allocation of resources 
on operational projects in line with the 
strategy set by the Board. The EPC 
consists of 11 Senior Officers, of which 
four are women. The Strategy Review 
Group meets twice a year to review the 
progress of cross-functional strategic 
projects against targets set by the Board.

The Company’s statutory auditor 
is appointed by the shareholders’ 
meeting to examine the Company’s 
annual accounts and accounting 
practices. The Auditors present their 
annual audit report to the owners 
at the Annual General Meeting.

Anders Ström Nigel Cooper Peter Boggs

Shareholders’ 
Meeting

Board of 
Directors

Nomination 
Committee

Audit
 Committee

Remuneration
 Committee

Independent 
Auditors

Owners

Chief Executive
Officer

board committee structure

Kristofer Arwin Stefan Lundborg

The Unibet Board of Directors 
is comprised of an experienced 
team, committed to high standards 
of corporate governance in its 
management of the Group and in 
its accountability to shareholders.

Unibet has three decision-making 
bodies in a hierarchical relationship 
to one another: the shareholders’ 
meeting, the Board of Directors 
and the Chief Executive Officer.

The shareholders’ meeting is the 
Company’s highest decision-making 
body and a forum for shareholders to 
exercise influence. The shareholders’ 
meeting can decide on any Company 
issue which does not expressly fall within 
the exclusive competence of another 
corporate body. In other words, the 
shareholders’ meeting has a sovereign 
role over the Board of Directors 
and the Chief Executive Officer.



33 — Unibet Group plc Annual Report and Accounts 2013
B

u
s

in
e

s
s

 R
e

P
O

R
T

G
O

V
e

R
n

A
n

C
e

F
in

A
n

C
iA

L s
TA

Te
M

e
n

Ts

For more information, please visit: 
www.unibetgroupplc.com

The below-mentioned holdings 
include personal holdings, 
family holdings and holdings 
through companies in which 
they have an interest, and are 
as at 28 February 2014.

Anders Ström 
Chairman of the Board, Chairman 
of the Nomination Committee
Swedish citizen. Born 1970. Board 
member since incorporation. After studying 
Mathematics, Statistics and Economics at 
Karlstad University he founded sports 
information company Trav- och Sport-
tjänsten in 1993. Founder of Unibet Group 
plc in 1997. He has held various positions 
in Unibet, as Managing Director, CEO, 
Business Development Director, Chairman 
and Director. Partner and member of 
Advisory Board in Hattrick 2008–2012 
with focus on Business Development of 
www.hattrick.org and www.popmundo.com. 
Co-founder of Kambi Sports Solutions in 
2010. Chairman of the Advisory Board in 
Kambi 2010. Other significant board 
assignments: Whitelines AB, Am 
Bloodstock AB and Anders Ström 
Investeringsaktiebolag. 

Holding
2,850,000 Unibet SDRs (through company)

Kristofer Arwin 
Board member, member of the 
Audit Committee
Swedish citizen. Born in 1970. Board 
member since 2008. BSc. in Business 
Administration and Economics from 
Stockholm University. Mr Arwin is co-
founder of TestFreaks, an online reviews 
solutions business, where he served as CEO 
between 2006–2013. Today Mr Arwin is 
Chairman of TestFreaks. Mr Arwin is also 
the founder of price comparison business, 
Pricerunner, where Mr Arwin served as CEO 
between 1999–2005. In 2004 he sold 
Pricerunner to NASDAQ listed company 
ValueClick. Mr Arwin is a board member 
of listed company Addnode Group and 
Alertsec AB.

Holding
500 Unibet SDRs 

Peter Boggs
Board member, member of the  
Remuneration Committee
US citizen. Born 1948. Board member 
since 2002. B.A. in American Studies 
from Washington College, Maryland, USA. 
Previous engagements include: 1975–
1981: President and COO of NDMS Inc., 
a US political lobbying and fundraising 
company; 1981–1985: Managing Director 
of Brown Direct, Division of Earle Palmer 
Brown Inc., a US advertising agency; 
1985–1991: Director of Ogilvy & Mather 
Direct Plc, London; 1991–2002: President 
and COO of Grey Direct Worldwide, a 
division of Grey Worldwide Inc., NewYork.

Holding
13,100 Unibet SDRs

Nigel Cooper 
Deputy Chairman of the Board, 
Chairman of the Audit Committee
British citizen. Born 1949. Board member 
since 2010. Fellow of the Institute of 
Chartered Accountants in England and 
Wales. Mr. Cooper was 33 years in the 
accounting profession, 21 years as a partner 
with KPMG in Milan and London, specialising 
in advertising, media and technology clients. 
After leaving KPMG in September 2005 
Nigel joined the Internet property portal 
Rightmove Plc, prior to the floatation of 
the company on the LSE in 2006, as 
Non-executive director and Chairman of 
the Audit Committee. In May 2008, he was 
appointed to the board of Metro International, 
the Swedish free newspaper group, quoted 
on NASDAQ OMX Nordic exchange, as 
Independent Non-executive director and 
chairman of the Audit Committee. He left 
the board of Rightmove in March 2009. 
Following the company being taken private, 
he left the board of Metro in January 2012. 

Nigel was appointed as Independent 
Non-executive director to the board of 
Parmalat Spa in June 2011 and to the 
board of Impregilo in May 2012, both 
companies listed on the Italian stock 
exchange. Following takeovers of the 
Boards of the companies Nigel left both 
companies during 2012. 

Holding
4,000 Unibet SDRs

Peter Lindell 
Board member
Swedish citizen. Born 1954. Board 
member since 2003. M.Sc. in Industrial 
Engineering and Management from the 
Linköping Institute of Technology, Sweden. 
Partner and Chairman of the Board at 
Rite Venture. Other significant board 
assignments: Acervo AB, Allt för Föräldrar 
AB, Packetfront Software Solutions AB, 
Storevision AB and Verkkokauppa.com 
Oy. Some of the previous engagements 
include Djurgården Fotboll AB, Accelerator 
AB, Nordic Edge AB, Springtime AB, 
Syntetich MR AB, Add-Bio AB, Nebula 
Oy and Swedish Private Equity & Venture 
Capital Association. 

Holding
500,000 Unibet SDRs (through company)

Stefan Lundborg 
Board member, Chairman of the  
Remuneration Committee
Swedish citizen. Born in 1965. Board 
member since 2010. Mr. Lundborg has a 
background in private banking, business 
development and entrepreneurial companies 
and has been Managing Director of 
Stockholm’s Travsällskap with a wide 
experience of international gaming.

Holding
27,000 Unibet SDRs

Henrik Tjärnström 
CEO
Swedish citizen. Born 1970. M.Sc. in 
Industrial Engineering and Management 
from the Institute of Technology, Linköping 
University, Sweden. Senior Financial 
Manager at Skanska Infrastructure 
Development AB 2001–2008. Member 
of the Unibet Board of Directors 2003–
2008. CFO of Unibet 2008–2010.

Holding
49,176 Unibet SDRs,
187,224 share options and
4,649 performance share rights.
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considers Kristofer Arwin, Peter Boggs, 
Nigel Cooper, Peter Lindell and Stefan 
Lundborg to be independent Non-
executive Directors. Anders Ström is 
Chairman of the Board and also fulfilled 
extra responsibilities as Chairman of 
Kambi Advisory Committee during 2013.

Brief resumés of the Board 
and Chief Executive Officer 
can be found on page 33.

To ensure effectiveness, the 
Board’s composition brings together 
a balance of skills and experience 
appropriate to the requirements of 
the business. The composition of the 
Board and recommendations for the 
appointment of Directors are dealt with 
by the Nomination Committee and its 
activities are set out on page 36.

The Board is responsible to the 
shareholders for the Group’s 
overall strategy and direction. 

A formal schedule sets out those 
matters specifically reserved for the 
Board and its Committees. Those 
matters include decisions on Group 
strategy and direction, acquisitions, 
disposals and joint ventures, capital 
structure, material contracts, corporate 
governance and Group policies.

The Board and its Committees 
usually meet every second 
month throughout the year. 
The number of Board and Committee 
meetings attended by each of the 
Directors during the year can be seen 
in the table on the following page.

The Board has a standard agenda, 
including receiving and considering 
reports from the Chief Executive Officer 
(CEO) and the Chief Financial Officer 
(CFO) and from the Audit, Nomination 
and Remuneration Committees. Where 
appropriate, matters are delegated to 
the Audit, Nomination and Remuneration 
Committees, and reports on their 
activities are included within this 
corporate governance statement.

Unibet Group plc is the Parent 
Company of the Unibet Group, 
incorporated and registered in 
Malta and listed on NASDAQ 
OMX Stockholm through Swedish 
Depositary Receipts, SDRs, issued 
by Skandinaviska Enskilda Banken 
AB (publ). 

Foreign companies whose shares or 
depositary receipts are admitted to 
trading on a regulated market in Sweden 
are required to apply either the Swedish 
Code, or the corporate governance 
code in force in the country where the 
company has its registered office, or 
the code of the country in which its 
shares have their primary listing. 

If the Company does not apply the 
Swedish Code, it must include a 
statement describing in which important 
aspects the Company’s conduct 
deviates from the Swedish Code.

The Board of Directors of Unibet 
Group plc decided from the first 
listing date at the NASDAQ OMX 
Stockholm, as far as practical, to apply 
the principles of the Swedish Code. 

The following statement on pages 
34 to 37 has not been audited.

The Board of Directors 
The Board of Directors and the 
Management of Unibet are structured in 
accordance with the European two-tier 
system with a Chief Executive Officer 
(CEO), who is subordinate to the Board 
of Directors, who are in turn elected at 
the Annual General Meeting (AGM). 

The following Directors elected at 
the AGM on 14 May 2013 served 
during the year and subsequently, 
unless otherwise stated:

Anders Ström 
Chairman

Nigel Cooper 
Non-executive Deputy Chairman

Kristofer Arwin 
Non-executive

Peter Boggs 
Non-executive

Peter Lindell 
Non-executive

Stefan Lundborg 
Non-executive

All Directors will seek re-election 
at the forthcoming AGM. The 
emoluments and interests of the 
Directors are shown on page 41.

The Board of Directors of Unibet 
Group plc is collectively responsible 
for the success of the Group and for 
its corporate governance and aims to 
provide entrepreneurial leadership of the 
Group within a framework of prudent and 
effective financial controls that enable 
risk to be assessed and managed.

As outlined on pages 32 to 33 the 
Board comprises the Chairman and five 
Directors, of which all are independent 
Non-executive Directors. The Swedish 
Code identifies the fundamental 
importance of independent Non-
executive Directors in ensuring the 
objective balance of a Board, and 
sets out criteria to be considered in 
determining the independence of Non-
executive Directors. In accordance with 
Provision 4.4 of the Code, the Board 
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For more information, please visit: 
www.unibetgroupplc.com

The working procedures 
of the Board of Directors
The Board of Directors has adopted 
written instructions for the CEO. The 
roles of the Chairman and the CEO have 
been established in writing to ensure 
the clear division of responsibilities and 
this has been agreed by the Board. At 
least once a year the Board of Directors 
will review the strategy and visit the 
Group’s different office locations. The 
Board has a short meeting without the 
CEO or CFO at each Board meeting.

The Chairman, supported by the 
Deputy Chairman, is responsible for: 
the leadership of the Board; setting 
its agenda and taking full account 
of the issues and concerns of all 
Board members; ensuring effective 
communication with shareholders; 
taking the lead on Director induction 
and development; encouraging 
active engagement by all Directors; 
and ensuring that the performance 
of individuals and of the Board as 
a whole, and its Committees, is 
evaluated at least once a year.

The Chairman ensures that the Board 
is supplied with accurate, timely 
and clear information. Directors 
are encouraged to update their 
knowledge and familiarity with the 
Group through meetings with Senior 
Management. There is an induction 
process for Non-executive Directors. 

The Company Secretary is also 
responsible for advising the Board, 
through the Chairman, on all corporate 
governance matters. Directors 
are encouraged to seek independent 
or specialist advice or training at the 
Group’s expense where this will add 
to their understanding of the Group 
in the furtherance of their duties.

In accordance with Provision 8.1 
of the Code, the Board has a 
process to formally evaluate its 
own performance and that of its 
Committees. The performance of 
the Board and its Committees is the 
subject of Board discussion, led by the 
Chairman, to consider effectiveness 
against performance criteria and 
potential risks to performance. The 
performance evaluations of the Board 
have been structured in such a way 
as to ensure a balanced and objective 
review of Directors’ performance. 

Following these performance reviews, 
the Chairman is responsible for 
ensuring that the appropriate actions 
are taken. Evaluations are provided 
to the Nomination Committee and 
have helped in identifying Board 
performance objectives, as well as 
individual actions such as training.

Remuneration and Directors and 
Officers’ Liability insurance
The Annual General Meeting establishes 
the principles and the maximum amount 
of the Directors’ fees. A Director can, 
during a short period of time, supply 
consultancy services, but only if this 
is more cost-effective and better than 
any external alternative. Any such 
consultancy fee is disclosed on page 
41 in the Annual Report. None of 
the Directors hold share options issued 
by the Company. Unibet has taken 
out Directors and Officers’ Liability 
insurance covering the risk of personal 
liability for their services to the Group. 
Cover is in place for an indemnity 
level of GBP 2 million in aggregate.

Board

Audit 

Committee

Nomination 

Committee

Remuneration 

Committee

Number of meetings held 4 5 8 4

Name

Kristofer Arwin 4 5 – –

Peter Boggs 4 – – 2

Nigel Cooper 4 5 – –

Peter Lindell 4 – – 2 

Stefan Lundborg 4 – – 4

Anders Ström, Chairman 4 – 8 –
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The Board remains satisfied that 
the Group’s systems of internal 
control and risk management, 
together with the work of the CFO, 
the General Counsel and the Risk 
Officer and the Kambi COO, is 
effective in monitoring, controlling 
and reporting the Group’s risks. 

Nomination Committee report
The main responsibilities for the 
Nomination Committee are to review 
the structure, size and composition of 
the Board. The Nomination Committee 
is responsible for identifying and 
nominating candidates to fill Board 
vacancies as and when they arise. 
The Nomination Committee has written 
Terms of Reference to lead the process 
for Board appointments and make 
recommendations to the AGM thereon. 

The Nomination Committee met 
eight times for the 2014 AGM. At the 
AGM on 14 May 2013, it was decided 
that the Nomination Committee for 
the AGM 2014 shall consist of not 
less than four and not more than 
five members, of which one should 
be the Chairman of the Board. 

The Nomination Committee for the 
2014 AGM consists of Anders Ström, 
Chairman; Evert Carlsson, Swedbank 
Robur Fonder; Frank Larsson, 
Handelsbanken Fonder; and Bengt 
Belfrage, Nordea Fonder. Anders 
Ström is also Chairman of the Board.

Remuneration Committee report
A report on Directors’ remuneration 
and the activities of the Remuneration 
Committee is set out on pages 40  
to 41.

Audit Committee report
The Audit Committee advises and 
makes recommendations to the Board 
on matters including financial reporting, 
internal controls, risk management, 
and the appointment of auditors. The 
role of the Committee is set out in 
its written terms of reference.

The Committee, which met five 
times during the year to review the 
interim reports etc, comprises two 
independent Non-executive Directors: 
Kristofer Arwin and Nigel Cooper. 
The Committee is chaired by Nigel 
Cooper, a senior finance professional 
who has extensive accounting and 
financial management expertise. 
Where appropriate, the Committee 
consulted with the Chairman of the 
Board, the Chief Executive Officer 
(CEO) and the Chief Financial 
Officer (CFO) regarding their 
proposals. The external auditors 
also attended all of the meetings. 

Responsibilities include monitoring 
the integrity of the financial 
statements of the Group and any 
formal announcements relating to the 
Group’s financial performance. The 
Committee has reviewed the Group’s 
financial statements and formal 
announcements relating to the Group’s 
financial performance before their 
presentation to the Board. In doing 
so, it considered accounting policies, 
areas of judgement or estimation, 
and reporting requirements, as well 
as matters brought to its attention 
by the external auditors. Formal risk 
management reports were presented 
twice to the Board during the year by the 
Group Risk Officer and at all meetings 
of the Audit Committee during the year.

The Committee is also responsible 
for reviewing the Group’s systems of 
internal control and risk management, 
and determines the scope of work 
undertaken by the CFO, the General 
Counsel, the Group Risk Officer and 
the Chief Operating Officer of Kambi 
(Kambi COO). It receives reports 
from the CFO, with whom the results 
are discussed on a regular basis. 
The Group Risk Officer reports to 
the Audit Committee as required.

The Internal Audit function is managed 
by the Group Risk Officer and reports 
to the Audit Committee. The Audit 
Committee agrees the scope of 
work of Internal Audit in advance and 
receives reports on completed projects. 

Management is then responsible for 
taking actions on conclusions and 
recommendations from Internal Audit.

The Committee remains satisfied 
that the controls in place, and the 
review process overseen by the 
CFO, the Group Risk Officer and 
the Kambi COO, are effective in 
monitoring the established systems. 

The Committee is responsible for 
making recommendations to the 
Board in relation to the appointment 
of external auditors. It is responsible 
for monitoring the independence and 
objectivity of the external auditors, and 
for agreeing the level of remuneration 
and the extent of non-audit services. 

During the year, PwC Malta and PwC 
London, reported to the Committee 
on their audit strategy and the scope 
of audit work. The Committee has 
reviewed the performance of PwC 
and the level of non-audit fees paid 
to PwC during the year. These are 
disclosed in Note 4 on page 60. 
The provision of non-audit services, 
except tax compliance and routine 
taxation advice, must be referred to 
the Committee where it is likely to 
exceed a pre-determined threshold 
of GBP 50,000. Any work that falls 
below that threshold must be pre-
approved by the CFO. By monitoring 
and restricting both the nature and 
quantum of non-audit services 
provided by the external auditors, 
the Committee seeks to safeguard 
auditor objectivity and independence. 

The Committee is also responsible 
for ensuring that an effective whistle-
blowing procedure is in place.
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For more information, please visit: 
www.unibetgroupplc.com

Communication with investors
In the interests of developing a mutual 
understanding of objectives, the Investor 
Relations manager has met regularly 
with institutional investors to discuss the 
publicly disclosed performance of the 
Group and its future strategy. Institutional 
investors have also been able to meet 
the CEO, the CFO, line managers and 
other key persons of the Group.

The Board is kept informed of shareholder 
views and correspondence. Corporate 
and financial presentations are regularly 
made to fund managers, stockbrokers 
and the media, particularly at the 
announcement of interim and year end 
results. Links to webcast presentations 
are published on the Group’s website. 
All shareholders are invited to attend the 
AGM, where they have the opportunity 
to put questions to the Directors, including 
the Chairmen of Board Committees.

At the AGM, separate resolutions 
are proposed for each substantially 
different issue to enable all of them to 
receive proper and due consideration. 
Notice of the AGM and related papers 
are posted on the Group’s website 
between four and six weeks in advance 
of the meeting. Further information on 
the activities of the Group and other 
shareholder information is available via 
the Unibet Group’s corporate website,  
www.unibetgroupplc.com.

The Board of Directors’ report 
on internal control over financial 
reporting for the financial year 2013

Introduction
According to the Maltese Companies 
Act and the Swedish Code of Corporate 
Governance, the Board is responsible 
for internal control. This report has been 
prepared according to the Swedish 
Code of Corporate Governance 
Provisions 7.4 and is accordingly 
limited to internal control over financial 
reporting. This report, which has not 
been reviewed by the auditors, is not 
part of the formal financial statements.

Description
a. Control environment
The Directors have ultimate responsibility 
for the system of internal control and 
for reviewing its effectiveness. The 
system of internal control is designed to 

manage, rather than eliminate the risk 
of failure to achieve business objectives. 
In pursuing these objectives, internal 
control can only provide reasonable, 
and not absolute, assurance against 
material misstatement or loss. 

b. Risk assessment
The Executive management group is 
responsible for reviewing risks, and for 
identifying, evaluating and managing 
the significant risks applicable to 
their respective areas of business. 
Risks are reviewed and assessed on 
a regular basis by the CEO, the CFO, 
the General Counsel, the Group Risk 
Officer, the Audit Committee and the 
Board. The effectiveness of controls 
is considered in conjunction with the 
range of risks and their significance 
to the operating circumstances 
of individual areas of the business.

c. Control activities
The Board is responsible for all aspects 
of the Group’s control activities.

The Audit Committee assists the Board in 
its review of the effectiveness of internal 
controls and is responsible for setting 
the strategy for the internal control 
review. In doing so, it takes account 
of the organisational framework and 
reporting mechanisms embedded within 
the Group, and the work of the General 
Counsel, and the Group Risk Officer.

Working throughout the Group, the role 
of the General Counsel and the Group 
Risk Officer is to identify, monitor, and 
report to the Board on the significant 
financial and operating risks faced by the 
Group to provide assurance that Unibet 
meets the highest standards of corporate 
governance expected by its stakeholders.

d. Information and communication
The Board receives regular formal 
reports from Executive management 
concerning the performance of the 
business, including explanations for 
material variations from expected 
performance and assessments of 
changes in the risk profile of the 
business that have implications for 
the system of internal control. In 
particular the Board receives direct 
periodic reports from the General 
Counsel and the Group Risk Officer.

The Board also takes account of 
the advice of the Audit Committee, 
reports received from the external 
auditors, and any other related 
factors which come to its attention. 

e. Monitoring
Further information concerning the 
activities of the Audit Committee 
in relation to the monitoring of 
Unibet’s internal controls, including 
the implementation of a special 
internal audit function and review 
of the financial reports published 
quarterly, is contained in the Audit 
Committee report on page 36. 

On behalf of the Board 
Malta, 14 March 2014

Anders Ström 
Chairman and Director

Nigel Cooper
Director

Statement of Compliance with the 
Swedish Code of Corporate 
Governance
Unibet does not comply with Provision 2.4 
of the Code since Anders Ström is both 
Chairman of the Board of Directors and 
Chairman of the Nomination Committee. 
However, this procedure to nominate 
the Nomination Committee was decided 
by shareholders at the 2013 AGM. 

Unibet does not comply with 
Provision 7.3 of the Code, which 
requires the Audit Committee to 
have at least three members. Unibet 
considers that the Audit Committee 
as presently constituted is effective 
in meeting the requirements of the 
EU’s 8th Company Law Directive.

No separate auditors’ report on the 
corporate governance is required 
under the Maltese regulations since 
the Corporate Governance statement 
is being voluntarily prepared in line 
with principles of the Swedish Code.

With the exception of the matters noted 
above, the Directors believe that they 
are in compliance with the Swedish 
Code of Corporate Governance.
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the projected cash requirements for 
2014 and is proposing to increase the 
dividend this year above 50 per cent of 
free cash flow. This is in line with the 
dividend policy to distribute surplus cash.

No dividend is paid on the shares/
SDRs held by the Company following 
the share buy back programme.

Business review
A detailed Financial Review is set out on  
pages 42 to 45. 

Details of Key Performance Indicators 
are set out on pages 12 and 13. 

For further information on risk 
management, refer to pages 14 to 17  
and Notes 2C and 2D on pages 55 to 56.

Significant events during 2013
On 16 January 2013, Kambi signed an 
agreement to deliver a fully managed 
online and mobile Sportsbook to Suertia 
Interactiva S.A. for the Spanish market.

On 19 March 2013, Unibet signed an 
agreement to acquire 100 per cent 
of Social Gambling (Channel Islands) 
Ltd, the principal asset of which is an 
investment in Bonza Gaming, one of the 
first developers to launch real money 
gaming on the Facebook Platform. The 
acquisition was finalised on 10 April 2013.

On 20 May 2013, Kambi signed an 
agreement to deliver a fully managed 
online and mobile Sportsbook to 888 
Holdings under the 888sport.com brand.

On 5 July 2013, Unibet launched in 
Estonia with a local licence on unibet.
ee and mariacasino.ee. The full product 
range is available on desktop and mobile 
platforms for the Estonian customers.

On 7 October 2013, the Carbon 
Disclosure Project (CDP) released 
its 2013 Climate Change Report that 
scored the largest 260 companies 
listed on the Nordic exchanges based 
on their responses to CDP’s information 
request. Unibet Group plc was awarded 
a disclosure and performance rating 
of 76 D. This above average disclosure 
score is a significant achievement in only 
the Group’s second year of participation 
and reflects its ongoing commitment 
to corporate social responsibility.

The Directors present their 
Annual Report on the affairs of the 
Group, together with the audited 
consolidated financial statements 
and auditors’ report, for the year 
ended 31 December 2013.

Principal activities
Unibet is an online gaming business, 
with over 8.6 million registered customers 
worldwide as at 31 December 2013, 
and is one of the largest independent 
publicly-quoted online gaming 
operators in the European market.

Unibet is one of Europe’s leading 
companies in Moneytainment, operating 
in 22 different languages in more than 
100 countries. Unibet offers pre-game 
sports betting, live betting, poker, casino 
and games on unibet.com, unibet.it and 
unibet.dk and pre-game sports betting, 
live betting, French horse racing and 
poker on unibet.fr. On unibet.be and 
unibet.ee pre-game sports betting, live 
betting, poker and casino is offered and 
on unibet.com.au sports betting and 
racing is offered to the Australian market. 

While Unibet’s core markets are in 
Europe and Australia, it addresses 
global markets excluding only the 
territories that Unibet has consistently 
blocked for legal reasons such as the 
USA, Turkey and similar markets.

Through the Maria brand, Unibet offers 
bingo, lotteries, poker, casino and games 
on maria.com and mariacasino.ee and 
casino and poker on mariacasino.dk. 
Maria.com is the female focused brand 
in the Unibet family. In addition to the 
site Maria.com this business segment 
also drives a white label network with 
several bingo and casino brands, such 
as Bingo.se, Bingo.com, VioletCasino.
com and AmorBingo.com. While bingo, 
casino and games drive acquisition 
numbers and new customers, casino and 
games are the main source of revenue, 
representing approximately 70 per cent 
of Maria gross winning revenues. 

Unibet also offers Sportsbook 
B2B services through Kambi 
Sports Solutions, kambi.com.

The internet, accessed via mobile, tablet 
or desktop, is the main distribution 
channel for Unibet’s products, and bets 
can be placed via Unibet’s dot.com and 

dot.country websites, mobile apps and 
other wireless devices.

On average, the Unibet Group handles 
over 9.2 million transactions every 
day (including sportsbets, casino and 
games) and has around 30,000 betting 
opportunities on major international 
and local sporting events every day. 

The principal subsidiaries and 
associated undertakings which affect 
the results and net assets of the Group 
in the year are listed in Note 13 to the 
consolidated financial statements.

Results and dividends
The consolidated income statement is 
set out on page 46 and shows the result 
for the year. The profit after tax was 
GBP 40.1 (2012: GBP 31.6) million.

The Unibet Board of Director’s dividend 
policy is to pay a dividend and/or share 
buy backs of up to 50 per cent of the 
Group’s free cash flow (defined as 
cash flow from operations, adjusted for 
movements in working capital, capital 
investments and tax payments). 

In addition to the dividend described 
above, which would normally be in the 
form of annual cash dividends, the Board 
can also decide to distribute one-off 
dividends or execute share buy backs, 
where management and the Board 
consider that the Company has generated 
surplus cash that it does not require either 
to fund its normal operations, acquisitions 
or other corporate development projects.

When considering both regular and one-
off distributions, the Board will take into 
account the overall cash requirement 
to ensure that an appropriate capital 
cash structure is maintained.

Dividend for 2013
The Board of Directors proposes a 
dividend of GBP 1.100 (2012: 0.700) per 
share/SDR, which is approximately SEK 
11.70 (2012: 7.11) with the exchange 
rate 10.64 GBP/SEK at 10 February 
2014, to be paid to holders of ordinary 
shares and SDRs. If approved at the 
Annual General Meeting (AGM), the 
dividend will be paid on 28 May 2014 and 
amounts to a total of GBP 30.8 (2012: 
GBP 19.6) million, which is approximately 
75 per cent of the Group’s free cash 
flow for 2013. The Board has reviewed 
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On 19 December 2013, a Swedish 
customer won 4.1 million EUR in 
Unibet’s casino game Arabian Nights.

Significant events after the year end
On 3 February 2014, Unibet was 
awarded the prestigious title 
“Online Sportsbook Operator of 
the Year 2014” at the International 
Gaming Awards in London.

Future developments
Although conscious of the potential 
impact of the macroeconomic 
situation in Unibet’s core markets, the 
Directors are confident in the Group’s 
trading and financial prospects for 
the forthcoming financial year.

Directors and their interests
The following Directors elected at the  
AGM on 14 May 2013 served during  
the year and subsequently, unless  
otherwise stated:

Anders Ström Chairman

Kristofer Arwin Non-executive

Peter Boggs Non-executive

Nigel Cooper Non-executive

Peter Lindell Non-executive

Stefan Lundborg Non-executive

Anders Ström, Kristofer Arwin, Peter 
Boggs, Nigel Cooper, Peter Lindell 
and Stefan Lundborg will seek re-
election at the forthcoming AGM. 

The interests of the Directors are shown  
on page 41.

Research and development
The Group capitalises certain expenditure 
when it relates to the development of 
the core IT platform of the business. 
During the year the Group capitalised 
GBP 13.8 (2012: GBP 13.9) million of 
development expenditure, and expensed 
GBP 15.1 (2012: GBP 14.4) million.

Employees
Unibet is committed to equality of 
opportunity in all aspects of employment 
including recruitment, training and benefits 
whatever the gender, marital status, 
gender reassignment status, disability, 
race, national origin, ethnic origin, colour, 
nationality, sexual orientation, religion, 
belief or age of an employee, considering 

only the individual’s aptitudes and abilities 
and the requirements of the job. 

Unibet also complies with all applicable 
national and international laws within 
human and labour rights in the locations 
in which it operates. These include but 
are not limited to minimum age, minimum 
salary, union rights and forced labour 
as well as United Nation’s Universal 
Declaration of Human Rights, the 
International Labour Organisation’s 
Declaration on Fundamental Principles 
and Rights at Work, the Rio Declaration 
on Environment and Development, 
and the United Nations Convention 
Against Corruption and the Universal 
declaration on human rights.

The Group recognises the importance 
of ensuring employees are kept 
informed of the Group’s performance, 
activities and future plans.

A review of the Group’s environmental 
and community activities is included 
in the Corporate Social Responsibility 
section on pages 21 to 25.

Statement of Directors’ 
responsibilities for the financial 
statements
The Directors are required by the 
Malta Companies Act, 1995 to 
prepare financial statements which 
give a true and fair view of the state 
of affairs of the Group as at the 
end of each reporting period and of 
the profit or loss for that period.

In preparing the financial statements, 
the Directors are responsible for:
•	 ensuring that the financial statements 

have been drawn up in accordance 
with International Financial Reporting 
Standards as adopted by the EU; 

•	 selecting and applying appropriate 
accounting policies;

•	 making accounting estimates that are 
reasonable in the circumstances; and

•	 ensuring that the financial statements 
are prepared on the going concern 
basis unless it is inappropriate to 
presume that the Group will continue 
in business as a going concern.

The Directors are also responsible for 
designing, implementing and maintaining 
internal controls as the Directors 
determine it necessary to enable the 

preparation of financial statements that 
are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error, and that 
comply with the Malta Companies 
Act, 1995. They are also responsible 
for safeguarding the assets of the 
Group and hence for taking reasonable 
steps for the prevention and detection 
of fraud and other irregularities.

The consolidated financial statements 
of Unibet Group plc for the year ended 
31 December 2013 are included in the 
Annual Report and Accounts 2013, which 
is published in hard-copy printed form 
and is made available on the Company’s 
website. The Directors are responsible 
for the maintenance and integrity of the 
Annual Report on the website in view of 
their responsibility for the controls over, 
and the security of, the website. Access to 
information published on the Company’s 
website is available in other countries and 
jurisdictions, where legislation governing 
the preparation and dissemination of 
financial statements may differ from 
requirements or practice in Malta.

Disclosure of information to 
the auditors
So far as the Directors are aware, there 
is no relevant audit information (that 
is, information needed by the Group’s 
auditors in connection with preparing their 
report) of which the Group’s auditors are 
unaware, and the Directors have taken 
all the steps that they should take as 
Directors in order to make themselves 
aware of any relevant audit information 
and to establish that the Group’s 
auditors are aware of that information.

Independent auditors
The auditors, PwC Malta and 
PwC London, have indicated their 
willingness to continue in office, 
and a resolution to re-appoint them 
will be proposed at the AGM.

On behalf of the Board 
Malta, 14 March 2014

Anders Ström
Chairman and Director

Nigel Cooper
Director
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Governance

Remuneration Committee report

2013 may generally only be exercised 
if the holder is employed by the Unibet 
Group at the date of exercise. Exceptions 
are made in special circumstances.

Developments 2013 
The introduction of the Unibet 
Performance Share Plan (PSP) was 
approved at the AGM in 2013. This 
replaced the previous Unibet Share 
Option Plan and the first grant was made 
under this Plan in September 2013. 
The PSP performance measures are 
non-market based providing participants 
with a high degree of alignment to 
company performance. PSP awards will 
depend on Unibet achieving financial 
performance targets over three financial 
years establishing a clearer link between 
how Unibet performs and the value that 
the PSP can deliver. These targets are 
Gross Contribution (Gross Winnings 
Revenue Less Cost of Sales less 
Marketing Costs), Free Cash Flow per 
Share and EBITDA and will be measured 
on an aggregate basis between the 
full year 2013 and the full year 2015 
so that performance in each financial 
year will be important. Aggregated 
performance against the targets and the 
resulting allocation of PSP awards will 
be disclosed after the full year 2015.

A Group Personal Pension Plan has 
been established and will be made 
available to UK employees to join 
from January 2014. Implementation 
of such a scheme is required by UK 
law applicable to Unibet for the first 
time in 2014. The pension provider is 
Sterling ISA Managers Limited which 
is part of The Zurich Insurance Group.

Remuneration of the Board 
of Directors
All Board Directors are elected, 
as appropriate, at the AGM and 
the remuneration is recommended 
by the full Board, conditional 
upon approval at the AGM. 

The Group does not operate any form of 
executive retirement benefits or pension 
scheme, and thus no contributions are 
made in respect of any Director. All 
Directors have rolling service contracts 
without notice periods. The auditors 
are required to report on the information 
contained in the following two sections 
of this report on Directors’ Remuneration.

The Remuneration Committee 
considers and evaluates 
remuneration arrangements 
for senior managers and other 
key employees and makes 
recommendations to the Board. 
The purpose is to support the 
strategic aims of the business and 
shareholder interest, by enabling 
the recruitment, motivation and 
retention of key employees, while 
complying with the requirements of 
regulatory and governance bodies. 

The Committee’s report, which is 
unaudited, except where indicated,  
is set out below.

The Committee
The Committee held four meetings 
during 2013. Peter Lindell chaired 
the meetings up until the AGM in May 
2013 and they were also attended by 
Stefan Lundborg who was also on the 
Committee. Following the AGM, Peter 
Lindell left the Committee and was 
replaced as Chair by Stefan Lundborg. 
Peter Boggs joined the Committee 
following the AGM and has participated 
in all subsequent meetings. In addition 
to the above formal meetings, the 
CEO, CFO and Head of HR are co-
opted on an ad hoc basis to provide 
advice and support on remuneration 
related issues. Where required on 
specific projects, the Committee is 
also supported by external advisers.

Remuneration policy
The policy of the Board is to attract, 
retain and motivate the best managers 
by rewarding them with competitive 
compensation packages linked to 
the Group’s financial and strategic 
objectives. The compensation packages 
need to be fair and reasonable in 
comparison with companies of a similar 
size, industry and international scope.
The components of remuneration for 
executive managers comprise base 
salary, benefits, performance-related 
salary and long-term incentives.

The members of the Committee have 
no personal interest in the outcome 
of their decisions and give due regard 
to the interests of shareholders 
and to the continuing financial and 
commercial health of the business.

The remuneration packages 
of Senior Managers
Senior Managers receive base salaries 
based on position, responsibilities, 
performance and skills. The base salary 
is a fixed amount, payable monthly, 
which is reviewed annually in January.

Benefits are based on the 
requirements of the country where 
the manager is employed.

The performance-related salary is 
designed to support key business 
strategies and financial objectives and 
create a strong, performance-orientated 
environment. The performance targets 
are reviewed annually and are based on 
both quantitative and qualitative goals. 
The payout is conditional upon the 
Company achieving set financial targets. 
Thereafter, individual targets are mainly 
linked to financial objectives such as 
gross winnings revenue and EBITDA. 
There is also a part which is based 
on delivery of specific projects and 
business critical processes. Achievement 
of targets is assessed on an annual 
basis. The amount of potential variable 
pay compared to basic salary varies 
depending on position and situation, but 
is in general less than half the amount 
of the basic salary. All variable elements 
have a limit, which means that they 
cannot exceed a predetermined amount. 

Under the standard annual cycle of 
bonuses for the CEO and executive 
management, formal approval and 
payment of bonuses is typically 
completed after the publication of the 
Annual Report. Remuneration reported 
in the table on the page opposite is 
the remuneration paid during 2013.
Participation in long-term incentive 
schemes is based on position 
in the Company, performance 
and country of residence. 

Equity awards were made through 
Option Schemes (up to 2012) and the 
Performance Share Plan from 2013. 
They are granted under the terms of 
the Unibet Performance Share Plan, 
and Equity awards are linked to the 
performance of the Group to further 
align senior management’s interests 
with those of the shareholders. All the 
700,314 share options and the 31,100 
PSP shares outstanding at 31 December 
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For more information, please visit: 
www.unibetgroupplc.com

Total emoluments (audited)
All information concerning emoluments and interests of the Directors is presented on the basis of continuity from the date of their 
appointment to the Board of Directors of the Unibet Group plc. Total emoluments of the Board of Directors and executive 
managers who served during the year are set out below.

The closing price of the Company’s SDRs at 31 December 2013 was SEK 310.50, and it ranged from SEK 206.50 to SEK 320 
during 2013.

Fees/salary 
GBP 000

Other1 
GBP 000

2013 Total 
GBP 000

2012 Total 
GBP 000

Directors

Anders Ström, Chairman 104.3 104.2 208.5 134.6

Kristofer Arwin 58.3 – 58.3 50.0

Peter Boggs 45.3 15.0 60.3 44.1

Nigel Cooper 83.3 – 83.3 82.8

Peter Lindell 42.7 6.2 48.9 47.3

Stefan Lundborg 50.3 27.5 77.8 62.3

384.2 152.9 537.1 421.1

Executive management

Henrik Tjärnström, CEO 641.3  0.5 641.8 592.4

Other Executive management 1,223.6 4.8 1,228.4 1,313.3

Total 2,249.1 158.2 2,407.3 2,326.8

1 Other emoluments comprise additional amounts payable such as consultancy.

Directors’ interests (audited)
The Directors’ and Executive managements’ beneficial interests in the shares/SDRs of Unibet Group plc as at 31 December 2013 
are set out below:

Ordinary  
shares/SDRs at 

31 December 2013

Ordinary  
shares/SDRs at  

31 December 2012

Performance  
Share Rights at  

31 December 2013
Share options at 

31 December 2013
Share options at 

31 December 2012

Directors

Kristofer Arwin 500 500 – – –

Peter Boggs 13,100 13,100 – – –

Nigel Cooper 4,000 3,000 – – –

Peter Lindell 500,000 538,570 – – –

Stefan Lundborg 27,000 17,000 – – –

Anders Ström 2,850,000 2,950,000 – – –

3,394,600 3,522,170 – – –

Executive management

Henrik Tjärnström, CEO 49,176 42,000 4,649 187,224 200,937

Other Executive management 17,650 17,850 6,642 146,078 190,162

Total 3,461,426 3,582,020 11,291 333,302 391,099

Performance graph (unaudited)
Shown on page 31 is a performance graph that compares the Total Shareholder Return (TSR) of Unibet SDRs with the OMX 
Stockholm Price Index, this being the index where Unibet is listed and therefore the most appropriate comparison.

TSR is defined as the return shareholders would receive if they held a notional number of shares and received dividends on those 
shares over a period of time. 

Stefan Lundborg
Chairman
Remuneration Committee
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Profit from operations 
Operating cash flow before movements in working capital

Financial Statements

Financial review

Unibet’s business has grown 
continually over the last four 
financial years. The growth 
has been generated across 
all of Unibet’s geographical 
markets and products. 

Financial statement presentation 
These financial statements have 
been prepared in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS) as adopted by 
the EU and in accordance with the 
Maltese Companies Act 1995.

The accounting policies as adopted 
in the published results for the 
year ended 31 December 2013 
have been consistently applied.

Where relevant, certain additional 
information has been presented 
in compliance with the NASDAQ 
OMX Stockholm requirements. 

Gross winnings revenue
Gross winnings revenue on sports 
betting represents the net receipt of 
stakes and payouts within the Group 
for the financial period excluding Free 
Bets. Free Bets are bonuses granted 
or earned in connection with customer 
acquisition. Total gross winnings 
revenue in 2013 increased to GBP 
234.7 (2012: GBP 197.2) million. Gross 
winnings revenue from sports betting 
amounted to GBP 98.7 (2012: GBP 
84.3) million for the full year 2013. Other 
products (Casino & Games, Poker and 
Bingo) saw gross winnings revenue 
amounting to GBP 136.1 (2012: GBP 
112.8) million for the full year 2013. 

Live betting accounted for 62.9 (2012: 
59.2) per cent of turnover on sports 
betting, excluding Free Bets, in 2013 
and 46.5 (2012: 37.3) per cent of 
gross winnings revenue on sports 
betting, excluding Free Bets, in 2013.
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For more information, please visit: 
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Gross winnings revenue by market 
and business segment
Unibet’s business is organised into 
four main geographical areas: Nordic 
Region, Western Europe, CES (Central, 
Eastern and Southern Europe) and 
Other. For an analysis of gross winnings 
revenue by market and business 
segment, refer to the table above.

Gross margin on sports betting
The gross margin for pre-game sports 
betting before Free Bets in 2013 
was 11.1 (2012: 12.0) per cent. 

The gross margin for total sports 
betting in 2013 before Free Bets was 
7.7 (2012: 7.8) per cent, and excluding 
Free Bets was 7.0 (2012: 6.9) per cent.

Sports betting gross margins can 
vary from one quarter to the next, 
depending on the outcome of sporting 
events. However, over time these 
margins will even out. This can be 
seen in the graph on page 42.

Cost of sales 
Cost of sales covers betting duties, 
revenue share and affiliate programmes. 
Betting duties are payable in the 
licensed jurisdictions of Malta, Italy, 
France, Denmark, Belgium, Estonia 
and Australia. Betting duties in Malta 
are levied at varying rates on different 
gaming products, subject to a maximum 
capped amount per year per licence. 
Betting duties in Italy are levied at 
varying rates of betting turnover, 

averaging about 4 per cent of stakes. 
Betting duties in France on sports 
betting are levied at 9.3 per cent of 
turnover. Betting duties in Denmark are 
levied at 24 per cent of gross winnings 
revenue on sports betting and casino. 
Betting duties in Belgium are levied at 
11 per cent of gross winnings revenue 
on sports betting, casino and poker. 
Betting duties in Estonia are levied at 
5 per cent of gross winnings revenue 
on sports betting, casino and poker. 
Antigua is a licensed jurisdiction where 
there are no betting duties. Betting 
duties for the full year 2013 amounted 
to GBP 16.4 (2012: GBP 11.7) million. 

The marketing-related revenue share 
and affiliate costs within cost of sales 
amounted to GBP 18.4 (2012: GBP 
14.4) million for the full year 2013. 

Gross profit
Gross profit for the full year 
2013 amounted to GBP 199.9 
(2012: GBP 171.1) million.

Marketing costs
During the full year 2013, marketing 
costs were GBP 58.3 (2012: GBP 
47.6) million. Active customers during 
the three-month period ending 31 
December 2013 were 516,799 (2012: 
491,958). Active customers during 
the full year ending 31 December 
2013 were 1,039,010 compared to 
951,718 for the previous year, due to 
strong year-on-year organic growth.

Gross winnings revenue by market and business segment

2013 2012

GBP 000
Sports 
betting

Other 
products  Total

Sports 
betting

Other 
products Total

Nordic Region 44,667 80,899 125,566 37,064 68,219 105,283

Western Europe 39,402 37,378 76,780 31,594 31,608 63,202

Central, Eastern and 
Southern Europe 8,779 13,049 21,828 7,207 11,290 18,497

Other 5,830 4,726 10,556 8,480 1,697 10,177

Total 98,678 136,052 234,730 84,345 112,814 197,159

Unibet has organised its business into four main geographical areas: Nordic Region, Western Europe, CES (Central, 
Eastern and Southern Europe) and Other.
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Financial Statements

Financial review
continued

EBITDA and profit from operations
Earnings before interest, tax and 
depreciation and amortisation (EBITDA) 
for the full year 2013 were GBP 
63.4 (2012: GBP 52.5) million. 

Profit from operations for the full year 
2013 was GBP 44.5 (2012: GBP 
35.1) million, after one off items.

Finance costs
Finance costs for the full year 2013 
were GBP 1.1 (2012: GBP 1.1) million. 

Profit after tax 
Profit after tax for the full year 2013 was 
GBP 40.1 (2012: GBP 31.6) million. 

Development and acquisition costs 
of intangible assets
In the full year 2013, development 
expenditure of GBP 13.8 (2012: 
GBP 13.9) million, was capitalised. 
Expenditure of GBP 2.2 (2012: GBP 
1.0) million was capitalised with regard 
to other intangible assets. The key 
elements of capitalised development 
costs during 2013 are local licensing 
requirements, data analytics and 
information mining and customer 
experience improvements including 
mobile, and development of the 
Kambi business during the period.

Items affecting year on year 
comparison
The Group defines items affecting 
year on year comparison as those 
items which, by their size or nature 
in relation to the Group, should be 
separately disclosed in order to give 
a full understanding of the Group’s 
underlying financial performance, 
and aid comparison of the Group’s 
results between periods.

In 2013, items affecting year-on-year 
comparison included a settlement 
on mutual claims with Stichting 
de Nationale Sporttotalisator, De 
Lotto, resulting in a non-recurring 
expense of GBP 1.1 million. 

The amortisation of acquired assets of 
GBP 2.8 (2012: GBP 3.2) million for the 
year, is the charge on assets acquired 
as part of business combinations. This 
is included as part of the Group’s total 
amortisation charge shown in Note 11 
to the consolidated financial statements. 

Kambi
GBP 18.8 (2012: 16.0) million of the 
administrative expenses for 2013 relates 
to Kambi Sports Solutions. Of this cost, 
GBP 6.9 (2012: 4.7) million is specifically 
related to the B2B business. Kambi’s 
capital expenditure in the full year 
2013 was GBP 5.1 (2012: 5.9) million, 
of which GBP 2.5 (2012: GBP 3.6) 
million is related to the B2B business.

Administrative expenses
During the full year 2013, ongoing 
administrative expenses were GBP 
92.6 (2012: GBP 81.1) million. These 
included GBP 16.1 (2012: GBP 12.9) 
million for depreciation and amortisation 
charges. Included within amortisation 
charges disclosed within administrative 
expenses, is GBP 11.8 million charged 
in respect of capitalised development 
expenditure (2012: GBP 9.5) million, 
and GBP 1.0 (2012: GBP 0.9) million 
for other intangibles. There is also 
an amortisation element included 
within items affecting year on year 
comparability as explained below. 

Excluding depreciation and amortisation, 
ongoing administrative expenses were 
GBP 76.5 (2012: GBP 68.1) million, 
of which GBP 42.8 (2012: GBP 34.9) 
million were salaries and associated 
costs. Although administration expenses 
have increased, they have increased 
at a lower rate in proportion to the 
increase in gross winnings revenue, 
demonstrating the focus on cost control 
as highlighted in the Strategy section. 
Note 4 in the financial statements on 
page 60 provides more analysis of 
operating costs, including items affecting 
the year on year comparison of results. 
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Balance sheet 
Unibet’s strong balance sheet reflects 
both the Group’s growth and its 
ability to manage working capital.

A significant asset on the balance 
sheet is goodwill. The goodwill balance 
increased following the acquisitions of 
the MrBookmaker Group of companies 
in 2005, Maria Holdings Group in 
December 2007, Guildhall Media 
Invest in 2008, the Solfive Group in 
2011, and Betchoice Corporation 
Pty Ltd and the business and certain 
operating assets of Bet24 in 2012. 

Goodwill and certain intangible 
assets recognised in connection with 
these acquisitions are denominated 
in currencies other than GBP and 
have therefore been translated at the 
closing exchange rate as required by 
IAS 21. This translation adjustment 
decreased the carrying value of 
goodwill by GBP 2.2 million in 2013 
(2012: decreased by GBP 0.3 million). 

The carrying value of other intangible 
assets decreased by GBP 0.1 million 
(2012: decreased by GBP 0.1 million). 
These translation adjustments were 
credited to the currency translation 
reserve. Certain non-current assets 
of the Group relate to capitalised IT 
development costs. Other non-current 
assets include computer software, 
computer hardware and fixtures and 
fittings, loan to the joint venture and 
the investment in Bingo.com Limited.

The non-cash current assets on 
the balance sheet relate only to 
other receivables, prepayments and 
taxation. The movements in the tax 
balances in the consolidated balance 
sheet are influenced by the timing 
of dividend payments within the 
Group. Significant liabilities on the 
balance sheet include trade and other 
payables, and customer balances 
(see Note 16 on pages 66 and 67).

Financing and cash flow
The net cash inflow for the 2013 
year was GBP 5.2 (2012: inflow GBP 
9.0) million, increasing the total cash 
balance at the end of 2013 to GBP 
54.9 (2012: GBP 49.9) million. 

The Group continues to demonstrate the 
ability to generate strong operating cash 
flows and a total of GBP 60.8 (2012: 
GBP 50.2) million in cash was generated 
from operating activities during 2013. 
Operating cash flow before movements 
in working capital amounted to GBP 
63.8 (2012: GBP 51.1) million for the 
full year. More information by quarter 
is shown in the graph on page 42. 

In May 2013 Unibet paid out a dividend 
of GBP 19.6 million to shareholders. 
At 31 December 2013, GBP nil (2012: 
GBP 13.5) million of the Revolving 
Credit Facility was utilised. The facility 
has a maximum value of EUR 50 
million and terminates in November 
2016 (see Note 17 on page 67 for 
more information). The Group’s ability 
to generate strong operating cash 
flows, together with the option to utilise 
the Revolving Credit Facility, gives 
flexibility for the Group to consider 
a range of strategic opportunities.
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GBP 000 Note
Year ended 

31 December 2013
Year ended 

31 December 2012

Gross winnings revenue 3 234,730 197,159

Betting duties 3 -16,388 -11,725
Other cost of sales 3 -18,448 -14,363
Gross profit 199,894 171,071

Marketing costs 4 -58,267 -47,620
Administrative expenses 4 -92,579 -81,076
Underlying profit before items affecting comparability 49,048 42,375

Merger and acquisition transaction costs 4 – -1,060
Settlement of prior year betting duties 4 – -2,557
Settlement of litigation 4 -1,148 –
Amortisation of acquired intangible assets 4 -2,825 -3,230
Adjustment to carrying value of discontinued brand 4 – -1,181
Adjustment to carrying value of contingent consideration 4 – 1,779
Foreign currency loss on operating items 4 -608 -985
Profit from operations 3 44,467 35,141

Finance costs 6 -1,112 -1,109
Finance income 7 92 176
Share of loss from associates 13 -150 -7
Profit before tax 43,297 34,201

Income tax expense 8 -3,211 -2,612
Profit after tax 40,086 31,589

All the above amounts relate to continuing operations and are wholly attributable to owners of the parent.

Key ratios
Note 2013 2012

Operating margin % (Profit from operations/gross winnings revenue for the year) 19 18
Return on total assets % (Profit after tax/average of opening and closing assets for the year) 14 12
Return on average equity % (EBIT/average of opening and closing equity for the year) 24 21
Equity: asset ratio % 68 64
EBITDA margin % 27 27
Net cash/EBITDA (rolling 12-month basis) 0.35 0.31
Employees at year end 909 781
Earnings per share GBP 10 1.434 1.132
Fully diluted earnings per share GBP 10 1.415 1.128
Number of shares at year end 21 28,283,122 28,276,266
Fully diluted number of shares at year end 28,865,510 28,488,442
Average number of shares 10 27,959,892 27,897,651
Average number of diluted shares 10 28,330,762 28,013,581

More detailed definitions can be found on page 77. The notes on pages 50 to 74 are an integral part of these financial statements.

Consolidated statement of comprehensive income

GBP 000
Year ended 

31 December 2013
Year ended 

31 December 2012

Profit for the year 40,086 31,589

Other comprehensive income
Currency translation adjustments taken to equity -1,919 360
Total comprehensive income for the year 38,167 31,949

Profit and total comprehensive income relate to continuing operations and are wholly attributable to owners of the parent. The 
translation adjustment relates primarily to foreign currency retranslation of goodwill and acquired intangibles and the net investment in the 
subsidiaries, to the closing exchange rate for each year.

Consolidated income statement
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GBP 000 Note
As at 31 December 

2013
As at 31 December 

2012

Assets
Non-current assets
Goodwill 11 150,434 152,633
Other intangible assets 11 39,969 39,677
Investment in associates 13 2,177 1,275
Property, plant and equipment 12 6,891 6,830
Deferred tax asset 18 1,685 1,167
Loan to joint venture 13 2,200 –

203,356 201,582
Current assets
Trade and other receivables 15 14,981 15,411
Taxation recoverable 21,274 13,465
Cash and cash equivalents 27 54,873 49,878

91,128 78,754
Total assets 294,484 280,336

Equity and liabilities
Capital and reserves
Share capital 21 141 141
Share premium 21 74,386 74,299
Currency translation reserve 21 11,981 13,900
Reorganisation reserve 21 -42,889 -42,889
Retained earnings 155,664 133,510

Total equity attributable to the owners 199,283 178,961

Non-current liabilities
Other non-current liabilities 19 3,255 3,553
Deferred tax liability 18 1,343 763

4,598 4,316
Current liabilities
Borrowings 17 – 13,535
Trade and other payables 16 29,928 32,052
Customer balances 16 32,741 33,532
Deferred income 14 1,979 1,506
Tax liabilities 25,955 16,434

90,603 97,059
Total liabilities 95,201 101,375
Total equity and liabilities 294,484 280,336

The official closing middle rate of exchange applicable between the presentation currency and the euro issued by the European 
Central Bank as at 31 December 2013 was 1.199 (2012: 1.225).

The notes on pages 50 to 74 are an integral part of these financial statements.

The financial statements on pages 46 to 74 were authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 14 March 2014 and were 
signed on its behalf by:

Anders Ström
Chairman and Director

Nigel Cooper
Director

Consolidated balance sheet
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GBP 000 Note
Share 

capital
Share 

premium

Currency 
translation 

reserve
Reorganisation 

reserve
Retained 
earnings Total

Balance as at 1 January 2012 141 74,044 13,540 -42,889 114,315 159,151

Comprehensive income

Profit for the year – – – – 31,589 31,589

Other comprehensive income

Foreign exchange differences on the translation of net 
equity investments in foreign enterprises – – -23 – – -23

Translation adjustment on goodwill and intangibles 11 – – 383 – – 383

– – 360 – – 360

Total comprehensive income – – 360 – 31,589 31,949

Transactions with owners

Share options – value of employee services 20 – – – – 415 415

Treasury share buy back 21 – 255 – – – 255

Disposal of treasury shares 21 – – – – 3,350 3,350

Dividend paid 9 – – – – -16,159 -16,159

Total transactions with owners – 255 – – -12,394 -12,139

At 31 December 2012 141 74,299 13,900 -42,889 133,510 178,961

Comprehensive income

Profit for the year – – – – 40,086 40,086

Other comprehensive income

Foreign exchange differences on the translation of net 
equity investments in foreign enterprises – – 389 – – 389

Translation adjustment on goodwill and intangibles 11 – – -2,308 – – -2,308

– – -1,919 – – -1,919

Total comprehensive income – – -1,919 – 40,086 38,167

Transactions with owners

Share options – value of employee services 20 – – – – 369 369

Proceeds of shares issued 21 – 87 – – – 87

Disposal of treasury shares 21 – – – – 1,265 1,265

Dividend paid 9 – – – – -19,566 -19,566

Total transactions with owners – 87 – – -17,932 -17,845

At 31 December 2013 141 74,386 11,981 -42,889 155,664 199,283

The notes on pages 50 to 74 are an integral part of these financial statements.

Consolidated statement of changes in equity
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GBP 000 Notes
Year ended

 31 December 2013
Year ended 

31 December 2012

Operating activities

Profit from operations 44,467 35,141

Adjustments for:

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 12 3,306 2,521

Amortisation of intangible assets 11 15,610 13,652

Adjustment to carrying value of discontinued brand 11 – 1,181

Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 4 19 –

Adjustment to carrying value of contingent consideration 4 – -1,779

Share-based payment 20 369 415

Decrease/(increase) in trade and other receivables 444 -4,014

(Decrease)/increase in trade and other payables, including customer balances -1,970 6,576

Cash flows from operating activities 62,245 53,693

Income taxes paid net of tax refunded -1,459 -3,523

Net cash generated from operating activities 60,786 50,170

Investing activities

Acquisition of subsidiaries, net of cash acquired and debt assumed 22 – -11,749

Acquisition of business and assets 22 – -10,935

Investment in associate 13 -1,052 –

Settlement of contingent consideration – -85

Interest received 78 172

Interest paid -457 -513

Purchases of property, plant and equipment 12 -3,621 -4,516

Development and acquisition costs of intangible assets 11 -16,011 -14,885

Loans granted to joint venture 13 -2,200 –

Net cash used in investing activities -23,263 -42,511

Financing activities

Dividends paid 9 -19,566 -16,159

Disposal of treasury shares 21 1,265 3,350

Proceeds of issue of new shares for share options 21 87 255

Proceeds of issue of new shares for employee ownership scheme 19 – 860

Proceeds from borrowings 11,835 22,882

Repayment of borrowings -25,972 -9,891

Net cash (used in)/generated from financing activities -32,351 1,297

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 5,172 8,956

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 49,878 41,806

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes -177 -884

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 27 54,873 49,878

The notes on pages 50 to 74 are an integral part of these financial statements.

Consolidated cash flow statement
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1: Basis of preparation
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as 
adopted by the European Union (IFRSs as adopted by the EU) 
and IFRIC interpretations, and the Maltese Companies Act 1995. 

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared 
under the historical cost convention, subject to modification 
where appropriate by the revaluation of financial assets and 
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss. The individual parent 
financial statements have been prepared separately.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS 
requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also 
requires management to exercise its judgement in the process 
of applying the Group’s accounting policies. The areas involving 
a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where 
assumptions and estimates are significant to the consolidated 
financial statements are disclosed in Note 2B.

(a) New and amended standards and interpretations 
effective from 1 January 2013 and adopted by the Group
There are no IFRSs or IFRIC interpretations that are effective 
for the first time for the financial year beginning 1 January 2013 
that have a material effect on the Group. 

(b) New standards, amendments and interpretations 
issued but not effective for the financial year beginning 
1 January 2013 and not early adopted.
IFRS 9, “Financial instruments”, addresses the classification, 
measurement and recognition of financial assets and financial 
liabilities. It replaces the parts of IAS 39 that relate to the 
classification and measurement of financial instruments. IFRS 9 
requires financial assets to be classified into two measurement 
categories: those measured as at fair value and those measured 
at amortised cost. The determination is made at initial recognition. 
The classification depends on the entity’s business model for 
managing its financial instruments and the contractual cash 
flow characteristics of the instrument. For financial liabilities, 
the standard retains most of the IAS 39 requirements. The main 
change is that, in cases where the fair value option is taken for 
financial liabilities, the part of a fair value change due to an 
entity’s own credit risk is recorded in other comprehensive 
income rather than the income statement, unless this creates an 
accounting mismatch. The Group is yet to assess IFRS 9’s full 
impact and intends to adopt IFRS 9 no later than the accounting 
period beginning on or after 1 January 2015. 

IFRS 10, “Consolidated financial statements” builds on 
existing principles by identifying the concept of control as the 
determining factor in whether an entity should be included 
within the consolidated financial statements of the Parent 
Company. The standard provides additional guidance to assist 
in the determination of control where this is difficult to assess. 
The Group is yet to assess IFRS 10’s full impact and intends to 
adopt IFRS 10 no later than the accounting period beginning on 
or after 1 January 2014.

IFRS 12, “Disclosures of interests in other entities” includes the 
disclosure requirements for all forms of interests in other 

entities, including joint arrangements, associates, special 
purpose vehicles and other off balance sheet vehicles. The 
Group is yet to assess IFRS 12’s full impact and intends to 
adopt IFRS 12 no later than the accounting period beginning 
1 January 2014. The amendment is not expected to have a 
material impact on the Group’s financial statements.

There are no other IFRS or IFRIC interpretations that are not yet 
effective that would be expected to have a material impact on 
the Group.

2A: Summary of significant accounting policies
The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of 
these consolidated financial statements are set out below. The 
policies have been consistently applied to all years presented, 
unless otherwise stated.

Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the 
financial statements of Unibet Group plc (the Company) and 
enterprises controlled by the Company (its subsidiaries) made 
up to 31 December each year. Control is achieved where the 
Company has the ability to govern the financial and operating 
policies of an investee enterprise so as to obtain benefits from 
its activities. Where necessary, adjustments are made to the 
financial statements of subsidiaries to bring the accounting 
policies used in line with those used by other members of the 
Group. All intercompany transactions and balances between 
Group companies are eliminated on consolidation. 

Subsidiaries are consolidated, using the purchase method of 
accounting, from the date on which control is transferred to 
the Group and cease to be consolidated from the date on 
which control is transferred out of the Group. On acquisition, 
the assets and liabilities and contingent liabilities of a subsidiary 
are measured at their fair values at the date of acquisition. Any 
contingent consideration to be transferred by the Group is 
recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Subsequent 
changes to the fair value of the contingent consideration that is 
deemed to be an asset or liability is recognised in accordance 
with IAS 39 in profit or loss. Acquisition-related costs are 
expensed as incurred.

All associate entities and joint ventures are accounted for by 
applying the equity accounting method. The Group’s policy 
surrounding associates and joint ventures is outlined on pages 
52 and 53 and they are discussed further on page 66.

Items affecting comparability 
The Group defines items affecting comparability as those items 
which, by their size or nature in relation to both the Group and 
individual segments, should be separately disclosed in order to 
give a full understanding of the Group’s underlying financial 
performance, and aid comparability of the Group’s results 
between periods.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
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2A: Summary of significant accounting policies continued
Items affecting comparability include, to the extent they are 
material, merger and acquisition transaction costs, gains or losses 
on the disposal of assets, impairments (or subsequent reversal) of 
the carrying value of assets, amortisation of acquired assets, 
changes in carrying value of contingent consideration, and 
foreign currency gains and losses on operating items.

Revenue recognition 
Gross winnings revenue on sports betting represents the net 
receipt of bets placed and payouts made within the consolidated 
entity for the financial year. For the non-sports betting segment, 
gross winnings revenue equates to gross turnover.

Revenue is recognised when the amount of revenue can 
be measured reliably, and it is probable that future economic 
benefits will flow to the Group. Where revenue can be measured 
reliably but transactions have not closed at the balance sheet 
date, the revenue is presented within the balance sheet as 
deferred income.

The Group considers:

i) gross winnings revenues to be financial instruments in which 
betting transactions are shown net, i.e. stakes (or turnover) 
less payouts, and

ii) the gains and losses arising as a result of customer bonuses 
(or Free Bets) are accounted for as revenue, which is 
measured at the value of the consideration received or 
receivable from customers. 

Segment reporting
Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with 
the internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision-
maker. The chief operating decision-maker, who is responsible 
for allocating resources and assessing the performance of the 
operating segments, has been identified as the Chief Executive 
Officer who, subject to authorisation by the Board, makes 
strategic decisions. 

Leases
Unibet’s leases are all operating leases (leases in which a 
significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are 
retained by the lessor). Rentals payable under operating leases 
are charged to the income statement on a straight-line basis 
over the term of the relevant lease (net of any incentive received 
from the lessor).

Foreign currencies
The Group operates in Malta and in a number of international 
territories. The presentation currency of the consolidated 
financial statements is GBP since that is the currency in which 
the shares of the Company are denominated. 

Items included in the financial statements of each of the 
Group’s entities are measured using the currency of the primary 
economic environment in which the Company operates, being 
the functional currency.

Transactions in currencies other than the presentation currency 
of the Company in which they are recorded are initially recorded 
at the rates of exchange prevailing on the dates of transactions. 
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in such currencies 
are retranslated at the rates prevailing on the balance sheet 
date. Profits and losses arising on exchange are included in 
the net profit or loss for the year. Gains and losses related to 
financing, including unrealised gains and losses arising on the 
retranslation of the loan, are recognised within finance costs. 
Gains and losses arising on operations are recognised within 
items affecting comparability.

The Group does not enter into forward contracts nor options 
to hedge its exposure to foreign exchange risks. 

On consolidation, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s 
overseas operations are translated at exchange rates prevailing 
on the balance sheet date. Income and expense items are 
translated at the exchange rate on the date the transaction 
took place. Exchange differences arising on the translation 
of subsidiary reserves are classified as equity and transferred 
to the Group’s currency translation reserve.

Translation differences relating to long-term non-trading 
inter-company balances are also included within the Group’s 
translation reserve. 

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on acquisition 
of a foreign entity are treated as assets and liabilities of the 
foreign entity and translated at the closing rate. Exchange 
differences arising are recognised within the currency 
translation reserve in equity.

Retirement benefit costs and pensions
The Group does not operate any defined benefit pension 
schemes for employees or Directors. Certain Group companies 
make contributions to defined contribution pension schemes for 
employees on a mandatory or contractual basis. The Group has 
no further payment obligations once the contributions have 
been paid. The contributions are recognised as employee 
benefit expense when they are due. The Group does not 
provide any other post-retirement benefits.

Taxation
The tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently 
payable, and movements in the deferred tax provision.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. 
Taxable profit differs from net profit as reported in the income 
statement because it excludes items of income or expense that 
are taxable or deductible in other years and it further excludes 
items that are never taxable or deductible. 

The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates 
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the balance 
sheet date.
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2A: Summary of significant accounting policies continued
Deferred tax is the tax expected to be payable or recoverable on 
differences between the carrying amount of assets and liabilities 
in the financial statements and the corresponding tax basis used 
in the computation of taxable profit, and is accounted for using 
the balance sheet liability method. Deferred tax liabilities are 
generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences and 
deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is 
probable that taxable profits will be available against which 
deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such assets 
and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference 
arises from the initial recognition (other than in a business 
combination) of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that 
affects neither the tax profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary 
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries and 
associates and interests in joint ventures, except where the 
Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference 
and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse 
in the foreseeable future. 

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each 
balance sheet date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer 
probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow 
all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected 
to apply in the period when the liability is settled or the asset 
realised. Deferred tax is charged or credited to the income 
statement, except when it relates to items charged or credited 
directly to equity, in which case the deferred tax is also dealt 
with in equity. Deferred tax may be offset where appropriate.

Goodwill
Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a subsidiary undertaking is 
the difference between the fair value of the consideration paid 
and the fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities acquired. 
Goodwill is carried at cost, less accumulated impairment losses. 
Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a 
foreign entity are treated as assets and liabilities of the acquired 
entity and translated at the closing rate. Adjustments arising on 
translation are taken to the currency translation reserve. Goodwill 
is allocated to cash-generating units for the purpose of testing for 
impairment. Impairment tests on the carrying value of goodwill 
are undertaken every year. Impairment losses on goodwill are 
not reversed.

Other intangible assets
Other intangible assets are stated at cost less accumulated 
amortisation and any recognised impairment loss. 

An internally-generated development intangible asset is 
recognised at cost only if all of the following criteria are met:

(i)  An asset is created that can be identified (such as 
a database or software).

(ii)  It is probable that the asset created will generate future 
economic benefits.

(iii) The development cost of the asset can be measured reliably.

Internally-generated intangible assets are amortised on a 
straight-line basis over three to five years. 

Where no internally-generated intangible asset can be 
recognised, development expenditure is recognised as an 
expense in the period in which it is incurred.

Expenditure on research activities is recognised at cost as an 
expense in the period in which it is incurred.

Intangible assets identified as a result of a business 
combination are dealt with at fair value in line with IAS 38, and 
are brought on to the consolidated balance sheet at the date of 
acquisition. Where they arise as a result of the acquisition of a 
foreign entity they are treated as assets of the acquired entity 
and are translated at the closing rate. 

Acquired intangibles include brands, customer databases, 
development costs and trade names which are being amortised 
on a straight-line basis over three to five years, as the Directors 
believe this to be their useful economic life. The “Maria” brand is 
considered to have an indefinite economic life as allowed by the 
standard and is therefore not subject to amortisation. Instead it 
is subject to an annual impairment test, allocated to cash-
generating units alongside goodwill.

Computer software
Acquired computer software is capitalised on the basis of 
the costs incurred to acquire and bring in to use the specific 
software. These costs are amortised on a straight-line basis 
over their estimated useful life of three years. Computer 
software is carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and 
any recognised impairment losses. Costs associated with 
maintaining computer software are expensed as incurred.

Impairment of non-financial assets
Assets that have an indefinite useful life, such as goodwill, 
are not subject to amortisation and are tested annually for 
impairment. In the event that non-financial assets other than 
goodwill suffer impairment, these non-financial assets are 
reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment annually. 

Assets that are subject to amortisation are reviewed for 
impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances 
indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An 
impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the 
asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The 
recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less 
costs to sell and its value in use.

Associated companies and Joint ventures
Associates are all companies over which the Group has 
significant influence but not control, generally accompanying 
a shareholding of between 20 per cent and 50 per cent of the 
voting rights. 

Joint ventures are all companies over which the Group has joint 
control, generally accompanying a shareholding of 
approximately 50 per cent of the voting rights. 

Notes to the consolidated financial statements 
continued
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2A: Summary of significant accounting policies continued
Investments in associated companies and joint ventures have 
been reported according to the equity method. This means 
that the Group’s share of income after taxes in an associated 
company or a joint venture is reported as part of the Group’s 
income. Investments in such a company are reported initially 
at cost, increased, or decreased to recognise the Group’s share 
of the profit or loss of the associated company after the date of 
acquisition. When the Group’s share of losses in an associate or 
a joint venture equals or exceeds its interest in the associate 
or joint ventures, the Group does not recognise further losses, 
unless it has incurred obligations or made payments on behalf 
of the associate or joint venture. Gains or losses on transactions 
with associated companies and joint ventures, if any, have been 
recognised to the extent of unrelated investors’ interests in the 
associate or joint ventures.

Accounting policies of associates and joint ventures have been 
changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the 
policies adopted by the Group.

Property, plant and equipment
Fixtures and fittings, plant and office equipment are stated 
at cost less accumulated depreciation and any recognised 
impairment loss. Cost includes the original purchase price of the 
asset and the costs attributable to bring the asset to working 
condition for its intended use.

Depreciation is charged so as to write off the cost, less the 
estimated residual value, of the assets over their estimated useful 
lives, using the straight-line method, on the following bases:

Plant and office equipment 3 years 
Fixtures and fittings 3–5 years

The gain or loss arising on the disposal of an asset is 
determined as the difference between the sales proceeds 
and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised within 
administrative expenses in the consolidated income statement.

The residual values of assets and their useful lives are reviewed, 
and adjusted if appropriate, at each balance sheet date.

If any impairment is identified in the carrying value of an asset, 
it is written down to its recoverable amount.

Share capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs 
directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are 
shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds. 
Where any Group company purchases the Company’s equity 
share capital, the consideration paid, including any directly 
attributable incremental costs (net of income taxes) is deducted 
from equity attributable to the Company’s equity holders until 
the shares are cancelled or reissued. Where such shares are 
subsequently reissued, any consideration received, net of any 
directly attributable incremental transaction costs and the 
related income tax effects, is included in equity attributable to 
the Company’s equity holders.

Financial assets
The Group classifies its financial assets in the following 
categories: at fair value through profit or loss and loans and 
receivables. The classification depends on the purpose for which 
the financial assets were acquired. Management determines the 
classification of its financial assets at initial recognition.

(a) Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include 
financial assets held for trading. A financial asset is classified 
in this category if acquired principally for the purpose of selling 
in the short term. Assets in this category are classified as 
current assets.

(b) Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with 
fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active 
market. They are included in current assets, except for those with 
maturities greater than 12 months after the balance sheet date. 
These are classified as non-current assets. The Group’s loans 
and receivables comprise trade and other receivables, cash 
equivalents and loans to joint ventures in the balance sheet.

Regular purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised 
on the trade-date – the date on which the Group commits to 
purchase or sell the asset. Investments are initially recognised at 
fair value plus transaction costs for all financial assets not carried 
at fair value through profit or loss. Financial assets carried at fair 
value through profit or loss are initially recognised at fair value 
and transaction costs are expensed in the income statement. 
Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive 
cash flows from the investments have expired or have been 
transferred and the Group has transferred substantially all risks 
and rewards of ownership. Loans and receivables are carried at 
amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of the 
“financial assets at fair value through profit or loss” category 
are presented in the income statement within Gross 
winnings revenue. 

The Group assesses at each balance sheet date whether there 
is objective evidence that a financial asset or a group of 
financial assets is impaired. 

Trade and other receivables
Other receivables are recognised initially at fair value and 
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective 
interest method, less any provision for impairment that is required 
when there is objective evidence that the Group will not be able 
to collect all amounts due according to the original term of the 
receivables. Other receivables also include financial assets at fair 
value through profit or loss. Significant financial difficulties of the 
debtor, probability that the debtor will enter bankruptcy or 
financial reorganisation, and default or delinquency in payments 
(more than 30 days overdue) are considered indicators that the 
receivable is impaired. The amount of the provision is the 
difference between the assets’ carrying value and the present 
value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the original 
effective interest rate.
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2A: Summary of significant accounting policies continued
Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities are classified as financial liabilities at fair 
value through profit or loss or as financial liabilities measured 
at amortised cost, as appropriate. The Group determines the 
classification of its financial liabilities at initial recognition. 

The measurement of financial liabilities depends on their 
classification (i) financial liabilities at fair value through profit 
or loss are carried on the balance sheet at fair value with gains 
or losses recognised in the income statement; and (ii) financial 
liabilities measured at amortised cost are initially recognised at 
fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using 
the effective interest method. Amortised cost is calculated by 
taking into account any issue costs, and any discount or 
premium on settlement. Gains and losses arising on the 
repurchase, settlement or cancellation of liabilities are 
recognised respectively in interest and other revenues and 
finance costs.

The Group derecognises a financial liability from its balance 
sheet when the obligation specified in the contract or 
arrangement is discharged, cancelled or expires.

Trade and other payables, including customer balances
Trade and other payables, including customer balances, are 
recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at 
amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Deferred income
Deferred income, representing revenue which can be measured 
reliably but where transactions have not closed at the balance 
sheet date, is recognised at fair value with gains or losses 
recognised in the income statement.

Offsetting 
Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount 
reported in the statement of financial position when there is a 
legally enforceable right to set off the recognised amounts and 
there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or realise the asset 
and settle the liability simultaneously. 

Borrowings and finance costs
Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value net of 
transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently stated 
at amortised cost; any difference between the proceeds (net of 
transaction costs) and the redemption value is recognised in the 
income statement over the period of the borrowings using the 
effective interest method. Borrowings are classified as current 
liabilities unless the Group has an unconditional right to defer 
settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the 
balance sheet date.

Interest paid in the consolidated cash flow statement is 
presented within investing activities as opposed to financing 
activities, as the principal use of the borrowings to which they 
relate are to fund expansion of the business, such as acquisitions.

Share-based employee remuneration
The Group operates a number of equity-settled share-based 
compensation plans, under which Group companies receive 
services from employees as consideration for equity instruments 
(options or performance shares) in Unibet. The fair value of the 
employee services received in exchange for the grant of options 
or performance shares is recognised as an expense. The total 
amount to be expensed is determined by reference to the fair 
value of the options or performance shares granted, including 
market performance conditions and the impact of any non-
vesting conditions, and excluding the impact of any service or 
vesting conditions. Non-market performance and service 
conditions are included in assumptions about the number of 
share-based payments that are expected to vest. The total 
amount expensed is recognised over the vesting period of the 
share-based payments, which is usually three years.

The grant by the Company of options over its equity instruments 
or performance share awards to the employees of subsidiary 
undertakings in the Group is treated as a capital contribution. 
The fair value of employee services received, measured by 
reference to the grant date fair value, is recognised over the 
vesting period as an increase to investment in subsidiary 
undertakings, with a corresponding credit to equity in the 
parent entity accounts.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group revises the 
estimates of the number of share-based payments that are 
expected to vest. It recognises the impact of the revision to 
original estimates, if any, in the income statement, with a 
corresponding adjustment to equity.

When share-based payments are exercised, the Company 
may issue new shares. Proceeds received net of any directly 
attributable transaction costs are credited to share capital 
(nominal value) and share premium.

With respect of cash settled share-based payments, the Group 
measures goods or services acquired and the liability incurred 
at the fair value of the liability. Until the liability is settled, the 
Group remeasures the fair value of the liability at the end of 
each reporting period and at the date of settlement, with any 
changes in value recognised in profit or loss for the period.

Cash and cash equivalents, and finance income 
Cash and cash equivalents includes cash in hand, deposits 
held at call with banks, payment solution providers and other 
short-term highly liquid investments with original maturities of 
three months or less. 

Finance income is recognised on bank balances using the 
effective interest method as and when it accrues.

Dividend distribution
Dividends are recognised as a liability in the period in which the 
dividends are approved by the Company’s shareholders. Interim 
dividends are recognised when paid.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements 
continued
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2B: Critical accounting estimates and assumptions
Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are 
based on historical experience and other factors, including 
expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable 
under the circumstances. The Group makes estimates and 
assumptions concerning the future. The resulting accounting 
estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the related actual 
results. The estimates and assumptions that have a significant 
risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts 
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are 
discussed below.

Impairment of goodwill and other intangible assets
The Group tests annually whether goodwill and other intangible 
assets have suffered any impairment, in accordance with the 
accounting policy stated on page 52. The recoverable amount 
of cash-generating units has been determined based on 
value-in-use calculations which require the use of estimates. 
See Note 11.

Income taxes
The Group is subject to income taxes in numerous jurisdictions. 
Significant judgement is required in determining the worldwide 
provision for income taxes. There are many transactions for 
which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the 
ordinary course of business.

Legal environment 
The Group operates in a number of markets in which its 
operations may be subject to litigation risks, as highlighted on 
pages 28 and 29. The Group routinely makes estimates 
concerning the potential outcome of such risks.

2C: Financial risk management
Financial risk factors
The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: 
market risk (including foreign currency exchange risk and interest 
rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group’s overall risk 
management programme focuses on the unpredictability of the 
Group’s markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects 
on the Group’s financial performance.

Financial risk management is managed by the finance team 
reporting through the Chief Financial Officer to the Board of 
Directors. The Board of Directors supervises strategic decisions, 
including the management of the Group’s capital structure.

Market risk
Market risk is the risk that Unibet will lose money on its 
business due to unfavourable outcomes on the events where 
the Group offers odds. The Group has adopted specific risk 
management policies that control the maximum risk level for 
each sport or event where the Group offers odds. The results of 
the most popular teams in major football leagues comprise the 
predominant market risk. Through diversification, which is a key 
element of Unibet’s business, the risk is spread across a large 
number of events and sports. 

The Chief Operations Officer and the Compliance Officer of 
Kambi are responsible for day-to-day monitoring of Unibet’s 
market risk. It is also their responsibility to advise the odds 
compilers and risk managers on appropriate risk levels for 
certain events.

To achieve the desired risk profile, Unibet conducts proprietary 
trading with a small number of well-known companies.

The Chief Operations Officer and the Compliance Officer of 
Kambi jointly assess risk levels for individual events as well as 
from a longer-term perspective. Independent employees make 
risk evaluations for the various regions.

Regarding betting on other products, Unibet does not 
usually incur any significant financial risk, except for the risk of 
fraudulent transactions considered within credit risk overleaf.

Foreign currency exchange risk
The Group operates internationally and in addition to GBP 
sterling, is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from various 
currency exposures, primarily with respect to the euro, Swedish 
kronor, Norwegian kroner, Danish krone, and Australian dollar. 
Foreign exchange risk arises from future commercial 
transactions, recognised assets and liabilities and net 
investments in foreign operations.

The Group’s operating cash flows provide a natural hedge 
of operating currency risks, since deposits and pay-outs 
to customers in different territories are matched in the 
same currency.

The Group has certain investments in foreign operations, whose 
net assets are exposed to foreign currency translation risk. In 
addition, the Group reports in GBP sterling, which is the currency 
in which its own share capital is denominated, although it is 
incorporated and trading in Malta.

The spread of the Group’s operations, including material 
revenue and expenses denominated in many different 
currencies, and taking into account the fact that customers can 
trade with the Group in currencies other than the currency of 
their territory of residence, makes it impractical to isolate the 
impact of single currency movements on the results from 
operations. During 2013 the rate of exchange of the euro 
strengthened against GBP by 2.1 per cent (from a rate of EUR 
1.225 per GBP to a rate of EUR 1.199 per GBP). The rate of 
exchange of the Swedish kronor weakened by 1.0 per cent 
(from a rate of SEK 10.516 per GBP to a rate of SEK 10.626 
per GBP). These movements in some of the Group’s principal 
trading currencies contributed to the overall foreign exchange 
loss on operations as shown in Note 4 on page 60 and to the 
foreign exchange loss on the borrowings as shown on Note 6 
on page 61. Additional foreign exchange disclosures are 
contained in Note 16 on pages 66 and 67.
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2C: Financial risk management continued
The Group had no borrowings at the end of the financial year. 
However the Group does have access to a EUR 50 million loan 
facility with a leading international bank and at such time that 
the Group draws down on the facility a currency translation 
exposure related to that financial liability will arise. Any potential 
future translation gains and losses arising on the loan would be 
offset to the extent that the Group generates positive future 
cash flows in euros.

Interest rate risk
The Group interest rate risk has been managed during the year 
through the negotiation of fixed rates above EURIBOR on the 
individual tranches of the bank borrowings. 

The substantial majority of the Group’s liquid resources are 
held in short-term accounts in order to provide the necessary 
liquidity to fund the Group’s operations, so there is no significant 
exposure to interest rate risk in respect of the Group’s interest-
bearing assets and liabilities.

Credit risk
The Group manages credit risk on a group-wide basis. 
The Group does not offer credit to any customers, with 
the exception of a select group of Australian customers in 
accordance with accepted commercial practice in the Australian 
market. Therefore the only exposure to credit risk in respect 
of its sports betting business arises in respect of the limited 
trading activities that it occasionally conducts with other parties 
in order to lay off its exposure. Regarding betting on other 
products, the Group works with a small number of partners 
and at any time may have a small degree of credit exposure.

The principal credit risk that the Group faces in its gaming 
operations comes from the risk of fraudulent transactions and the 
resulting chargebacks from banks and other payment providers. 
The Group has a fraud department that is independent of its 
finance function that investigates each case that is reported and 
also monitors the overall level of such transactions in connection 
with changes in the business of the Group, whether in terms of 
new markets, new products or new payment providers. 

The Group also manages credit risk by using a large number of 
banking and payment solution providers. See Note 2F.

Liquidity risk
Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient 
cash and availability of funding for the business. The Group 
ensures adequate liquidity through the management of rolling 
cash flow forecasts, the approval of investment decisions by the 
Board and the negotiation of appropriate financing facilities. 
As at 31 December 2013, the unused credit facility available 
to be drawn on was EUR 50 million (see Note 17 on page 67). 
The Group also monitored adherence to debt covenants that 
related to the Revolving Credit Facility in accordance with the 
conditions of those instruments, and has been fully compliant 
with such conditions.

The maturity of the Group’s borrowings is disclosed in Note 17 
on page 67. Of the Group’s total financial liabilities of GBP 66.5 
(2012: 82.7) million, GBP 63.2 (2012: GBP 79.1) million mature 
in less than one year, GBP 2.4 (2012: nil) million mature within 
one to two years and GBP 0.9 (2012: GBP 3.6) million mature 
within two to five years.

The Group always maintains cash balances in excess of 
customer balances.

The table below analyses the Group’s financial liabilities based 
on the remaining period at the balance sheet date. The amounts 
disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash 
flows. See also Notes 14 and 16 for further information on the 
Group’s financial liabilities.

At 31 December 2013 At 31 December 2012

GBP 000

Less 
than 

1 year
Between 
1-2 years

Between 
2-5 

years

Less 
than 

1 year
Between 
1-2 years

Between 
2-5 

years

Bank and other 
borrowings – – – 13,535 – –

Deferred 
income 1,979 – – 1,506 – –

Trade and other 
payables 
(excluding 
non-financial 
liabilities) 28,487 – – 30,530 – –

Customer 
balances 32,741 – – 33,532 – –

Contingent 
consideration 
payable – 2,395 – – – 2,693

Cash settled 
equity 
liabilities – – 860 – – 860

2D: Capital risk management
Unibet’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the 
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern in order to provide 
returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and 
to maintain an optimal capital structure both to reduce the cost 
of capital and to provide appropriate funding for expansion of the 
business. Unibet has a consistent record of positive operating 
cash flows as well as significant ability to manage the timing and 
extent of discretionary expenditure in the business.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group 
may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, return 
capital to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets. 

Notes to the consolidated financial statements 
continued
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2E: Fair value estimation
The carrying value less impairment provision of trade and 
other receivables and trade and other payables are assumed to 
approximate their fair values. The fair value of financial liabilities 
for disclosure purposes is estimated by discounting the future 
contractual cash flows at the current market interest rate that 
is available to the Group for similar financial instruments.  
For further information on fair value estimates see Note 14  
on page 66. 

2F: Credit quality of financial assets
The credit quality of financial assets that are neither past due 
nor impaired can be assessed by reference to external credit 
ratings (if available) or to historical information about 
counterparty default rates.

Since Unibet does not have significant trade receivables other 
than payment solution providers, the credit risk associated with 
its normal operations is principally in relation to fraudulent 
transactions as described in Note 2C on page 56.

Unibet uses a large number of banks and payment solution 
providers both in order to provide maximum access to markets 
and convenience for customers and also to ensure that credit 
risk in banking relationships is spread.

The credit ratings of Unibet’s principal banking partners at 
31 December 2013 and 2012, based on publicly reported Fitch 
ratings, are as follows:

GBP 000 2013 2012

AA- 2,733 2,830

A+ 25,846 21,740

A 1,795 6,998

A- 121 562

BBB+ 8,376 2,642

Not rated 15,893 14,841

Other 109 265

Total cash and cash equivalents 54,873 49,878

Unibet continually monitors its credit risk with banking 
partners and did not incur any losses during 2013 as a result 
of bank failures.

“Not rated” consists of payment solution providers where credit 
risk is managed by maintaining a spread of Unibet funds across 
a number of industry established providers.

“Other” consists of a large number of banks, none of whom 
held more than 0.4 per cent of the Group’s total cash and cash 
equivalents at 31 December 2013 and 2012. 

The maximum exposure to credit risk for cash and cash 
equivalents, and trade and other receivables, is represented 
by their carrying amount.

3: Operating Segments 
Management has determined the operating segments based on 
the reports reviewed by the CEO and Executive management 
team and provided to the Board, which are used to make 
strategic decisions.

Management considers the business primarily from a 
geographic perspective, emphasising the primary role of 
territory management in driving the business forward. Products 
are an important part of Unibet’s operational matrix but the 
product teams are considered as suppliers of products and 
services to the territory managers. This reflects the fact that 
products may be sourced both internally and externally from 
independent suppliers. 

Where products, such as the Sportsbook, are sourced internally, 
it is Unibet’s intention that the provision of the products and 
related services should be conducted on a professional basis, 
consistent with Unibet’s strategy of offering such products on a 
business-to-business basis to external customers in such a way 
that the integrity of the offering is assured. 

The reportable operating segments derive their revenues 
from online Sports betting, Casino & Games, Poker and other 
betting operations.

The primary measure used by the CEO and Executive 
management to assess the performance of operating segments 
is gross profit, which is defined as gross winnings revenue (net of 
commissions and bonuses), less cost of sales. This measurement 
basis excludes central overheads incurred in support of the 
integrated operating model applied by Unibet in order to derive 
maximum operational efficiency. 

Unibet does not allocate such central operating and 
administrative expenses by segment since any allocation would 
be arbitrary. The measure also excludes the effects of equity-
settled share-based payments, depreciation and amortisation, 
and finance costs and income.

Unibet operates an integrated business model and does not 
allocate either assets or liabilities of the operating segments in 
its internal reporting, except for certain acquired intangibles as 
shown in the tables overleaf.

Liabilities are not allocated by reportable segment in the 
internal management reporting of Unibet.
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3: Operating segments continued
The segment information provided to the CEO and Executive management team for the reportable segments during the year 
ended 31 December 2013 is as follows:

31 December 2013 
GBP 000

Nordic
 Region

Western 
Europe

Central, Eastern and 
Southern Europe Other Total

Gross winnings revenue 125,566 76,780 21,828 10,556 234,730

Betting duties -3,654 -11,079 -646 -1,009 -16,388

Other cost of sales -8,036 -5,293 -4,490 -629 -18,448

Gross profit 113,876 60,408 16,692 8,918 199,894

Marketing costs -58,267

Administrative expenses -92,579

Items affecting comparability -4,581

Profit from operations 44,467

Assets by reportable segments 

Goodwill 62,098 67,162 10,907 10,267 150,434

Intangibles acquired through business 
combinations 16,295 752 – 217 17,264

Other assets not allocated to reportable 
segments 

Other intangible assets 22,705 22,705

Investment in associates 2,177 2,177

Property, plant and equipment 6,891 6,891

Deferred tax assets 1,685 1,685

Loan to joint venture 2,200 2,200

Trade and other receivables 14,981 14,981

Taxation recoverable 21,274 21,274

Cash and cash equivalents 54,873 54,873

78,393 67,914 10,907 137,270 294,484

Notes to the consolidated financial statements 
continued
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3: Operating segments continued
The segment information provided to the CEO and Executive management team for the reportable segments during the year 
ended 31 December 2012 is as follows:

31 December 2012 
GBP 000 Nordic Region Western Europe

Central, Eastern and 
Southern Europe Other Total

Gross winnings revenue 105,283 63,202 18,497 10,177 197,159

Betting duties -1,979 -7,579 -1,110 -1,057 -11,725

Other cost of sales -6,061 -4,000 -3,563 -739 -14,363

Gross profit 97,243 51,623 13,824 8,381 171,071

Marketing costs -47,620

Administrative expenses -81,076

Items affecting comparability -7,234

Profit from operations 35,141

Assets by reportable segments 

Goodwill 62,487 67,048 10,907 12,191 152,633

Intangibles acquired through business 
combinations 17,312 1,512 – 645 19,469

Other assets not allocated to reportable 
segments 

Other intangible assets 20,208 20,208

Investment in associate 1,275 1,275

Property, plant and equipment 6,830 6,830

Deferred tax assets 1,167 1,167

Trade and other receivables 15,411 15,411

Taxation recoverable 13,465 13,465

Cash and cash equivalents 49,878 49,878

79,799 68,560 10,907 121,070 280,336

Product revenues
Gross winnings revenue by principal product groups:

GBP 000 2013 2012

Sports betting (after Free Bets) 98,678 84,345

Casino & Games 115,492 92,174

Poker 11,342 13,905

Other 9,218 6,735

234,730 197,159

The 2012 product split has been reclassified in the table above to enhance comparability.
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4: Expenses by nature

GBP 000 31 December 2013 31 December 2012

Betting duties 16,388 11,725

Other cost of sales 18,448 14,363

Marketing costs 58,267 47,620

Administrative expenses

Fees payable to statutory auditor 635 716

Operating lease rentals 3,034 2,332

Depreciation of property, plant 
and equipment 3,306 2,521

Amortisation of intangibles 12,785 10,422

Loss on disposal of property, 
plant and equipment 19 –

Employee costs 42,754 34,851

Research and development 
expenditure 15,094 14,423

Other 14,952 15,811

Total administrative 
expenses 92,579 81,076

Items affecting 
comparability

Merger and acquisition 
transaction costs – 1,060

Settlement of prior period 
betting duties – 2,557

Settlement of litigation 1,148 –

Amortisation of acquired 
intangible assets 2,825 3,230

Adjustment to carrying value of 
discontinued brand – 1,181

Adjustment to carrying value of 
contingent consideration – -1,779

Foreign exchange loss on 
operating items 608 985

Total items affecting 
comparability 4,581 7,234

Total expenses 190,263 162,018

As explained within the accounting policy note on page 50, 
the Group defines items affecting comparability as those items 
which, by their size or nature in relation to both the Group and 
individual segments, should be separately disclosed in order to 
give a full understanding of the Group’s underlying financial 
performance, and aid comparability of the Group’s results 
between periods.

Amortisation of acquired intangible assets within items 
affecting comparability is the charge on IFRS 3 Business 
combination acquired assets over the useful economic life 
of the asset, and is included as part of the Group’s total 
amortisation charge shown in Note 11 on page 62. 

In 2013, the Group settled mutual historic legal proceedings 
with De Lotto (the State-approved monopoly in the 
Netherlands) for GBP 1.1 million.

In 2012, the adjustment to the carrying value of discontinued 
brand relates to an impairment charge on the Betchoice brand 
which was triggered due to a commercial decision to move the 
acquired business in Australia to the Unibet brand.

The adjustment to the carrying value of contingent 
consideration in 2012 relates to the determination of the final 
earn-out payment on the 2011 Solfive acquisition, which was 
lower than provided for at 31 December 2011.

During 2012, a one-off payment to the Spanish tax authorities 
was made of GBP 2.6 million, to cover the settlement of prior 
period betting duties and interest and penalties.

Fees payable to the statutory auditor can be broken down 
as follows: 

GBP 000 31 December 2013 31 December 2012

Annual statutory audit 442 427

Tax advisory and compliance 
services 134 45

Other assurance services 59 244

635 716

Other assurance services includes half year review and in 2012 
also included due diligence on acquisitions.

5: Employee costs 
The work of all employees relates principally to marketing of 
Sports betting, Casino & Games and Poker.

Average number of employees 
for the year 31 December 2013 31 December 2012

Finance, administration 
and management  108 92

Marketing and customer service  370 322

Kambi  303 216

Research and development  101 85

882 715

Notes to the consolidated financial statements 
continued
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5: Employee costs continued
Employee costs can be broken down as follows: 

GBP 000 31 December 2013 31 December 2012

Wages and salaries 35,608 29,179

Share option charge – value of 
employee services (see  
Note 20) 369 415

Social security costs 5,724 4,483

Pension costs 1,053 774

42,754 34,851

The remuneration of the Directors and Executive management 
is disclosed on page 41.

6: Finance costs 

GBP 000 31 December 2013 31 December 2012

Interest payable on bank 
borrowings 497 562

Foreign exchange loss on 
borrowings 615 547

1,112 1,109

Foreign exchange gains or losses on operating activities are 
included within items affecting comparability. 

7: Finance income

GBP 000 31 December 2013 31 December 2012

Interest on bank deposits 92 176

8: Income tax expense 

GBP 000 Note 31 December 2013 31 December 2012

Current tax:

Current tax on profits 
for the year -3,333 -3,211

Deferred tax:

Origination and reversal of 
temporary differences 18 122 599

Total tax expense -3,211 -2,612

Income tax in Malta is calculated at a basic rate of 35 per cent 
(2012: 35 per cent) of the estimated assessable profit for the 
year. Taxation for other jurisdictions is calculated at the rates 
prevailing in the respective jurisdictions. Regarding the UK 
jurisdiction, as a result of the changes in the UK corporation tax 
rate to 23 per cent which was substantively enacted on 3 July 
2012 and was effective from 1 April 2013; and to 21 per cent 
which was substantively enacted on 2 July 2013 and effective 
from 1 April 2014, the relevant deferred tax balances have been 

remeasured. A further reduction to the UK corporation tax rate 
has been announced. The change proposes to reduce the rate 
to 20 per cent from 1 April 2015. The change had not been 
substantively enacted at the balance sheet date, and, therefore, 
is not recognised in these financial statements.

The tax expense for the year can be reconciled to the profit per 
the income statement as follows:
GBP 000 31 December 2013 31 December 2012

Profit before tax 43,297 34,201

Taxation at the basic income tax 
rate of 35% (2012: 35%) -15,154 -11,970

Effects of:

Tax refund on operating 
activities (i) 8,181 13,335

Tax effect on internal 
reorganisation (ii) 3,483 -3,485

Overseas tax rates 819 448

Items of income/expenditure 
not taxable/deductible -940 -962

Other 400 22

Tax expense -3,211 -2,612

(i) The tax refund of GBP 8,181,000 (2012: GBP 13,335,000) 
represents Malta tax recoverable by the Company in 
accordance with applicable fiscal legislation on intra-group 
dividends distributed during the year. 

(ii) The tax effect on internal reorganisation of GBP 3,483,000 
(2012: GBP -3,485,000) relates to the reorganisation to 
streamline the operations of the Group’s Kambi Sports 
Solutions business into separate legal entities within 
the Group.

9: Dividends 

GBP 000 31 December 2013 31 December 2012

Dividend paid GBP 0.700 per 
share (2012: GBP 0.580 
per share) 19,566 16,159

The Board of Directors is proposing a final dividend in respect 
of the financial year ending 31 December 2013 of GBP 1.100 
per ordinary share/SDR, which will absorb an estimated GBP 
30.8 million of shareholders’ funds. If approved at the AGM 
on 20 May 2014, the dividend will be paid on 28 May 2014 to 
shareholders who are on the Euroclear Sweden register on 
23 May 2014.

The Board has reviewed the projected cash requirements 
for 2014 and is proposing this year to increase the dividend to 
75 per cent of the Group’s free cash flow for 2013. This is in 
line with the dividend policy to distribute surplus cash.



62 — Unibet Group plc Annual Report and Accounts 2013

10: Earnings per share
The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share is based on the following data: 

GBP 000 31 December 2013 31 December 2012

Earnings

Earnings for the purposes of basic earnings per share 40,086 31,589

Earnings for the purposes of diluted earnings per share 40,086 31,589

Number of shares

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purposes of basic earnings per share 27,959,892 27,897,651

Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares – Share options 370,870 115,930

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purposes of diluted earnings per share 28,330,762 28,013,581

Earnings per share GBP

Basic earnings per share 1.434 1.132

Fully diluted earnings per share 1.415 1.128

The nominal value per share is GBP 0.005. 

11: Intangible assets 
Other intangible assets

GBP 000 Note Goodwill
Development 

costs
Computer 
software

Customer 
database

Brands 
and other Total 

Cost

At 1 January 2012 131,251 39,941 7,156 9,427 17,369 73,893

Additions – 13,906 979 – – 14,885

Acquisitions – through business 
combination 21,649 253 120 2,897 1,941 5,211

Currency translation adjustment -267 -261 9 -72 115 -209

At 31 December 2012 152,633 53,839 8,264 12,252 19,425 93,780

Additions – 13,819 2,192 – – 16,011

Disposals – – -705 – – -705

Currency translation adjustment -2,199 69 -48 -57 -448 -484

At 31 December 2013 150,434 67,727 9,703 12,195 18,977 108,602

Accumulated amortisation

At 1 January 2012 – 25,497 5,122 6,665 2,079 39,363

Charge for the year 4 – 10,521 915 1,876 340 13,652

Adjustment to carrying value of 
discontinued brand – – – – 1,181 1,181

Currency translation adjustment – -139 -19 48 17 -93

At 31 December 2012 – 35,879 6,018 8,589 3,617 54,103

Charge for the year 4 – 12,506 1,030 1,859 215 15,610

Disposals – – -705 – – -705

Currency translation adjustment – 42 -43 -80 -294 -375

At 31 December 2013 – 48,427 6,300 10,368 3,538 68,633

Net book value

At 31 December 2013 150,434 19,300 3,403 1,827 15,439 39,969

At 31 December 2012 152,633 17,960 2,246 3,663 15,808 39,677

Notes to the consolidated financial statements 
continued
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11: Intangible assets continued
Goodwill arising on business combinations and the Maria brand are not subject to amortisation, but are reviewed for impairment 
as described below. The amortisation period for development costs is between three and five years depending on the nature of the 
project. For other intangible assets, the amortisation period is between three and five years, based on the Directors’ assessment of 
their useful economic lives.

Impairment review  
Following the acquisitions of the MrBookmaker Group in 2005, the Maria Group in 2007, Guildhall Media Invest in 2008, and 
Bet24 in 2012, the activities of the acquired businesses have been integrated into the existing businesses of Unibet and the 
combined businesses are now managed on a unified basis. Management considers the combined business to be one cash-
generating unit, as the originally purchased businesses are no longer separately identifiable. The activities and customers acquired 
from Bet24 were integrated immediately within Unibet’s existing business, on Unibet’s existing platforms, and utilising Unibet’s 
existing licence and software.

The acquisitions of Solfive (acquired 12 December 2011) and Betchoice (acquired 29 February 2012) have continued to operate 
on a substantially separate basis at 31 December 2013 as a result of regulatory requirements in both jurisdictions. Management 
therefore considers both Solfive and Betchoice to be separate cash-generating units at the year end. Management will review the 
appropriateness of this in future years.

During the year, goodwill of GBP 150.4 million (including goodwill of GBP 5.3 million relating to Solfive and GBP 10.3 million 
relating to Betchoice), and the Maria brand of GBP 15.4 million were tested for impairment on a value-in-use basis, based on the 
budget approved by the Board and extrapolated projections of the Group. These calculations used post-tax cash flow projections 
based on actual 2013 trading performance, extrapolated forward using growth rates consistent with the forecasts included in 
industry reports. The projections do not take account of any growth after the first five years. 

Based on management’s review, there is no indication of impairment on any of the separate cash-generating units.
In carrying out their assessment of the goodwill, the Directors believe there are no cash-generating units where reasonably 
possible changes to their assumptions exist that would give rise to impairment, with the exception of Betchoice. In relation to 
Betchoice, if the forecast growth rate in revenue is not achieved or becomes unrealistic in future periods, then an impairment 
charge may arise.

The key assumptions which have been approved by the Board used for the value-in-use calculations were as follows:

Goodwill associated with the integrated operations of Unibet Group and Maria Brand
EBITDA margin 30.0%

Effective tax rate applicable to operating income 6.0%

Risk adjusted discount rate 10.0%

Goodwill arising on the Solfive acquisition
EBITDA margin various rates in the range of 0.0 – 11.0%

Effective tax rate applicable to operating income 6.0%

Risk adjusted discount rate 8.5%

Goodwill arising on the Betchoice acquisition
EBITDA margin various rates in the range of 0.0 – 26.0%

Effective tax rate applicable to operating income 0.0%

Risk adjusted discount rate 8.5%

Goodwill balances related to acquisitions was subject to foreign currency adjustments as shown in the above table and explained 
within the Group’s accounting policies.
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12: Property, plant and equipment 
GBP 000 Note Fixtures and fittings 

Plant and office 
equipment Total 

Cost

At 1 January 2012 1,971 11,404 13,375

Additions 744 3,772 4,516

Additions – through business combination 22 35 1,014 1,049

Disposals -200 -285 -485

Foreign exchange translation difference 24 -57 -33

At 31 December 2012 2,574 15,848 18,422

Additions 419 3,202 3,621

Disposals -226 -2,245 -2,471

Foreign exchange translation difference -33 -366 -399

At 31 December 2013 2,734 16,439 19,173

Accumulated depreciation

At 1 January 2012 1,414 8,141 9,555

Charge for the year 4 300 2,221 2,521

Disposals -200 -285 -485

Foreign exchange translation difference -25 26 1

At 31 December 2012 1,489 10,103 11,592

Charge for the year 4 354 2,952 3,306

Disposals -224 -2,228 -2,452

Foreign exchange translation difference -13 -151 -164

At 31 December 2013 1,606 10,676 12,282

Net book value

At 31 December 2013 1,128 5,763 6,891

At 31 December 2012 1,085 5,745 6,830

Notes to the consolidated financial statements 
continued



65 — Unibet Group plc Annual Report and Accounts 2013
S

TR
A

TE
G

IC
 R

E
P

O
R

T
G

O
V

E
R

N
A

N
C

E
F

IN
A

N
C

IA
L S

TA
TE

M
E

N
TS

For more information, please visit: 
www.unibetgroupplc.com

13: Subsidiaries and associated companies
Details of the Group’s principal subsidiaries and associated companies at 31 December 2013 are as follows:

Name of subsidiary Place of incorporation Proportion of ownership and voting power %

Global Leisure Partners Limited Malta 100%

Unibet (Holding) Limited Malta 100%

Unibet (International) Limited Malta 100%

MrBookmaker.com Limited Malta 100%

Maria Holdings Limited Malta 100%

Unibet (Denmark) Limited Malta 100%

Unibet (Italia) Limited Malta 100%

Unibet (Belgium) Limited Malta 100%

Moneytainment Media Limited Malta 100%

Unibet (Estonia) Limited Malta 100%

Unibet (Germany) Limited Malta 100%

Unibet Services Limited Malta 100%

SPS Betting France Limited Malta 100%

UGP Limited Great Britain 100%

Unibet (London) Limited Great Britain 100%

Firstclear Limited Great Britain 100%

North Development AB Sweden 100%

PR Entertainment AB Sweden 100%

E-Gaming United Limited Belize 100%

Global Entertainment (Antigua) Limited Antigua 100%

Global IP and Support Services LP British Virgin Islands 100%

Unibet Italia SRL Italy 100%

Solfive SAS France 100%

SPS SAS France 100%

Unibet Australia Pty Limited Australia 100%

Betchoice Corporation Pty Limited Australia 100%

Social Gambling (Channel Islands) Limited Guernsey 100%

Kambi Group Limited Malta 95.1%

Kambi Malta Limited Malta 95.1%

Kambi Spain plc Malta 95.1%

Kambi Services Limited Great Britain 95.1%

Global Technology & Sports Limited British Virgin Islands 95.1%

Kambi Philippines Inc. Philippines 95.1%

Kambi Sweden AB Sweden 95.1%

Kambi Sports Solution (Alderney) Limited Alderney 95.1%

On 4 May 2010, Unibet acquired 25.9 per cent of Bingo.com Limited, listed on Other OTC market on the NASDAQ Stock Market, 
through a directed rights issue/private placement of USD 2.25 million. This investment is treated as an interest in associate.
The cost of acquisition was GBP 1.484 million, of which the amount determined as goodwill is included within the carrying value 
of the investment in accordance with IAS 28. 
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13: Subsidiaries and associated companies continued
The carrying value of the investment is adjusted for Unibet’s 
share of the losses of the associate, and is assessed for 
impairment at year end. The market value of the investment 
exceeds its carrying value, being 15 million shares held at a 
share price of USD 0.36 per share as at 31 December 2013, 
totalling USD 5.40 (GBP 3.26) million. 

As a result of Bingo.com Limited issuing further shares during 
April and June 2013, Unibet held 22.1 per cent of Bingo.com 
Limited’s total issued shares as at 31 December 2013 (2012: 
22.8 per cent).

On 19 March 2013, Unibet acquired 100 per cent of Social 
Gambling (Channel Islands) Limited, (SGCI), whose principal asset 
is an investment in Bonza Gaming LLP. As a result, SGCI holds a 
49 per cent interest in Bonza, alongside co-investor Plumbee 
Limited, a leading entrepreneurial social gaming business. 

The cost of investment was GBP 100 and Unibet has provided 
loan facilities of GBP 2.45 million to support the growth of 
Bonza. This loan has been treated as a loan to a joint venture. 
As at 31 December 2013, GBP 2.2 million of the loan had been 
drawn-down and the unrecognised share of losses in the joint 
venture was GBP 1.1 million.

On 5 November 2013, Unibet acquired 25 per cent of Relax 
Gaming Limited, a specialist poker software provider. The cost 
of the investment was EUR 1.25 (GBP 1.1) million. 

The movements in the Group’s interests in associates are 
shown below: 

GBP 000 2013 2012

Carrying value at 1 January 1,275 1,282

Investment in associate 1,052 –

Share of associates’ loss -150 -7

Carrying value at 
31 December 2,177 1,275

14: Financial instruments
The carrying value of the Group’s financial assets and financial 
liabilities approximated to their fair values at the year end. At 
31 December 2013, other receivables of GBP 10.8 (2012: GBP 
10.9) million were considered to be fully performing. Because of 
the nature of the Group’s business, the Group does not carry 
any provision for impairment of receivables, with the exception 
of betting on credit which is strictly limited to a select group of 
Australian customers in accordance with accepted commercial 
practice in the Australian market. The Group does not hold any 
collateral as security for its receivables.

The Group’s financial assets consist of loans and receivables, 
except for assets at fair value through profit and loss of GBP 
0.6 (2012: GBP 0.9) million. 

The Group’s financial liabilities consist of other financial 
liabilities, except for liabilities at fair value through profit and loss 
of GBP 4.4 (2012: GBP 4.2) million. Financial liabilities at fair 
value through profit and loss consist of deferred income relating 
to unsettled bets at balance sheet date of GBP 2.0 (2012: GBP 
1.5) million, the contingent consideration payable on the 

Notes to the consolidated financial statements 
continued

acquisition of Betchoice of GBP 2.4 (2012: GBP 2.7) million. 
Additionally, the cash settled equity liabilities of GBP 0.9 (2012: 
GBP 0.9) million that arose in connection with the Kambi 
employee share scheme (see Note 19), are remeasured to fair 
value at the end of each reporting period, with any changes in 
value recognised in profit or loss for the period.

IFRS 13 requires management to identify a three-level hierarchy 
of financial assets and liabilities at fair value. As noted above, 
the financial assets at fair value are immaterial and the financial 
liabilities at fair value have been measured using inputs based 
on unobservable market data (defined as level three by 
IFRS 13). A reasonable change in assumptions would 
not give rise to a material change in value.

15: Trade and other receivables 

GBP 000 31 December 2013 31 December 2012

Due within 1 year:

Other receivables 10,775 10,918

Prepayments and accrued income 4,206 4,493

14,981 15,411

16: Trade and other payables, including 
customer balances

GBP 000 31 December 2013 31 December 2012

Due within 1 year:

Trade payables 6,141 6,494

Other taxation and social security 1,441 1,522

Other payables 1,858 1,757

Accruals 20,488 22,279

29,928 32,052

Customer balances of GBP 32.7 (2012: 33.5) million are 
repayable on demand, subject to the terms and conditions as 
described on the Group’s websites.

The following table shows the split by currency of customer 
balances:

31 December 2013 31 December 2012

EUR 49% 52%

SEK 15% 14%

NOK 9% 9%

DKK 7% 6%

USD 6% 5%

GBP 5% 4%

AUD 4% 4%

Other 5% 6%

100% 100%

Certain third-party suppliers used by Unibet in its non-sports 
betting operations use either EUR or USD as their standard 
currency and therefore the above analysis does not represent 
the spread of customer balances by territory.
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16: Trade and other payables, including customer balances continued
The Group’s operating cash flows provide a natural hedge of operating currency risks, since deposits and pay-outs to customers 
in different territories are matched in the same currency. 

17: Borrowings

GBP 000 31 December 2013 31 December 2012

Due within 1 year:

Bank borrowings – 13,535

Total borrowings – 13,535

Borrowings are repayable with the following maturity:

GBP 000 31 December 2013 31 December 2012

Due in 1 year – 13,535

Due in 1 to 2 years – –

Due in 2 to 5 years – –

– 13,535

Bank borrowings:
In November 2013, Unibet agreed a new Revolving Credit Facility held with a leading international bank, with a maximum value 
of EUR 50 million. As at 31 December 2013, the balance of the facility utilised was GBP Nil million.

The borrowings are denominated in euro with a fixed interest rate of 1.2 per cent above EURIBOR. The borrowings are unsecured. 
The Revolving Credit Facility terminates on 4 November 2016. The fair value of the bank borrowings was GBP Nil (2012: GBP 
13.5) million at 31 December 2013.

The Revolving Credit Facility is subject to financial undertakings, principally in relation to debt service ratio and limitations in respect 
of permitted business acquisitions and disposals. At 31 December 2013 Unibet was in compliance with these undertakings. Unibet 
anticipates continued full compliance and that if the facility is further utilised in future, it will be repaid in accordance with contracted 
terms at any such time.

18: Deferred tax 
The following are the deferred tax liabilities and assets (prior to offset) recognised by the Group and movements thereon during 
the current and prior reporting year:

GBP 000 Note
Unremitted 

earnings

Property, 
plant and 

equipment

Unrealised 
exchange 

differences
Tax 

losses
Intangible 

assets Other Total

At 1 January 2012:

Deferred tax liability – 4 268 – 668 113 1,053

Deferred tax asset – -300 – -51 – -440 -791

(Credit)/charge to income for the year 8 – -13 -368 -471 -32 285 -599

Balance sheet movement for the year – – – – – -86 -86

Transfer to currency translation reserve – 1 – 9 1 8 19

At 31 December 2012:

Deferred tax liability – 2 – – 653 333 988

Deferred tax asset – -310 -100 -513 -16 -453 -1,392

(Credit)/charge to income for the year 8 – 56 107 -1,000 59 656 -122

Balance sheet movement for the year – – – – – – –

Transfer to currency translation reserve – – – 180 -4 8 184

At 31 December 2013:

Deferred tax liability – – 124 – 700 937 1,761 

Deferred tax asset – -252 -117 -1,333 -8 -393 -2,103
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18: Deferred tax continued
Certain deferred tax assets and liabilities may have been offset 
when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax 
assets against current tax liabilities and when the deferred 
income taxes assets and liabilities relate to income taxes levied 
by the same taxation authority on either the same taxable entity 
or different taxable entities where there is an intention to settle 
the balances on a net basis. 

The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances 
(after offset) for financial reporting purposes:

GBP 000 31 December 2013 31 December 2012

Deferred tax liabilities 1,343 763

Deferred tax assets -1,685 -1,167

Net assets -342 -404

At 31 December 2013 the Group had unutilised trading tax 
losses of GBP 31,202,000 (2012: GBP 48,680,000) and other 
unutilised tax losses of GBP 1,469,000 (2012: GBP 1,469,000) 
available for offset against future profits. The amount of 
unutilised trading tax losses and other unutilised tax losses at 
31 December 2013 for which a deferred tax asset has been 
recognised is GBP 4,355,000 (2012: GBP 1,699,000), and 
GBP Nil (2012: GBP Nil), respectively. No deferred tax asset 
has been recognised in respect of the remaining unutilised 
trading tax losses and in respect of the other remaining 
unutilised tax losses Nil (2012: GBP Nil) due to insufficient 
evidence of their reversal in future periods. 

The major component of unrecognised trading tax losses arises 
from unutilised trading tax losses acquired as part of the Solfive 
acquisition, for which there is insufficient evidence of reversal. 
These losses represent GBP 26,847,000 (2012: GBP 
46,779,000) of the total unutilised trading tax losses disclosed 
above. The decrease in 2013 is due to tax losses forfeited 
as a result of a reorganisation of the Solfive group following 
acquisition. There is no specific expiry date of the total unutilised 
tax losses for which no deferred tax asset has been recognised. 

The aggregate amount of other deductible temporary differences 
at 31 December 2013 for which deferred tax assets have been 
recognised is GBP 3,233,000 (2012: GBP 3,660,000). This 
includes a deductible temporary difference in respect of 
unexercised share options for GBP 396,000 (2012: GBP 168,000). 
A deferred tax asset has not been recognised for other deductible 
temporary differences of GBP 1,093,000 (2012: GBP 1,371,000). 

19: Other non-current liabilities

GBP 000 31 December 2013 31 December 2012

Contingent consideration 
payable 2,395 2,693

Cash settled equity liabilities 860 860

3,255 3,553

Contingent consideration payable relates to the acquisition of 
Betchoice, see Note 22.

Cash settled equity liabilities arose in connection with the 
Kambi employee share scheme approved by the AGM in 2011 
and implemented in 2012. Under the terms of the scheme, 

Notes to the consolidated financial statements 
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specified employees of Kambi were permitted to purchase 
shares in Kambi Group Limited, a subsidiary of Unibet Group 
plc. During 2012 Unibet received GBP 860,000 as payment for 
issuance of shares representing 4.9% of the issued share 
capital of Kambi Group Limited. In accordance with IFRS 2, 
taking account of restrictions governing the shares issued, and 
an employee option enabling sell-back, the amount is 
recognised as a liability.

20: Share-based payments 
The Group operates a number of share-based payment schemes 
as set out within this note. During 2013 103,491 (2012: 251,353) 
options within the schemes were exercised. The total charge for 
the year relating to employee share-based payment plans was 
GBP 368,501 (2012: GBP 415,368), all of which related to 
equity-settled share-based payment transactions.

Performance Share Plan (PSP)
The introduction of the Unibet Group plc Performance Share 
Plan was approved at the 2013 AGM under which future share 
based payments to senior management and key employees will 
be made. The PSP performance measures are non-market 
based conditions providing participants with a high degree of 
alignment to Company performance.
 
Grants of performance share rights are subject to achieving 
business performance targets over three financial years and 
continued employment. These targets are: Gross Contribution 
(Gross winnings revenue less Cost of sales less marketing 
costs), Free Cash Flow per Share and EBITDA. The targets will 
be measured on an aggregate basis between the full year 2013 
and the full year 2015 so that performance in each financial 
year will be important. Aggregated performance against the 
targets and the resulting allocation of PSP awards will be 
disclosed after the full year 2015. Grants made under the Plan 
during 2013 will vest after 1 November 2016. Performance 
share rights are issued in respect of new shares to be issued 
when the rights are exercised. 

Executive Share Option Schemes (ESOS)
The Unibet Group plc ESOS was first introduced in December 
2000 and revised in May 2004. Following the introduction of 
the PSP, no future share-based payments will be made under 
the ESOS. However the scheme will continue until all 
outstanding options have vested or lapsed. 

The Company operates two ESOS schemes: the Unibet 
Group plc Unapproved Executive Share Option Scheme (the 
‘Unapproved Scheme’) and the Unibet Group plc Approved 
Executive Share Option Scheme (the ‘Approved Scheme’) under 
which employees may acquire ordinary shares or SDRs. Under 
the schemes, the Board can grant options over shares in the 
Company to employees of the Group. 

The difference between the schemes is that the Unapproved 
Scheme does not comply with the relevant United Kingdom 
tax legislation while options granted under the Approved 
Scheme attract UK tax benefits. Under the Approved Scheme 
a participant may not hold HM Revenue and Customs (HMRC) 
approved options over more than GBP 30,000 worth of ordinary 
shares (valued at date of grant); alterations to key features of the 
Approved Scheme are subject to the prior approval of HMRC; the 
Directors can make, without shareholder approval, amendments 
to the Approved Scheme to obtain or maintain HMRC approval. 
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20: Share-based payments continued
The ESOS schemes were established when the holding company of the Unibet Group was a company incorporated in the UK. 
Following the Scheme of Arrangement during 2006 which inserted a new Maltese company as the holding company for the Unibet 
Group, all employees holding share options were offered the opportunity to exchange those options for equivalent options to 
acquire shares of Unibet Group plc on substantially the same terms. 

Grants made under both the PSP and ESOS share-based payment arrangements are valued using the Black-Scholes option-
pricing model. The fair value of grants and the assumptions used in the calculation are as follows: 

ESOS PSP

Grant date 11 Aug 2010 16 Sept 2010 7 Dec 2010 3 Nov 2011  16 Aug 2012  30 Sep 2013

Average share price prior to 
grant GBP 12.25 11.88 11.86 14.34 16.29 –

Exercise price GBP 13.48 13.07 13.01 15.74 17.95 –

Number of employees 1 47 46 65 72 75

Shares under option 86,061 12,325 85,972 186,071 329,885 31,100

Vesting period (years) 3.50 3.50 3.50 3.50 3.50 3.50

Expected volatility % 43 43 42 28 24 16

Option life (years) 3.50 3.50 3.50 3.50 3.50 3.50

Expected life (years) 3.50 3.50 3.50 3.50 3.50 3.50

Risk-free rate % 1.50 1.50 1.93 1.32 1.50 –

Expected dividends expressed 
as dividend yield % 5.81 6.03 5.89 – 3.47 2.81

Fair value per option GBP 2.32 2.16 2.29 2.92 1.84 22.58

The expected volatility is based on the standard deviation of the Group’s share price over a year, prior to the grant date. The risk-free 
rates of return applied to the ESOS grants is the approximate implicit risk-free interest rate for the options’ term to maturity, based on 
the three-year maturity rate offered by Riksbanken at the respective dates of each grant.

A reconciliation of option movements over the year to 31 December 2013 is shown below:

2013 2012

ESOS Number
Weighted average 

exercise price GBP Number
Weighted average 

exercise price GBP

Outstanding at 1 January 862,115 15.73 837,506 14.21

Exercised -103,491 13.07 -251,353 14.34

Granted – – 358,702 17.95

Lapsed -58,310 15.74 -82,740 14.22

Outstanding at 31 December 700,314 15.44 862,115 15.73

2013

PSP Number
Weighted average 

exercise price GBP

Outstanding at 1 January – –

Exercised – –

Granted 31,100 –

Lapsed – –

Outstanding at 31 December 31,100 –

The grants under the PSP are at nil cost therefore the weighted average exercise price for rights outstanding at the beginning and 
end of the year, exercised granted and lapsed during the year is GBP Nil.
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20: Share-based payments continued
The weighted average remaining contractual life was 1.4 years for 
the ESOS (2012: 2.0 years) and 3.3 years for the PSP.

Dilution effects
Options over 58,310 shares lapsed or were cancelled during 
2013 (2012: 82,740). If all option programmes are fully exercised, 
the nominal share capital of the Company will increase by a total 
maximum of GBP 3,657.07 (2012: GBP 4,310.58) by the issue 
of a total maximum of 731,414 ordinary shares (2012: 862,115 
ordinary shares), corresponding to 2.52 per cent (2012: 2.96 
per cent) of the capital and votes in the Company.

The principal terms of the ESOS and PSP schemes are set 
out below.

i) Unapproved ESOS 
Responsibility for operation
The Unapproved Scheme is operated by the Directors or, 
in respect of Executive Directors of the Company, by the 
Remuneration Committee appointed by the Board, which 
consists mainly of Non-executive Directors of the Company.

Eligibility
Employees and Executive Directors of the Company and 
any subsidiary companies are eligible to participate in the 
Unapproved Scheme. Non-executive Directors of these 
companies are not eligible to participate.

Grant of options
Options may be granted at the discretion of the Directors, or the 
Remuneration Committee in the case of Executive Directors of 
the Company, to selected employees at a senior level. Options 
are normally granted with a fixed exercise price equal to 110 per 
cent of the average closing share price in the five days prior to 
the date of grant. Options are not pensionable or transferable. 
 
Option price
The option price must not be less than the market value of the 
ordinary shares or SDRs. For this purpose, market value means 
the weighted average of the market quotations on the five 
trading days immediately prior to the date of grant.

Individual limits
The Board of Directors will decide the maximum number 
of ordinary shares or SDRs, which may be granted under option 
to individual participants. At any given time, the number of 
ordinary shares or SDRs under subsisting options will not 
exceed the following:

•	 In the case of subsisting options held by the Chief Executive 
Officer of the Company, 2.75 per cent of the ordinary share 
capital of the Company.

•	 In the case of subsisting options held by the Executive 
management (including the Chief Executive Officer) of the 
Company and other participating companies, 3.75 per cent 
of the ordinary share capital of the Company.

•	 In the case of subsisting options held by the Executive 
management (including the Chief Executive Officer) of the 
Company and other participating companies, and all other 
employees, 5 per cent of the ordinary share capital of 
the Company.

Scheme limit
At any time, not more than 5 per cent of the issued ordinary 
share capital of the Company may be issued or be issuable 
under the Unapproved Scheme and all other employees’ share 
schemes operated by the Company. This limit does not include 
options which have lapsed or been surrendered.

Exercise of options
Options will normally be exercisable in accordance with a 
vesting schedule set at the date of grant and will expire not later 
than the fifth anniversary of the date of grant. It is intended to 
grant options on the basis that they will become exercisable 
on the third anniversary of grant, for a period of one year, and 
expire on the fourth anniversary of grant. Exercise of options 
may take place only within prescribed exercise windows during 
the one-year exercise period. Exercise of an option is subject to 
continued employment.

The rules of the Unapproved Scheme allow the Directors to grant 
options on the basis that they will be exercisable only to the extent 
that certain performance conditions have been satisfied. Options 
may, however, be exercised early in certain circumstances. These 
include, for example, an employee leaving because of ill health, 
retirement, redundancy or death. On cessation of employment for 
other reasons, options will normally lapse. 

Change of control, merger or other reorganisations
Options may generally be exercised early on a takeover, scheme 
of arrangement, merger or other corporate reorganisation. 
Alternatively, participants may be allowed or, in certain cases, 
required to exchange their options for options over shares in 
the acquiring company. No options were exercised under these 
provisions following the Scheme of Arrangement.

Issue of shares
Any ordinary shares issued on the exercise of options will rank 
equally with shares of the same class in issue on the date of 
allotment except in respect of rights arising by reference to a 
prior record date.

Variation in share capital
If there is a consolidation or reduction in the share capital of the 
Company, options may be adjusted as the Directors consider 
appropriate in order to ensure that the number of ordinary shares 
or SDRs comprised in an option and the option price equal the 
same proportion of the share capital as against the same option 
price as was the case before the variation took place.

Option programme
Number of 

options
Final Exercise 

period
Exercise price  

per option GBP

30 86,061 1–15 Jun 2014 13.48

32 9,605 1–15 Sep 2014 13.07

34 80,585 1–15 Nov 2014 13.01

36 142,581 1–15 Sep 2015 15.74

38 315,211 1–15 Jun 2016 17.95

Total 634,043

Notes to the consolidated financial statements 
continued
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20: Share-based payments continued
ii) Approved ESOS
The Approved Scheme is substantially the same as the 
Unapproved Scheme, except that it has been drafted to comply 
with the relevant United Kingdom tax legislation so that options 
granted under it will attract UK benefits. Options may be 
granted in respect of ordinary shares only. 

Option programme
Number of 

options
Final Exercise 

period
Exercise price 

 per option GBP

31 2,720 1–15 Sep 2014 13.07

33 5,387 1–15 Nov 2014 13.01

35 43,490 1–15 Sep 2015 15.74

37 14,674 1–15 Jun 2016 17.95

Total 66,271

iii) PSP
Under the Performance Share Plan, shares awards are granted 
to Employees and Executive Directors of the Company and 
any subsidiary companies. These awards vest based on the 
successful completion of performance targets set by the Board. 
The awards are shares or SDRs and not options, therefore there 
is no exercise price associated with the awards. All other principal 
terms of the scheme including responsibility, exercise periods, 
changes of control, scheme and individual limits are consistent 
with those of the Unapproved ESOS. 

iv) Kambi share scheme
During 2012, the Company received GBP 0.86 million from 
employees of the Company’s subsidiary Kambi, in connection 
with the share scheme approved at the 2011 AGM. Employees 
of Kambi now own 4.9 per cent of the shares in Kambi (see also 
Note 19 on page 68).

In 2013 Kambi issued 961,000 options over shares in Kambi 
to employees as part of a new HMRC unapproved option 
scheme exclusively for employees of the Kambi group. The 
exercise price of the options was GBP 1.23 and the options 
vest after 3 years of continuous employment contingent on 
Kambi’s performance. 

All other conditions of the scheme are broadly aligned to the 
Unibet Unapproved ESOS scheme, with the main difference 
being the performance measures on which they vest. Due to 
the award of the options shortly before year end, it has been 
deemed that the weighted average number of shares in issue 
for the year is negligible, consequentially no IFRS 2 charge has 
been taken to the income statement in respect of these options.

21: Share capital and reserves
a) Share capital
GBP 2013 2012

Authorised:

200,000,000 (2012: 
200,000,000) ordinary shares 
of GBP 0.005 each 1,000,000 1,000,000

At 31 December 1,000,000 1,000,000

Issued and fully paid up:

At 1 January – 28,276,266 
(2012: 28,258,038) ordinary 
shares of GBP 0.005 each 141,381 141,290

Issue of share capital – 6,856 
(2012: 18,228) shares of GBP 
0.005 each 34 91

At 31 December – 
28,283,122 (2012: 
28,276,266) ordinary 
shares of GBP 0.005 each 141,415 141,381

During 2013, 6,856 shares were issued by the Company at 
a price of GBP 12.72 per share, as a result of the exercise of 
employee share options. The total proceeds of this issue of 
new shares was GBP 87,208, of which GBP 34 was an 
increase in issued share capital and GBP 87,174 was an 
increase in share premium. 

During 2012, 18,228 shares were issued by the Company at 
prices of GBP 13.99, GBP 14.59 and GBP 14.05 per share, 
as a result of the exercise of employee share options. The total 
proceeds of this issue of new shares was GBP 255,488, of 
which GBP 91 was an increase in issued share capital and GBP 
255,397 was an increase in share premium.

As at 31 December 2013, the total shares of 28,283,122 includes 
a balance of 246,832 shares that were bought back by the 
Company. When these shares are repurchased or subsequently 
sold, the impact is reflected within retained earnings. 

During 2013, 96,635 of the shares repurchased were used 
in connection with the exercise of share options by employees. 
The 96,635 shares were sold for net proceeds to the Company 
of GBP 1,265,091 at the option prices of GBP 12.72, GBP 
13.07, GBP 15.74 and GBP 17.95.

During 2012, 233,125 of the shares repurchased were used 
in connection with the exercise of share options by employees. 
The 233,125 shares were sold for net proceeds to the Company 
of GBP 3,349,986 at the option prices of GBP 14.59, GBP 
13.18, GBP 13.99 and GBP 14.05.
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21: Share capital and reserves continued
b) Share premium
Apart from the premium arising on the issue of new shares related 
to the share option scheme as described above, there was no 
movement in share premium in 2013 nor the previous year.

c) Reorganisation reserve
This reserve of GBP -42.9 million (2012: GBP -42.9 million) 
arises in the consolidated financial statements, as a result of the 
application of the principles of predecessor accounting to the 
Group reorganisation in 2006. The reorganisation reserve 
represents the differences between the share capital and 
non-distributable reserves of Unibet Group plc and the share 
capital and non-distributable reserves of the former Parent 
Company, UGP Limited. This reserve does not arise in the 
separate financial statements of the Parent Company and 
therefore has no impact on distributable reserves.

d) Currency translation reserve 
This reserve of GBP 12.0 million (2012: GBP 13.9 million) is 
a non-distributable reserve.

22: Business combinations
a) Acquisition of Betchoice Corporation Pty Limited 
(Betchoice)
On 7 February 2012, Unibet entered into an agreement to 
acquire 100 per cent of the issued share capital of Betchoice 
Corporation Pty Limited, a company incorporated in Australia. 

The transaction was finalised on 29 February 2012, and the 
results of Betchoice have been consolidated since this date.

The acquisition price of GBP 13.0 million (AUD 20.0 million), 
was settled in full on 29 February 2012. 

Depending on the 2014 trading results of Betchoice, an earn-out 
may also be payable. The earn-out will be 40 per cent of the 
positive result of the greater of 5.5 times 2014 EBITDA or 1.5 
times gross winnings revenue, less AUD 20.0 million. In addition, a 
maximum of AUD 2.4 million is payable if 2014 EBITDA exceeds 
AUD 4.4 million. The earn-out is not expected to be paid until the 
2014 trading results have been finalised. The estimated earn-out 
payable as at 31 December 2013 is GBP 2.4 million (AUD 4.4 
million) (2012: GBP 2.7 million (AUD 4.2 million)), which is shown 
as a non-current liability on the balance sheet within “Contingent 
consideration payable”. 

The net assets of Betchoice at the date of acquisition were GBP 
2.9 million (AUD 4.2 million), and accordingly, Unibet recognised 
goodwill of GBP 12.9 million (AUD 18.9 million). Following 
currency retranslation, GBP 10.2 million is included within 
goodwill in the Group’s balance sheet as at 31 December 2013. 

Notes to the consolidated financial statements 
continued

The balance sheet of Betchoice at the date of acquisition is set 
out below:

GBP 000
Carrying values 
pre-acquisition  Fair value

Intangible assets 373 3,015

Property, plant and equipment 1,049 1,049

Trade and other receivables 1,730 1,730

Trade and other payables -2,565 -2,565

Customer balances -1,671 -1,671

Cash and cash equivalents 1,296 1,296

Net assets acquired N/a 2,854

Goodwill N/a 12,910

Consideration N/a 15,764

Consideration satisfied by:

Cash N/a 13,045

Earn-out payable (estimated at 
acquisition date) N/a 2,719

N/a 15,764

Goodwill represents immediate access to the regulated 
Australian online sports betting market. 

The intangible assets acquired as part of the acquisition of 
Betchoice can be analysed as follows: 

GBP 000 Fair value

Software platform 373

Brand 1,941

Customer relationships 701

3,015

The outflow of cash and cash equivalents on the acquisition of 
Betchoice is calculated as follows: 

GBP 000 Fair value

Cash consideration 13,045

Cash acquired -1,296

11,749

b) Acquisition of Bet24 business (Bet24)
On 11 April 2012, Unibet signed an agreement to acquire the 
business and certain operating assets of Bet24. Following 
completion of conditions precedent, legal completion of the 
transaction occurred on 3 May 2012.
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22: Business combinations continued
The agreed purchase price of EUR 13.5 million (GBP 10.9 
million) has been allocated to certain assets as set out below:

GBP 000
Provisional fair 

value

Intangible assets 2,196

Goodwill 8,739

Consideration 10,935

Goodwill represents the synergistic effects of combined 
business, including the opportunity to strengthen the market 
position in Denmark. 

Intangible assets consist of customer relationships, and 
certain trademarks and domain names acquired as part of the 
business acquisition. 

Since the acquisition was a specific scope purchase of certain 
assets, which were integrated into Unibet’s existing business 
immediately following completion, it is not possible to identify 
the exact contribution of the transaction to Unibet’s Gross 
winnings revenue or profit before tax for the year.

23: Capital and other commitments 
The Group has not entered into any contracted non-current 
asset expenditure as at 31 December 2013. As at 31 
December 2013, the Group had an outstanding guarantee 
of GBP 250,209 (2012: GBP 244,898) to the UCI in respect 
of Unibet’s Pro Tour 2007 engagement.

24: Operating lease commitments 
The Group leases various offices under non-cancellable 
operating lease agreements. The leases have varying terms, 
including provision for rent reviews and for early termination.
The total of future aggregate minimum lease payments under 
non-cancellable operating leases are as follows:

GBP 000 31 December 2013 31 December 2012

No later than 1 year 2,778 2,806

Later than 1 year and no later 
than 5 years 4,678 7,184

Later than 5 years – –

7,456 9,990

Operating lease payments represent rent payable by the Group 
on properties in Malta and other territories. 

There are no future aggregate minimum lease payments under 
non-cancellable operating leases payable after five years. 

25: Related party transactions
For details of Directors’ and Executive Management 
Remuneration please refer to the Remuneration Committee 
Report on pages 40 and 41.

26: Contingent liabilities
Currently the Group has not provided for potential or actual 
claims arising from the promotion of gaming activities in certain 
jurisdictions. Based on current legal advice the Directors do not 
anticipate that the outcome of proceedings and potential claims, 
if any, will have a material adverse effect upon the Group’s 
financial position. Further details can be found in the General 
Legal Environment section on pages 28 and 29.

27: Cash and cash equivalents
Included within the total cash and cash equivalents balance 
of GBP 54,873,000 at 31 December 2013 (2012: GBP 
49,878,000), is a balance of GBP 250,209 (2012: GBP 
244,898) which is treated as restricted cash.

The restricted cash balance represents an amount set aside 
to back the guarantee as detailed in Note 23.

28: Reconciliation of EBITDA to profit from operations

GBP 000 2013 2012

EBITDA 63,383 52,495

Depreciation -3,306 -2,521

Amortisation -15,610 -14,833

Profit from operations 44,467 35,141

The table above shows how EBITDA, which is a non-GAAP 
measure, is derived from the profit from operations reported in 
the consolidated income statement.
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29: Reconciliation of adjusted operating cash flow and 
free cash flow to profit from operations

GBP 000
Year ended 

31 December 2013
Year ended 

31 December 2012

Profit from operations 44,467 35,141

Adjustments for:

Depreciation of property, plant 
and equipment 3,306 2,521

Amortisation of intangible assets 15,610 14,833

Loss on disposal of property, 
plant and equipment 19 –

Adjustment to carrying value of 
contingent consideration – -1,779

Share-based payment 369 415

Operating cash flow before 
movements in working 
capital 63,771 51,131

Movements in receivables 444 -4,014

Movements in payables -1,970 6,576

Income taxes paid -1,459 -3,523

Purchases of property, plant and 
equipment -3,621 -4,516

Purchases of intangible assets -16,011 -14,885

Settlement of prior period 
betting duties – 2,557

Free cash flow 41,154 33,326

The table above shows how adjusted operating cash flow, and 
free cash flow which are non-GAAP measures, are derived from 
the adjusted profit from operations reported in the consolidated 
income statement. 

In assessing free cash flow as part of their consideration of the 
proposed dividend to shareholders for the 2012 financial year, 
the non-recurring betting tax payment of GBP 2.6 million was 
excluded by the Board.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements 
continued
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Report on the Financial Statements for the year ended 
31 December 2013
We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial 
statements of Unibet Group plc and its subsidiaries which 
comprise the consolidated balance sheet as at 31 December 
2013 and the consolidated statements of income, 
comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flows for 
the year then ended and a summary of significant accounting 
policies and other explanatory information, as set out on pages 
46 to 74.

Directors’ Responsibility for the Financial Statements
As explained more comprehensively in the Statement of 
Directors’ responsibilities for the financial statements on page 
39 the Directors are responsible for the preparation of financial 
statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted 
by the EU and the requirements of the Maltese Companies Act, 
1995, and for such internal control as the Directors determine is 
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether 
due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these 
consolidated financial statements based on our audit. We 
conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards 
on Auditing. Those Standards require that we comply with 
ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain 
reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements 
are free from material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit 
evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated 
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the 
auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks of 
material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, 
whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, 
the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s 
preparation of consolidated financial statements that give a 
true and fair view in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s 
internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the 
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the 
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the 
Directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation 
of the consolidated financial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient 
and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion
In our opinion the financial statements:
•	 give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group 

and its subsidiaries as at 31 December 2013 and of their 
financial performance and their cash flows for the year then 
ended in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the EU; and 

•	 have been properly prepared in accordance with the 
requirements of the Maltese Companies Act, 1995.

Independent Auditors’ report to the shareholders  
of Unibet Group plc

Report on other Legal and Regulatory Requirements
We also have responsibilities under the Maltese Companies Act, 
1995 to report to you if, in our opinion:
•	 The information given in the Directors’ report is not 

consistent with the financial statements.
•	 Proper accounting records have not been kept, or that 

returns adequate for our audit have not been received from 
branches not visited by us.

•	 The financial statements are not in agreement with the 
accounting records.

•	 We have not received all the information and explanations 
we require for our audit.

Certain disclosures of Directors’ remuneration specified by law 
are not made in the financial statements, giving the required 
particulars in our report.

We have nothing to report to you in respect of these 
responsibilities.

Other Matters
This report, including the opinions, has been prepared for and 
only for the Company’s members as a body in accordance with 
Section 179 of the Maltese Companies Act 1995 and for no 
other purpose. We do not, in giving these opinions, accept or 
assume responsibility for any other purpose or to any other 
person to whom this report is shown or into whose hands it 
may come save where expressly agreed by our prior consent 
in writing.

We have reported separately on the parent company 
financial statements of Unibet Group plc for the year ended 
31 December 2013. 

Lucienne Pace Ross 
Partner 
14 March 2014

PricewaterhouseCoopers
78 Mill Street 
Qormi 
Malta

John Waters 
Partner
14 March 2014

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors 
1 Embankment Place 
London 
WC2N 6RH 
United Kingdom
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The Annual General Meeting (AGM) of Unibet Group plc will be 
held at 10.00 CET on Tuesday 20 May 2014, at Moderna 
Museet, Skeppsholmen, Stockholm in Sweden.

Right to participate
Holders of Swedish Depositary Receipts (SDRs) who wish to 
attend the AGM must be registered at Euroclear Sweden AB on 
Friday 9 May 2014 and notify Skandinaviska Enskilda Banken 
AB (publ) of their intention to attend the AGM no later than 
17.00 CET on Thursday 15 May 2014, by filling in the enrolment 
form provided at www.unibetgroupplc.com/AGM, Notification to 
holders of Swedish Depository Receipts in Unibet Group plc. 
The form must be completed in full and delivered electronically.

Please note that conversions to and from SDRs and ordinary 
shares will not be permitted between 9 May and 20 May 2014.

Dividend
The Board of Directors proposes a dividend of GBP 1.100 
(2012: 0.580) per share/SDR, which is approximately SEK 
11.70 (2012: 7.11) with the exchange rate 10.64 GBP/SEK at 
10 February 2014 per ordinary share, to be paid to holders of 
ordinary shares and SDRs. If decided by the AGM, the dividend 
is expected to be distributed on 28 May 2014 and amounts to a 
total of GBP 30.8 (2012: 19.6) million, which is approximately 
75 per cent of the Group’s free cash flow for 2013. The Board 
has reviewed the projected cash requirements for 2014 and is 
proposing for this year to increase the dividend above 50 per 
cent of free cash flow. This is in line with the dividend policy to 
distribute surplus cash.

Financial information
Unibet Group plc’s financial information is available in Swedish 
and English. Reports can be obtained from Unibet’s website, 
www.unibetgroupplc.com or ordered by email at info@unibet.
com. Distribution will be via email.

Annual Reports can be ordered through the website, www.
unibetgroupplc.com or ordered by email at info@unibet.com.

Unibet will publish financial reports for the financial year 2014 
on the following dates:

Interim Report January – March 2014, on 29 April 2014

Interim Report January – June 2014, on 6 August 2014

Interim Report January – September 2014, on 29 October 2014

Full Year Report 2014, on 11 February 2015

Annual General Meeting
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Average number of employees: Average number of 
employees based on headcounts at each month end.
Cash flow per share: Net increase/(decrease) in cash and 
cash equivalents, divided by the number of ordinary shares at 
the balance sheet date.
Dividend per share: Dividends paid divided by the fully diluted 
weighted average number of ordinary shares for the period.
Earnings per share, fully diluted: Profit after tax adjusted for 
any effects of dilutive potential ordinary shares divided by the fully 
diluted weighted average number of ordinary shares for the period.
EBIT: Earnings before interest and taxation, equates to profit 
from operations.
EBIT margin: EBIT as a percentage of gross winnings revenue.
EBITDA: Profit from operations before depreciation and 
amortisation charges.
Equity:assets ratio: Shareholders’ equity as a percentage of 
total assets.
Equity per share: Total assets less total liabilities, divided by 
the number of ordinary shares at the balance sheet date.
Gross profit: Gross winnings revenue less cost of sales.
Gross winnings revenue: For sports betting, represents 
gross turnover less payouts; for other products equates to net 
turnover. All references to Gross winnings revenue in this 
Annual Report is after Free Bets unless otherwise disclosed.
Net cash: Total cash at period end less customer balances.
Number of active customers: Number of active customers 
is defined as the total registered customers who have placed a 
bet with Unibet during the last three months.
Number of registered customers: Number of registered 
customers means the total number of customers on Unibet’s 
customer database.
Operating margin: Profit from operations as a percentage of 
Gross winnings revenue.
Profit margin: Profit after tax as a percentage of gross 
winnings revenue.
Return on average equity: EBIT as a percentage of average 
equity.
Return on total assets: Profit after tax as a percentage of 
average total assets.
Return on total capital: Profit after tax as a percentage of 
total capital.
Total capital: Total capital is equal to total equity as disclosed 
on the consolidated balance sheet, plus net debt (comprising 
total borrowings and customer balances, less cash and 
cash equivalents).
Turnover: Amount of bets placed on sporting events and games. 
Weighted average number of shares: Calculated as the 
weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding 
during the year.
Weighted average number of shares, fully diluted: 
Calculated as the weighted average number of ordinary shares 
outstanding and potentially outstanding (i.e. including the 
effects of exercising all share options) during the year.

Definitions

Designed and produced by Emperor  
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Printed by Park Communications on FSC® certified paper. 
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displayed in this report.
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